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Bert Ailanan, June and July 1975, Waygorier, I l l i n o i s .  
Horace Waggoner, Interviewer. 

&. Could you describe how you go about &ing a rail  f'rom a log, or 
s p l i t t i n g  a log Into r a i l s ?  

A.  Did you ever see wedges, i ron wedges? 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Wcll, you know what they look l i k e  then. Well, we would s e t  one 
of them i n  the end of the log--on the top end, you don't start at the 
bottom end, t h a t ' s  tough. Take the top end and se t  one of  those wedges 
i n  there and t r y  t o  bust the log throu@ here, c lear  through. You'd 
drive tha t  wedge clear  down md spllt, you see, sp1l.t i t .  And then 
wc had another one we put up here about t h i s  f m ,  and Just went c l e z  
through the  log tha t  way rmd mde a a l f ,  ended i n  halves. Then we 
turned it over on the belly-side down' and cut off our mils, one at 
a time, just  the same way. 

Beat them out with a maul and those wedges, That mzking rails was 
very hmd work becausc you swung a very heavy maul. They made t h e i r  
m u l s  of wood and I ima@ne they'd weigh, oh, four o r  f ive pounds, and 
you swing one of them a l l  day and, I t e l l  you, you knew you'd done 
somethhg. Perhaps you would get over a hundred r a i l s  In the day, three 
of you working a t  it. Well, we only got a cent apiece for  rmklng them. 
So, tha t  was only a dol lar  wc made out of that, you know. So, we would 
rather  mike staves than rails, when WE? got t o  making them. 

Posts the same way. The posts, you made them different  lengths, you see. 
The rails, ten  fee t ;  and the posts, stx feet  and a half  was what most 
of them wanted them those days. You saw your log in to  a s i x  feet and 
a half  [length]. You could makc posts out of burr oak o r  white oak and 
bust them open, Jus t  l ike  you did the r a i l  log, and s p l i t  off posts 
about so wlde. Those posts would last twenty t o  t h i r t y  years because 
I s e t  some of them when I was workinff out as a hlred m and they've 
just  disappeared, down ther2e a t  tha t  farm, i n  the last few yews.  That 
fellow was a hog man and he took [ i . e . ,  required] a l o t  of hog places. 
He used good white oak posts and 1 s e t  thcrn with an auger; twisted a hole 
and then s e t  them Fn a.nd t-ed them t ight  and those posts las ted a long time. 

Well, then they began t o  find out tha t  bois dfarc2  would out last  any of the 
woods we had so fm. I thlnk they brought that bols d l a rc  seed from Texas. 

h. A 2 a m . n  l a t e r  explained the llbelly-slde" was that f l a t  side of 
the ha l f .  See addenda item 78 Yor verbatim text. 

2Mr. Allman pronounces t h i s  'bow-Wk" with the  accent on 'bow. " 

Bois d'rwc i s  another name fo r  (&age orange hedge. [Ed.] Bert Aikman Memoir, Vol. III -- Archives, University of Illinois at Springfield



B e r t  A i m  

I think It o r i g h i t e d  i n  Texas .' They brought it up here and they 
begirl--when they f i r s t  ~ e t t l . e d  t h l s  country they mde the* fences 
of hedge, you Jmow. They would plow the pound and work it down nice 
l ike  they would fo r  a crop and make a furrow and then drop these seed 
and go around and cover them up. They had t o  be hoed f o r  the next year 
t o  keep the weeds down arid cultivated with cultivators.  The second 
year, why, you could use cul t ivators  altogether and cultivate it, and 
tha t  was as  far as you got with tha t  because it got hI@ enough tha t  
you couldnlt go over it. It was very thorny, you how, 

Well, as soon as  It got a growth on it tha t  the  base of It 'was som~tking 
l ike  that big around . . . 
Q. Coup1.e of Inches around? 

A .  No, an Inch and a half. They would hack Into tha t  e n o w  t o  break 
it down, leave half  of the bark on It, ti@,. They'd lay tha t  down and 
cut the next one off  ahead of it and weave It In and tha t  way they mdc 
t h e i r  hog fences. That was a l lve ,  a l l  of those things stayed a l ive ,  
and i f  you trimmed it i n  the  surrmrtirw you had a beautifi l--just  as p re t ty  
as these town fences but It sure took a l o t  of work. You had t o  t r i m  it 
three times a season. A s  soon as they found out tha t  bois d l w c  mde 
so much be t t e r  posts, they began t rying t o  get bols d l z c  posts fo r  fences. 

&. Is tha t  where the r i m  Poiis D1arc for  EOIS D1x8c Township came from? 

A. Yes. They was r a l s k g  bois dl arcs up there.  ' Some people dld. 
There w a s  numerics,  you know, for tha t ,  , j u s t  l ike  there 's  nurseries fo r  
t rees  today. Thcyld s e l l  you hedge sprouts, already grown. You could 
se t  them out, like onloris, and there evidently was a big nwsery there 
som~place. I never heard of it,  but I bet there was because there was 
am awful l o t  of bois d l a c  fences. 

&. Is tha t  the same as the Osage orange? 

A. Yes. 

Q. Is tha t  the  s m  thing? 

A. That's the s m  t h h g .  h Texas they are a wild t r ee ,  they spread 
a l l  over. 'They would here i f  they had a chance. I know thew was a farm 
r lght  north of Raymnd there that  a fellow got poorly and tha t  s tuff  
was spread over his pasture and h i s  pasture had t o  be bulldozed out when 
he wanted t o  farm it. 

9. In the timber when you were a boy, did you do much trapping? 

A. No. A l l  we trapped w a s  rabbi ts .  Oh, we ca@t some skunks, but we 
never did t rap  mushat. We t r i e d  hard t o  t r ap  mink around the henhouse 

'see addenda item 79. 

'see addenda Item 80. 
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because they were a t e r r i b l e  detriment, but you had t o  be pret ty  smart 
t o  t r ap  a mink. We ncver made anything se l l ing  pe l t s .  

Q. Did you have any trouble with any other type of animal around the 
farm? 

A .  Yes. Possums were bad for  ch:lckens, too. We had t o  watch for  them 
and k i l l  them. 5 You could get a l i t t l e  something f o r  a possum pel t .  I 
thlrlk tha t  we did s e l l  one o r  two of them t o  same fellow mound there 
tha t  was abuying pe l t s ,  you know. When I cam? up here, I had a horse 
barm out there tha t  had a hallway tha t  stood about that  h i @  from the 
e;rowld. 

Q. That's about a foot o r  so? 

A.  And the skunks just took possession o r  that place. Oh, the slcm?ks 
I had around here! Well., I begin trapping them and I se t  a t rap,  about 
thme  traps under that  place every n i@t .  The blacksmith i n  town b o w t  
the skins and he would skin them. A l l  I ' d  have t o  do was put a piece of 
baling wirc mound t h e i r  neck and t i c  them t o  the b q e r  of the  c m  arid 
drive rln there and he'd take them off .  5: d d n ' t  have t o  handle them a t  
a l l  and, oh, I expect I sold him thlirty-five o r  for ty dollars worth of 
skunks . ( 1-aumt e r  ) 

&. How about hunting? Did you do much hmtine; in the timber? 

A. Yes. We hunted squirrels  and quai l  and rabbit  and sorndAnes we 
would shoot a coon just-we'd shoot them because we knew they did catch 
chickens. That was the only reason. We didn ' t  shootthem for  the f u r  
but most of our hunting was rabbits and quail. As I told you, there used 
t o  be wood hens but they disappeared; as soon as c iv i l iza t ion  s e t  in ,  why, 
those fell.ows went t o  where was less  . . . 
9. D1.d you ever see any car r ie r  pigeons? 

A .  1 saw two. That's a l l ,  oh, you mean--no. I'm ta lking about wild 
pigeons. You're ta lklng about the kind they t m d  and carrled. No, I 
never &Id see them, only i n  pictures.  

Q: What was the wild pigeon? 

A. A wild pigeon was much kil ie the turtledove but they nrlgrated back and 
for th each spring and f d l l .  They used t o  cone throu@ thls countq  i n  
thousands and they were very good eating and people shot them-just shot 
them a l l  the t k ,  every t k  there w a s  a drove of them c o w  by. They 
ncver flew high. They usml lg  flew low andl you could shoot in to  a bunch 
of them and-couple of shots, you'd get a mess of plgeons, you know. A 
big bunch of them. Well, they got so scarce that they--I don't think there ' s  
any i n  this part  of the country at all, any more. 

'see addenda Item 81. 

%ec addenda Item 82. 
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Then there was a . . . plovers, t ha t  cc% through in the springland 
we were allowed t o  shoot; them, at t ha t  tire. We -ed t o  get them but 
that was only fo r  a couple or  three weeks while they migrated, you know. 
They would range out i n  the wheat or s o m t h h g ,  meadow or  wheat, and you 
could never get rilght close t o  them; you had t o  scase them up and l e t  
them f l y  ,and they had a habit  of flying and then coming right by you, 
f a s t ,  and then was the time t o  mow. (laughter) I don't how why the 
fool thin@ would d it but they would make a c i r c l e  md come rlmt by 
you J ust m p p l n g ,  "f 

' END OF SIDE ONF 

I $. What kind of' gun did you use? 
I 

A. Oh, we had old muzzle-loading guns with a--you carried a powder horn, 
a shot sack, and a box of caps. Had t o  have caps, they had to--you've 
seen cap guns, haven't you? 

A. Well, they had t o  have a cap on each b a r r e l ,  you know, and . . . 
1 Q. Was it; a double-barrel gun, then? 

A. Yes. I had g m d d a d l s  old gun. He died and ].eft it t o  my uncle, 
who was a teacher i n  St. Louis, arid when 1: got t o  bc f i f t ccn  I wanted a gun 
so bad. So, Dad wrote and askcd him i f  he minded sending Granddad ' s  old 
gun up. He said,  ''Well, no, " he never used it, He s a d ,  "It ' 8  in the 
way, myhow. Says, "F'ine, k r l t  could jus t  keep it. " Well, I kept lt 
u n t i l  J moved up here. it was a double-bwrel and a well-rmde gun, but 
a r t e r  I moved up here, I: wanted a brccchloackr and so I gave it t o  qy 
brother, who l ives  i n  Mattoon, and he took it over there.  He took it t o  
a gunsmith and had it mdc a breechloader. And I guess he s t i l l  has the 
w- 

i &. Were you a pret ty  good shot, sir? 

I A. Pretty good shot? No, I was never any r e m k a b l e  shot. 1 used t o  
I go and watch them shoot clay pigeons and wish I: could do it but t h ~ y  
1 always @bled on tha t ,  you know, and I wouldn't do it. I wouldn ' t 
I 
I 

shoot because I had t o  m l e .  I never shot at a clay pigeon a single t i r ne .  

Q. How long did it take you t o  reload the gun? Were you pret ty  proficient 
a t  that? 

A. Well, your powder horn held a-had a spout on the end of it t ha t  was 
a load. You held your thwnb over tha t  and l e t  it f i l l  and then l e t  the 
va1.v~ loose at the bottom and then you turned tha t  down the bar re l .  You 
took--if you had g~n? wdds, you put them on top the powder. If you didn ' t ,  

I you Jus t  put paper and you had a ramrod and pomded it down solid. 'Then 

7~ee addenda item 7.0%. 
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you took your shot sack and done the sane thing. It held jwt a measure 
of shot and you poured tha t  In  and put another wad. Then put in 
your cap. You could I.oad f a i r l y  qulck and . , . 
Q. About what s l ze  shot dld you use i n  i t ?  

A. Oh, we had sixes mostly. Very seldom did we have anything any heavier 
t h m  a s ix ,  and elghts were not p len t i fu l  because there wasn't enough 
derrmd for  them, you know. Now, you how, you can buy more elght;s than 
anything, but those things prokpss  r:tght along all. the t h e .  

There w a s  jacksnlpe, a lso,  tha t  came throu& here the spring of the year 
the same as plovers and they were considered a delicacy. People just 
t r i e d  t h e i r  best  t o  get j acksnipe . Wel..l, I never could k i l l  a one: I ' d 
miss the bugzers every tiw. They Tlew l i k e  t h i s  . . . 
Q . Zlgznpged along? 

A. Yes, and I ' d  miss them just as sure as they got up. Never did k i l l  
a one. 

A .  No, not a f t e r  I cam in to  existence. 1 hemd an old fellow tha t  I 
worked for  t e l l  about a . . . North [part of]  Litchfleld--the t o m  now, 
where the hi,@ school i s  and a l l  of tha t  north section--Was solltd hazel 
brush. That was  good dirt, hazel brush mt. The rabbl ts  c o n g r e ~ t e d  
I n  tha t ,  you know, because it was heavy brush. And t h i s  old fellow sa id  
that  he went out there rabbit  hunting one day, and he had a double-barrel-ed 
g m ,  loaded with number s i x  shot. He said he was aslipping along awatchlng 
fo r  a rabbit  ahead of him In tha t  brush and up Jumped a deer. R i & t  a t  
him! And he says, "1 just stood there l i ke  thJs and I said,  'If I had a 
gun, I sure would shoot . . . ' I '  (1.aue;hter) 

Q,. Forgot he had a gun! 

A. And he says, "I forgot &out having nly gun u n t i l  the  deer was gone. " 
(laughter) And t h a t ' s  the only one I ever heard of ~ o u n d  In our part  of 
the country. But Litchflelci was hazel brush, the north pa r t ,  A l l  of It. 

Q. S i r ,  when the famlly moved from the Gerlach place down t o  the horn 
f a r m ,  how did you f e e l  about the move? Wcse you anxious t o  @;~t moved? 

A. Oh, t ickled t o  death! Oh, I to ld  you tha t  was a boy heaven. We was 
w i t h i n  a hundred ymds of the rai l road and a creek was just a q ~ e r  of 
a d l e  [aww] i n  our pasture, and timber and nuts and a l l  of those things, 
you know. Great Guns! We were the happiest kids you ever saw. 

Q. PIOW did you f e e l  about the ral l road g o h g  by? 

A. Oh, we liked it! We watched the trains and picked up things tha t  
dropped off  of them, I to ld  you about g e t t h g  that; c m  sprlng. And we 
picked up thing? tha t  dropped off of the t r a i n ,  and then they bu i l t  an 
Iron brldge across the creek Lhat went throu@ o w  pasture and we watched 
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them do a l o t  of tha t .  They put up that  of s t ee l ,  you bow. A brldge 
with a caubiwn i n  it and we got a great kick out of tha t  bridge. We 
clirrbed a l l  over It. Weld seen them do it .  So we did it, too. We 
cllirrbed a l l  owr tha t  bridge. 71; was great fm t o  take a p e e n i e  d m  
there and have hl_m t r y  t o  w a l k  i t ,  you know, he'd look thro@ and 
see between them t i e s  ,and it would just  scare hlLm t o  death. Held just  . . 
( l a m t e r )  

Q. How far down was I t ?  

A .  Oh, you could have f e l l  f i f t y  f ee t .  

Q. Fi f ty  fee t !  Did anyone ever. f a l l  o f f?  

A. No. (laughs) There was fellows tha t  had t o  stand on the edge of the 
bridge and lean back t o  l e t  a t r a i n  get by one tlm. One fellow dropped 
off and hung by h i s  hands, the other stood and leaned back. ( l a e t e r )  
But I never got c a w t  on thc bridge. I w a s  always a*aid of it. When 
we corm home from Honey Bend, we had t o  cross tha t  bridgc always. 

&. Was It a dual bridge? For wagom and fo r  . . . 
A. No, it was just t i e s  across i t ,  jus t  l i k e  the  r e s t  of the track. 'hey 
were not any closer than they were i n  the track and you had t o  watch and 
s tep on a t i e  every the, you know, t h a t ' s  what you was doing. You could 
have feel. down betwcn them, kids,  at  l eas t .  I can r e m ~ e r  get t ing g i r l s  
across there tha t  come t o  visit us. We'd have t o  pret ty  near carry  them. 
(laughter) 

&. What were the t r a lns  li_ke in those days? 

A. Oh, they had ,pod trains. They were developing the compound engine at 
tha t  time, and I think tha t  they bo@it some of the first ones on the 
Wahash pallroad there.  Those cornpounds were twelve-wheelers, you how. 
Ther>e was  six wheels on each side of tha t  b ig  locomotive, and when they'd 
run ordinarily,  they would ja t  put them i n  ordinary speed if they were 
pulling along. A s  long as they could keep the speed they wanted they just 
l e f t  the compound alone, but when they h i t  tha t  brldge--Jmedlately on 
the  other side St come up, you know, and you'd hear him swlng i n  the old 
comound. Both ways it was  up hill from the bridge and h i s  old compound 
wou1.d core In and go t o  ba t t ing  away. We always l ike  t o  hear it take off 
because it made 8 peculiar noise. It sounded l ike  power! Tremendous 
power, you know. 

H.B. The Wabash Cannonball went down there.  It was on tha t  l h e ,  went 
through t o  Kmsas City. 

. What i s  a compound? What was that?  A different gem? 

A. A h ,  I can ' t  t e l l  you about t h a t .  There was two s e t s  of cylinders on 
the thing, steam cylinders, and ordinarily they just run l lke  an o f i n m y  

'see addenda item 83. 
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englne. You wouldnt t hear any difference i n  the exhaust but when he 
threw tha t  compound in ,  whatever it was, it developed about tw lce the 
power. Maybe . . . 1: just can't  explain it t o  you. I don't how. 
But we enjoyed hearing it drive, because it sounded l ike  tremendous 
power. 

Q. How m y  trains went by a day, by the farm? 

A.  Oh, from f i f t een  t o  twenty-five. That mad was I.ousy. One day, when 
I was telegraphing there at  Honey Bend, I took twenty-Your trains through 
In  2  ti^. Twelve hours. Twenty-four t r a n s .  

9,. How rrany of them would be passenger t ra ins?  

A. Well, there ld  be about . . . Oh, I ' d  say there would be about s i x  
of them. Wouldn't you, NeL? 

11.13. Yes, at  leas t  s ix ,  Bert. I was Just counting them up in rr7y mind. 

A. 'There w a s  s i x  out of S t .  Louis every day, and there w a s  two out of 
Chicago, t w  out of Detroit, and one out of Decatur, every day, and all  
that  went. 18 

Q. Did you get t o  know any of the t r a i m n  while you were a boy as they 
went by? 

A. No, I didn't u n t i l  a f t e r  1 went t o  work but I learned t o  know a rness 
of them then. Som of them were wonderful men. You mow, I g ~ t  the 
greatest  surprise In q j  l i f e  out of one m. I always catalog E n .  I 
guess you do, too, don't you? When you meet a fellow, don't you put him 
In a class? 

Q. Well, not ri@t away, mybe. 

A. You do, though, put him i n  a class .  

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. Well, I cataloged them as I ' d  meet them, and t h i s  fellow couldn't say 
anything without cussing. He was the wickedest f e l l m  and I thou@;ht he 
was man. Well, one day he got on the coal drag. That was a.Tter I had 
q u l t  Honey Bend and was te legaphing  a t  Utchf ie ld .  I went f r o m  Honey Bend 
t n  l,ri.tchfleld and worked In Lltchfield two o r  two yeavs and a ha l f ,  jus t  
as an operator and t i cke t  man. There was two crews tha t  worked out of 
Litchfleld on these coal drags tha t  just  went down In the mines and s e t  
cam. They worked all dqy apulling out loaded cars and set t ing In the 
others. One fellow ' s name was Reatty . I knew him and I liked him, He was 
a young man, a young brakeman, and he w a s  on t h i s   am crew with th i s  wicked 

'MY. Aiknan l a t e r  wntured tha t  the compound action was t o  use 
the  ste,m twl.ce. See addenda item 84 fo r  veFDatlrn tex t .  [Ed. ] 
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bugger and they had t o  pu l l  off  of the main t rack onto a sidi.ng t o  l e t  
the Cannonball through. 

Well, the Cannonball was acorrrf-ng along and they were astandlng by the 
s ide of t h e i r  engine that  they were working with, you how, and just 
as the Cannonball got even with t h i s  fellow he forgot himself and raised 
h i s  arm t o  @ve a signal t o  the engineer t o  st&--so they'd be going 
when he clcmed, you know--,and doaed  i f  he didn't hook h i s  arm i n  those 
t rus s  rods and took it out here.  

&. Oh, boy! Just  pulled it r imt of f ,  huh? 

A. Well, tha t  fellow tha t  cuss~d so,  [he] grabbed hlm and s tuffed his 
cap, h i s  coat and everytl-1.h~ e lse  Ln there t o  hold the  blood and they 
cut the engine off and corn in t o  Litchfield and called fo r  a doctor and 
got him on there and then sa i led  f o r  Demtur for  the hospital. I never 
saw [such] a tenderhearted marl. (choking with emotion) He just took 
care of that  fellow l ike  he was a baby. Well, I had t o  put hllm i n  a 
be t t e r  catalog. 

Q. Yes, sir. Move h l m  up a b l t  , huh? 

A. The old Ind-Lan saying is a l l  r i @ t  : If you want t o  walk In a fellow's 
shoes. 

Q. When you moved down t o  the forty,  was the house tha t  you lived i n  
much different  fmm the houses you'd l ived in at the Gerlach place . . . 

A. Log cabin. 

Q. Oh, it was? 

H.B. I w a s  born In a log cabin, same as Abe Lincoln. 

H.B. Yes, s-i.r! 

A. Actually, a cabln. With a lean-to i n  fYont of it, c lear  across It, 
whlch mde two room, and tha t  whole family . . . 
H.H. Well, I thlnk tha t  lean-to was i n  the back, wasn't it? 

A. What? 

H.B. 1 t h o u r n  tha t  lean-to w a s  i n  the back, wasn't i t ?  

A. Yes, it was i n  the back. 

H.B. Yes. 

A. It was on the north end of the  building, cabin. 

H.B. Yes. 
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A. And that  w a s  kitchen, dining room, and bedroom, combined. I slept  
I n  it mst of the  time I was [yowing up :md the cook stove was over i n  
tha t  end and the tab le  here next. Then, over here was beds. The cabin 
was a pret ty  p o d  s ize  cabin. I don't know hardly haw big  It was but 
there was  just two beds i n  i t ,  wasn't there,  Nel? 

H.B. I clon't remrrber, Bert. I thou@ there w a s  four. 

A. There was two beds i n  It, and then we had a trundle bed fo r  the  kids 
tha t  pushed under one of' the beds. We had a fireplace but a fireplace 
wouldn't keep it warm.  So we got a wood stove, burned wood. We could 
keep it warm as you pleased. 

Q. Was the  lean-to log also? 

A. No, tha t  was b u i l t  of lurrber. Just l i ke  you'd build a shed on the 
end of a house, you know, and a tar roof. 

I1.B. I don't tMnk it w a s  . . . 

A. No, it wasn't a tar roof. 

H.B. No. 

A. T t  was . . . 
H.B. Clapboard. 

A. No. It was shingles. That ' s  what it was. Yes. It was s h i n g e s  and 
we f ina l ly  dug a c is te rn  and run the c l s te rn  water in to  it-fYom It. 

$. Could you describe how the log house was constructed? How were the 
logs put together? 

A. Yes, I can't  give you a def in i te  idea, though, I don't believe. 

1I.B. It was plastered in between . . . What dld they c a l l  that?'' Wasn't 
p las te r  tha t  they called it but it  was l i k e  chunks of plaster-to close 
the holes between the 1 . 0 ~ ~ .  

A. Well, it was just  sand and lire. That's what it was--mortar. The logs 
were cut;  they would mike a notch I n  here cmd a notch in this o w  and. f i t  
t h e m t o p t h e r  i n  there so  they couldn't move. And a fellow tha t  did tha t  
cutting, I guess you dgh t  of called him a carpenter, those days, because 
he had t o  be pret ty  accurate t o  &e them f i t  l i ke  they did. ?"ney f i t  t i @ t  
enou@ tha t  it l e f t  the two logs lay within two inches of  each other. Tney 
wanted wlthhin an Inch i f  they could. In  l a t e r  yecars they sawed them square. 
'hen they could M e  them f i t ,  but these were just hewn out. Just  hewed off  
on one side and then l a i d  i n  there.  The Inside [of] the room was hewed logs, 
so you could keep it decent, you mow. 
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H.B. And they reversed the logs, B e r t .  Blg end of one <and. the U t t l ~  
end of the other. 

A.  Yes. That's correct.  You reversed them so as t o  keep tha t  level ,  
and they b u i l t  them up about eight f ee t ,  I ' d  judge, and then they put 
on a roof. Then they put cross logs for  a l o f t ,  you mow, and they got 
l d e r  t o  put over tha t  par t .  In tha t  cabin, a t  l eas t ,  it was  l m e r .  
And then they put up r a f t e r s  and put on--that was clapboards that they 
put on there.  

H.B. Well, I thought it w a s .  

&. What was the  fireplace mdc of? 

A. It was mde of stone, native stone, and the outside par t  was brick. 

H.B. The c h h e y .  

A.  There was a brickyard. in Raymond and they were very, very poor br ick,  
The fellow didn't havc the knack of burning them suff icient ly .  He cooked 
the clay and t h a t ' s  about a l l .  (lau@s) And the chlmeys were bu i l t  of 
tha t  because they were square and would f i t ,  you mow, with m o r t a r .  We 
had a great big c h h c y  went up i n  tha t  fireplace.  No trouble t o  get a 
drafT and It a lso  took the a i r  out of the room, too, wjth it, you know. 
Heated air would drop, force the other a l r  down, and it would go r ight  
up tha t  f lue.  They m e  a wonderful thing. I expect you've got one, haven't 
you? 

Q. A fYrcplace? Oh no, sir. We're planning on putting one in but we 
don't have one now. 

A. I think they a re  wonderful things fo r  tha t  reason, for  ventilation, 
taking the dead air off  the bottom of the f loor .  

But we got a wood stove and then they cam out f ina l ly  w i t h  those sheet- 
i ron ones. l'Q goodness, how we d i d  l ike that. They didn't  cost only four 
o r  f ive  dol lars  and 1.t would jus t  heat that place like nothing! We grew 
I.ots of popcorn in those days and we always had a dishpan fill of popcorn, 
a f t e r  supper, around there t o  dip in to .  We l iked those stoves tha t  you 
could get i n  wlth the  popper, you how, o r  else we'd go t o  the cook stove 
and use the s k i l l e t .  

&. You had two stoves, then? A cook stove and a heating . . . 
A. Yes, t ha t  was a range. 'lhat was a four-hole range. It wasn't a very 
b l g  stove. Mother took care of a l o t  of cooklng on it. I 've  always wondered 
how on ear th she got by. 

&. D1.d you cook with wood i n  tha t  range there,  or  coal? 

A. Wood. U n t i l  It w a s  gone and then the next one was a coal om.  But 
wood was our fue l  for  the, oh, the f i r s t  f ive  yeam, I ' d  say .  

H.B. Oh, longer than tha t ,  krt.  We burned wood for  years there.  
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A. Well, I know Warren used t o  chop wood, didn ' t  he? 

H.B. Yes. 

A. When you was growing up. 

H.B. Yes, we b m d  wood fo r  years. 

A. Sec, there l s fourteen years between her and m. 

1E.B. And Bert was away a good part  of tha t  time, too. 

A. I was g n e  f'rom horn a f t e r  tha t ;  a f t e r  I got t o  be th i r teen  years old, 
why, J worked out. I was on somebody's farm all the tfme. Just  how on 
:Int,urd,v nimt and. Sunday. So, she knows twice as much about home as I do. 

Q. How did you run the c i s t e m  water in to  the  lean-to? 

A. They got wooden t r o u a s  from the lurnberymd. They were sawed--thcyld 
take a square piece of' tlmber and split it slaunchways and then cut out 
the insides.  They made t roums tha t  would last a long t b ,  too. 

Q. And then what did you do, have a pump on the end of I t  and pumped 
in to  . . . 
A. No, we nailed a l i t t l e  board across the end of It t o  keep [the water] 
from running out the wrong end . . . 
H.H. It was up under the eaves, you know. Cau@ the water as it ran off  
the roof'. 

Q. I see. 

f l .  To put It U J ~  on the a v c s ,  why, we used old chunks of' harncss or  cwthing  
you could t o  hang it by, you know. 

H.B. It had one downtrou$ther$that ran in to  the cis tern,  you see. 

$. Then how did you get the water from the cistem? D i d  you have a pump 
there? 

A.  Well, no. Bucket and rope. 

&. Did you have a r e a x >  well on the place? 

A. Well., we had a well and it had a bucket and rope also.  

H.B. Later we had three wells. 

A.  They never had a sat isfactory well unt i l ,  oh, J guess I was m i e d  
before--they was a cousln of' mine t ha t  come there and wantcd t o  dig Mother 
a well. had dug wells a l i t t l e  and he dug a well. It was close t o  the 
house and very handy. O u r  old wcll w a s  f i f t y  yasds from the house, It was 
qui te  a job t o  carry water. They a l l  had the whooplng cough, o r  measles I 
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man, when I was working ni&ts a t  a tower and t rying t o  sleep days, 
and they wanted water ever . . . ( l a m s )  The whole bunch of them 
wanted water and they wouldn't take it out of a bucket if if; had stood 
ten  minutes. I c m r i f d  WE water1 

Q. Were those wells lined? 

A.  No, jus t  bricked-up. That ' s a l l .  

Q. How deep were they? 

A .  Oh, fYom twenty t o  twenty-five fee t .  

H.B. Well, tha t  l a s t  one, I think, was around t h i r t y  or  thirty-five.  

A. Well, we went d m  extra on tha t  last one, you how, t o  get . . . 
They had a witcher come there ,and witch fo r  water. Went down about the 
rimt depth and no water, so we went on down a l i t t l e  far ther  t o  t r y  t o  
flnd where he witched. They did ffnd a stream of water. 

&. How did he go about witching? Could you describe tha t?  

A. D l d n  't you ever see them do tha t?  

. Yes, sir. I ' d  l ike  t o  get It on the tape, though, i f  I could. 

A. Well, they'd take a peach t r e e  tha t  forked off l ike tha t  and It 
had ends about tha t  long fiom the fork. 

Q,. About a foot and a ha l f .  

A. You cut t h i s  end off  short and you cut them off  there.  You took those 
two ends, up there, i n  your hands l i k e  t h i s  and you jus t  held them and 
walked around over the ground. Well, you'd hold them stmi&t out, &e 
it stand s t raight  In front of you. Well, as you approached a stream of 
water--now I have no f a i t h  in t h i s  whatever, I'm tel-l ing you w h a t  they dld .  
A s  you approached a stream of water, t ha t  thing would start tumrZng down, 
and it would t w i s t  these things In two. It would go on down u n t i l  it stood 
stralmt and they ' d say, "There I s  YOUT water. l1 And som of them went so 
f a r  as t o  back up and count t h e i r  s teps and t e l l  you how deep. (laughs) 

Q. And you don't r ea l ly  think they knew what they were doing? 

A. No, I dont t . They dld it. I followed them wound. It would work f o r  
me a s  good as any of them I ever saw m d  I never did try Z t .  

Ldke a fellow tha t  come t o  qy s t a t ion  when I was at Honey Bend. He was a 
fellow I ' d  known when we lived on the Gerlach place but I hadn't seen him 
until he was grown. He w a s  a kid when we went t o  school together but 1 
hadn't seen h i m  mti l  he was gown. One day he walked in to  the depot and 
he says, "DO you mind IE t e s t ing  out your place?" I says, "Testing it out. 
What do you mean?'I He says, "I ' ve got s o m t h h g  In here t ha t  w i l l  f ind 
b u r k d  treasure.  I1 d l l k e  t o  go over your place. I t  Says, "You've got one of the 
old places here." I says, "Well, you can gc over the place a l l  you want to ,  
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but," I says, "I want t o  see tha t  machine f i r s t . "  

So, he got it out and he had a plumb bob on two electrodes, as he thought 
they were. There wasnlt any e lec t r i c i ty  i n  them at a l l .  A l l  the  elec- 
t r i c i t y  there was was what you generated, you know, If there was any. 
And he says, "Now, tha t  w i l l  f ind gold or s i l v e r  o r  any hldden treasure 
of any kind. I t  "So," I says, '"nave you found any yet?" Well, he was very 
evasive, he dtdn't want t o  say. He didn ' t  want it t o  get out. Didn't 
want too many people t o  know what he was doing. He wanted t o  go over 
the town but he d ldn t t  w,mt them t o  know u n t i l  he got t o  them, you know. 

And those days they were paying the rai l road men 1.n gold and I had about 
s ix ty  dollxrs .In gold i n  the t icke t  drawer and I said, '!Let Is see if tha t  
wl .11  worlc," and I took tha t  s ixty dollars and pi led it down on the f loor .  
I sws, "Now, you take tha t  thing and w a l k  around and see i f  It points t o  
It. And he walked a l l  around and he walked a l l  over it and it never did 
point t o  a s o l i t m y  t h h g .  Somebody had gypped him, you how, good and 
proper. And the crazy fool., hc wouldn I t  even take that  fo r  no. He kept 
going. Even a f t e r  seeing tha t  gold lay there and it wouldn't draw md it 
wouldn't do a thing. (laughs) 

Q. He'd boumt t h i s  Porn somone, then? 

A. That was the flnu?l.esl; thing I ever saw witching. No, I don't believe 
i n  t h e i r  water witching at a l l ,  but there i s  plenty of them do. I 've  
had preachers here that believe I n  it f b l l y .  They just  thou@t they could 
find water i n  sp i t e  of e,verything. 

Q. What kind of l i m t i n g  did you have i n  the cabin there? 

A .  Jus t  coal o i l  Imps. We didn't use any candles t o  speak of.  The 
candles had 501% of ppne out o r  date because you could get coal o i l  at 
the grocery s tore  by tha t  time, and wc had a coal o i l  can and we f i l l e d  
it every t r i p  t o  town. 

H.B. And we read everything i n  creatlon by coal o i l  lamp. 

A. One of them i s  se t t ing  back i n  yonder. 

9. Oh, i s  tha t  ri@t? 

A .  Yes, I could show it t o  you. 

&. I ill. &e a note of tha t ,  s i r .  There's a couple of things I want t o  
take some pictures of ,  i f  i t ' s  okay with you. As col la te ra l  for  this paper, 
we can put [in] the pictures of the things. 

A. That's p e r f ~ c t l y  a l l  r imt .  She and her younger sister mve us t ha t  
1- as a wedding present, and whenever we ran out of l i gh t s  It corn i n  
very handy, you know, t o  have coal 01.1, larps. We dld use candles a few 
times but candles are mssy thlngs,  you how. They'll spew tallow over 
things. My wife was very part icular  about; get t ing grease on t h h g s .  

Q. When you celebrated Cllristmls there i n  the cabin, d d  you have a ChristMs 
t r ee?  
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H.B. Not Inside. 

Q. Oh? 

H.B. No, not inside the house. (laughs) We had plenty of t rees  out- 
side.  

A.  We didn't celebrate much Christrms. 

H.B. We didn't have room fo r  Christms t r ees .  

A. We were pret ty  poor, I'll t e l l  you. 

H.B. By the t lm we got seven k ids ,  and our parents, and GranWthcr-- 
Grandmother stayed with us a good part  of the the- there wasn't room 
f'or anything e lse .  

A. And we'd have can@ and nuts, oranges, and . . . 
H.B. Popcorn. 

A. . . . and we'd pop corn and f i x  up popcom ba l l s  . . . 
H.B. And we bo@t cranberries a t  the skore. 

A. Now, take sor@wn molasses arid mkc it almost t o  candy and then mix 
i n  your popcum. I t ' s  about l i ke  Crac,kerjacks now, you how. We always 
had a b ig  p i l e  of popcorn ba l l s .  I was very fond of them at that t i m e  
but I: can't eat  popcorn a t  a l l  now, it gets under nly plate .  ( l a m s )  

Q. Si r ,  I wanted t o  ask--how dld you @ about rmking sorghum? 

A. Well, there was somebody I n  the neighborhood always had a so r@m 
plant.  You might have t o  go f'ive o r  s i x  miles, but there w* always a 
sorp$um plant around and you loaded up your cane and took it down there 
and hc had a way of squeezing the juice out, you how. They had r o l l e r s  
s e t  t h i s  ww--up and down-and he could s e t  them plmk t igh t  together, 
you know. They were s t e e l  ro l l e r s  and then they had a shaft  at the top 
tha t  t m e d  them. They turned--there was three r o l l s  and thcy turned. 
And that  had t o  run off  a horsepower over here. Those horsepowers were 
used for  pract ical ly  a l l  the power while I was a kid.  

Q. So they ran a be l t  fYom the horsepower t o  the . . . 
A. Either tha t  or,  as I c a l l  i t ,  a t&l.ing-rod, and run gem up there,  
you know. They ndght put a gear--1 don't remrrber exactlyT2 how they had 
it fixed bu t  I'm pretty s u e  they had a b e l t .  No1 k t ' s  see . . . Yes, 
I believe thcy did have a be l t  on tha t  thing because the feedes had t o  be 
at a cewrtailri place. He couldn't stand on one side and feed. He had t o  
stand at Jus t  a cer tain place t o  feed. He'd take eI@t  or  ten stocks of 
cane arid f'wd them throu@i there and the ,juice wcnt down in to  a trou& ,md 
the t r o u a  ran in to  a bar re l  there a t  the end of the thing. They 'd run 

12$ee addenda item 87. 
Bert Aikman Memoir, Vol. III -- Archives, University of Illinois at Springfield



your cane throum and get it i n  a bmre l .  Then, they rd  take it in buckets 
over t o  the vat where they cooked it. 

H.B. Big evaporator pans. 

A. 'Ihey had a vat t ha t  they f i red  f'rom below, It was put on bricks 
and It w a s  just a b ig  pan and they would put the raw s tu f f  In one end 
and start It cooklng and, by the time it had cooked down t o  the other 
end of tha t  pan, It was usually ready t o  take of f .  

H.B. It ran through l i t t l e  e t e s  tha t  slowed it. 

A. And they would d l p  It of f  here and keep feedlng in there,  you how. 
They'd run off a bar re l  of molasses--it would surprlse you how quick 
they could rrake a bamel  of n~31 c~A-, .3t3~ - - F  . 
62. When you took the cane In, how did he figure how much you got back? 
Did he keep some for . . . 
A. Well, he would take It on share. I don't remmber what share, but 
I think he got a th i rd .  

H.B. That ' s what I think too, Bert, a th i rd .  

A. You could pay h i m  and get a l l  the ju ic  youmelf but tha t  was the  
way he made it, h l s  m y ,  wlth molasses.l? He sold that--he took tha t  
t o  Litchfield then and sold it t o  the s tores  ln kegs, you how, o r  barrels .  

H.B. Well, we  used t o  have e i m t  o r  ten gallons for  our p a t  always. 

Q. Enough fo r  you t o  get t i r e d  of It, I s  tha t  right, s i r ?  

A. I got t i r e d  of taking it t o  school. 

11. B . She made Gngerbread with It, you know, and cookies and cancly and . . . 

A. It made p o d  cookies. 

H.B. Yes, it did. And they u s ~ d  t o  have what they called backwoods 
preserves. They'd put Puit i n  i t .  Didn't use S u w ,  you h o w .  Put it 
down with frmit and they called F t  backwoods preserves. That's what the 
old people who had--from KcntucQ out t h i s  way did. That was t h e i r  sweeten- 
ing, you see. 

Q. What k:hd of berries--3: believe you covered it the other day, but what 
k h d  of berr ies  dld you col.lect in the timber down there? 

A. Blackberries and raspberries, and gooseberries If you would take 
pains t o  pick them. There w a s  plenty of them. 

H.B. And l o t s  of the l l t t l e  wild strawberries on the rai l road barlk, 
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11. Rut we never canned any of those or . . . 
H.B. Oh, yes we did! 

A. Well, mybe you &Ld but not while I w a s  . . . 
I I -B.  WE mde l o t s  of preserves out of those l i t t l e  wild strawbemies. 

A. It w a s  a l l  we could do t o  get enough fo r  a pie .  

1I.B. Oh, we used t o  make a l o t  of them, Bert. He didn't  pick them. 

&. 1 see. 

H.B. We kids &Id. 

Q. Well, s l y ,  we 've been going well over an hour here now, think we 
could break and start spin tomorrow? 

A. I t ' s  a l l  r ight ,  if you want t o .  If you've pt work enough for  you, 
why, tha t  ' s  a l l  rj.e)lt with rw . I fee l  l i ke  y o u ' v ~  got a l o t  of nonsense. 

Q. This i s n ' t  nonsense, sir,  t h i s  i s  valuable i n f o m t l o n .  

1I.B. Well, Bert l ived t h r o u a  a l l  of it, sure.  

A. See, I was the oldest one and Dad worked out a l l  the time and, of 
a momline; when he w a s  getting ready t o  go t o  work, he 'd l i n e  up the work 
that  he wanted done at how. Then he ' d t e l l  me--he wouldn't t e l l  a l l  of 
them-he'd say, "Now, you see that  t h a t ' s  done today." Well, I pret ty  
near had the kids hating me before I grew up because I drove them l ike  
Magee did his slaves. ( l a m t e r )  I rmde them do it. I was blager than 
any of them. 1 could whip them then i f  I had t o .  

I3.B. Hc never got over it e i ther ,  Pk. Wagpnery he's s t i l l  boss. 

A Well, I w a  sespons1bl.e. He didn't  b l m  any of the  r e s t  of them. 
If it wasn ' t done, it w a s  rqy f au l t .  So, 1 had t o  get on rqy muscles 

H.H. Well, he was a pret ty  good man with the kids. I can t e l l  you that ,  
and they a l l  of them p w  up thinkrtng a Lot of him and a l l  of us s t i l l  do. 

A. I don't know a thing about college. I went throu@ one. The Webb 
boy over here i s  head of a college i n  Mattoon, you know, and he took my 
brother and IE out one Sundqy evening, a f t e r  everything was closed up, 
you how. Took us throu@ the ins t i tu t ion  that we might see the layout 
and when we cam back out the door I sald,  "Well, sir,  I 've been through 
col.lege. ( h u g h t w )  

9. There you pl Did he @ve you a degrec? 

A. He laughed, thou,@. He thou@t it was pretty good thinking tha t  I ' d  
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been throu* c o l l e e .  That's as near as I-that's the only time I 
was ever i n  a college. 

(portlon in which Mr.  kikmm interviewed the lntervlewer not transcribed) 

A. Where do you go now t o  pick up a plane? 

Q. Down a t  Litchfield.  

A.  Oh, do they have them t o  rent?  

Q. Yes, sir. There's a l i t t l e  a i r f i e l d  down there , . . 
A. I didn't how tha t .  

&. . . . Don--&, I 've  forgotten h i s  name ri@t now but he runs a l i t t l e  
service there where he teachcs, o r  h e ' l l  f l y  you somplace i f  you want 
t o  go, o r  he ' 11 rent the planes out, you know 

A. Be teaches flying? 

&. Yes, sir. 

A. I see. 1 never heard of tha t  i n  Lltchfleld.  

. Oh, yes. The l i t t l e  a i r f i e l d  i s  rea l ly  a nice l l t t l e  a i r f i e l d ,  has 
a nice concrete runway--it goes eas t  and west, It's . . . 
A.  South of town, I s n ' t  I t ?  

&. Yes, sir. M a t  out south of the . . . 
A. 7: was down there when they talked of it, at l eas t .  Well, In fact, 
i n  World War I there wasn't any landing f i e l d  f o r  them at a l l .  'They 
didn't  have any. FQ wife had a cousiln tha t  lives out the northwest comer 
of Litchfield,  ri&t between a l l  the roads,and he had a twenty-acre meadow 
tha t  he had cut the hay off of i n  the  f a l l  when they were training a bunch. 
Those fellows used t o  come In  there and land i n  tha t  stubble, just timothy 
stubble, you laow, pret ty  closely cut.  I used t o  go down there--I had a 
car  at  tha t  time--used t o  go down there and watch them c o ~  i n .  Talked 
t o  some of them. A l o t  of them, they hadn't been at it very much, you mow 

I saw one fellow shut off  one time, oh, I Id judge he was twenty feet  up, 
(laughs) and he h i t  the ground and he bounced about tha t  high up, too. 

Q. While he was landing, you rmm? 

A. Yes, he was trylng t o  land but he just  forgot. 

Q. Where were these airplanes f lying fmm? Scott Field,  mybe? 

A.  Yes. Scott Field and Rantoul. Rantoul w a s  a main school, I think. 
But t h i s  rran tha t  owned the f i e ld ,  he was i n  It a l l  the t lm every day. 
He was the supervisor of the township and dldnlt work i n  the f i e l d  very 
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mch and he was around them so much mt i l  he says, "Bert, I lulow how 
they f ly .  He says, "I know everythirg they do t o  f l y ,  'I He sap,  
"I jmt  believe I could get up and f l y  one of the things." 

It wasn't long a f t e r  tha t  u n t i l  he heard a plane circliwg h i s  f i e l d  
at two o'clock i n  the morning and kept c i rc l ing  and c i rc l ing  and 
c l rc l ing  and he says, "Now, the re ' s  some e;uy t h a t ' s  l o s t .  He don't 
know w h ~ r e  hc is. 'I He sws, "I'll just  have t o  bring hlrn down. " He 
lit h i s  own 1,zntern and went down t o  tha t  f l e l d  and motioned the  fellow 
t o  come in with it and motioned easy, you how, here (demonstrates) 
and domed i f  he d l d h ? ' t  bring him down safely.  (laughs) ?"ne man was 
juxt  give clear  out. He'd got lo s t  and he'd flown a l l  of t ha t  t h e ,  
now, u n t i l  two olclock, and be was Just give clear  out,. So, he took 
him up arid put hlm t o  bed. He notrlfled where he was, of course, as  
soon as he could get t o  a phone. 

Q. Was he military? 

A, Yes. He w a s  paY.t of a troop tha t  had taken off and gone t o  SpringMeld 
and he got off of h i s  base some way and &ot lost ,from the crowd. 

They used t o  have a b jg  dlrllgible they flew up there pract ical ly  every 
day. It used t o  go ri&t up along here, too. It was one of them rvbber 
things, you how. There was planes fl.yine; low, We got so used t o  It, 
we h e w  they were students leaming. 1 never did see anybody crash. I 
was so thankful of tha t .  

Q. Did you ever get down t o  Scott Field while the dir l@bles  were there? 

A. No, I never was them when the dlri-gible landed, but one day I was 
coming how f r o m  Springfield--we used t o  s e l l  e w  t o  a bake~y  up there 
once a week and we would take up the e- and then come back horn empty, 
of course--and when we s ta r ted  out of SprFngfleld, he was pulling away 
from Springfield. He had circl.ed the town and w a s  ready t o  head f o r  how.  
m e r e  was a tremndous hi@ wind tha t  we w a s  both driving Into arld I could 
pas tha t  fellow rimt along i n  the Ford. There wasn I t  aqy pavement. It 
was on a dirt mad tha t  I w a s  . I ' d pass him and I d l e t  him pass me and 
then I ' d  run up and pass him again. He was flying down where you could 
almost ta& t o  hlm. 

& . He wasn I t  very high, then? 

A.  No! He was jus t  clearing the t r e e  tops, jus t  barely. 

9. S i r ,  I wonder, could we d ~ o p  back just a few years, then, t o  your 
rai l roadhe;  t h e ?  When you were . . . 

A. Well, when 1 w a s  railroading, as I to ld  you, 1 went i n  there the f a l l  
of 1900 and tha t  was an election year and. I st&ed in the first of Noverrber 
just--well, the ffrst day I was there was when the election w a s  held. I 
didn't get i n  on the first. Oh, it was a monotonous thlng. I t o l d  you 
about having the l i t t l e  rrmhine on a board. 

&. Yes, sir. 
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A. A s ~ n d i n g  apparatus, and he would lay tha t  on h l s  desk i n  fl-ont of him 
,and he would put n~ t o  a desk a t  the side.  I was t o  copy what he sent,  as 
soon as he'd taught IE the l e t t e r s  and the figures and so on, 1: expect I 
was a month get t ing those so I knew what they sounded l ike .  It took quite 
a l i t t l e  while. You how somthing about tha t ,  don't you, i n  . . . 

A l i t t l e  b i t .  Yes, sir.  

A. You used Morse? 

Q. Yes, sir, but only fo r  l e t t e r s .  You got t o  learn words i n  Morse 
code, didn't you? 

A. Oh, yes, because held send r ight  out of a newspaper. Well, I f  I 
could get the drift of what was coming, it helped a peat  deal on RE 
g e t t h g ,  savvying It, you mow, and I would copy there--we often put i n  
four hours a day, s i t t h g  there just abeating away on that  l i t t l e  mchine. 

And by the way, tha t  little machhe was jus t  torn q l a s t  year. I gave it 
t o  my brother when I qul t  and he took It over, thought mybe he rd  want t o  
teach h i s  kids but none of them took t o  Itt;, but one of h i s  .pandsons has a 
couple of boys. They are  i n  high school, one of them's h high school; the 
other, grade; and in the high school they wanted t o  develop t h i s  short-wave 
s tu f f  and he asked me I f  I mlnded them temlng  tha t  up and using 1.t for  a 
sending apparatus on short-wave. I to ld  h h  t o  go ahead, it would never do 
IE any good. I didn't care anything about It. I was t h r o w  with it. So, 
they tore  it up i n  the l a s t  few years. 

But tha t  was jus t  a monotonous grind, you lanow. Well, I mt the trains. 
k m e d  t o  m e t  the bagage carr and get the rxpress and I also carried m a i l .  
Now, as l i t t l e  as Honey Bend w a s ,  a t  tha t  time they had four malls a day, 
two In and two out. Tho of them c m  i n  on a loca l  passenger train but two 
of them we had t o  hang on a hanger. You know how they hang them and grak them o f f .  

Q. Yes, sir. Could you describe t ha t ?  

A. Yes. Well, they b u i l t  a stage up about four fee t  hi@ and they put a 
swinging am on it tha t  would J u s t  c l e w  the bottom of it. There was a hook 
up here and a hook down below, another m down below, and we'd hook a d l  
sack on those by the rings i n  the thing. When the tmLn cam along--that was 
about four feet  *om the t ra fn ,  you know--he could s t i c k  out his--he had [an 
a], just l i k e  your arm exactly, on the s ide of the car tha t  he would r a i se  
up and It waul-d go out past tha t  mail sack and bring her back In here and take 
her  right along with it. He would have tha t  sack open and work it by the t h e  
he l d get t o  Litchfield.  My, those f'ellows did work h z d .  

&. They sorted rl&t on the t r a in ,  then? 

A. He was on the t r a i n ,  yes. A t  the sane t b  tha t  he did tha t ,  he threw 
off a sack f o r  us. So, I had t o  watch where tha t  sack lit and casry it t o  
the post off lce,  see tha t  It was taken cam of.  I had one thrown through the 
window one day. He overlooked h i s  hand. We had a bay window on the depot and 
It cam In on the side the t r a i n  was comlng f r o m  and went out on the other side 
and neither one of us was close enough t o  1% t o  be h i t .  Boy, It went through 
Vke a cannonball. DEdn't tea r  up the sack. Took out both windows. 
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The other time, I was s i t t i n g  there after--oh, I'd been t e l e p a p h h g  
several yexrs by tha t  time, and I was s i t t i n g  there.  In the depot, 
1-lke tha t ,  we did what we called 0-S t r a ins .  That was t e l l  the 
m l v a l .  and departure and weld say, "Traln nwber so-and-so In at 
cer%ain tim, " and then, 'ID, " for departed, at a c e r t a h  time, and 
:i f it w a s  a throum t r a i n ,  we l d say, lfCannonball through at so m y  
rcririut es . ' I  And I was s i t t  ing there--you got so you d report these f a s t  
t r a ins  as they went by, you'd J u s t  do it rimt at the desk because you 
had t o  be there and change the s ignal ,  l e t  the engineer see it go fmm 
~d t o  blank. So I got so T would @S them as they went by. And I was 
@ S h g  one one day and the fellow @bed the mil sack, and tha t  fellow 
was doing s ixty or bc t tc r ,  tha t  t r a i n  w a s  rea l ly  going. And when he 
grabbed tha t  sack, It popped the luck o f f .  Tore off' the  s taple  i n  the 
sack, popped the lock of f ,  and it came through both windows and It just 
rubbed the back of q hand. Didn't hurt it. Just rubbed it. If tha t  
had of h i t  i t !  Just  went l i k e  a cannon, you know. After tha t ,  I dlrjn' t  
0-S as they passed. 

(portion not transcribed--lntervi~w mrwntwi ly  interrupted) 

A. Well, tha t  was job, was t o  take care of the d l .  When the loca l  
f reight  cam in ,  why, I handled the f r e i a t ,  putting it on the t m c k  
and running it i n  the fieightroom out of the danger of thieves and weather 
and. so on. You had quite a l i t t l e  ~ a l w o r k  t o  do. I paid the agent 
for ty dollars t o  teach rw. The rai l road allowed him t o  col lect  t ha t  much 
and they gave mz permission t o  s tay .  In f ac t ,  I was registered in the 
s ta t ion .  When he took i n ,  he gave nam and address and they regis- 
tcrcd me in and I was known as "Student of Honey Bend, so-and-so." 

So, as I to ld  you, I worked tha t  f i r s t  four. mnths,  f r o m  Noverrber t o  the 
first of March. Tnen tha t  tower job opened up and I went t o  the tower. 
But by tha t  tlmc I was f'amiliar with a l l  of the  sai l road work. I knew 
what t o  expect of everything, you know, throum t r a ins  and tmbs  tha t  
stopped and so on,but I needed s t i l l  t o  learn rqy Morse be t t e r .  So, the 
&ispateher had a wire throu@ that  tower and I kept it open always so  
tha t  I could copy out the train orders tha t  went and the mssages tha t  
went and so on. That way I studied tha t  year on tha t  u n t i l  I peryected 
telegmphing pret ty  good. I w a s  a very good operator when I got througa 
tha t  . 

Q. S i r ,  what i s  a t r a i n  order? Can you describe tha t?  

A. Yes. A ti& order i s  what t r a lns  move by. Thcy had a dispatcher 
thal; sat i n  Decatur. I+ had from S t .  Louis t o  Decatur as his section of 
t rack t o  handle and he had t o  how where every t r a l n  was every minute of 
the time and he got that information t h r o w  those GSes tha t  we @ve him, 
see? If a t r a i n  wasn't d i n g  i t s  t h e ,  he 'd send us a mssage and he ' d 
sqy, "Ask the engbeer  what; ls holding hlm up. " So, we'd hand hlm up on 
a hoop. We had a hoop tha t  stuck i n  the end of a s t i c k  and we could hold 
thal; up. The engineer would run h i s  arm throu@ it and take hoop ayld a l l  
and then t e a r  out the rressage and read it. Sam way with traln orders. 
If we had a t r a i n  order for  him, it went i n  a hoop. Except . . . we]-1, I 
ou&t t o  explaln something there.  

There was  two types of train orders, a 31 and a 19 designated them, and the 
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31 couldnvt be handed up. The conductor had t o  come i n  and sign h i s  
n m  on it in your presence and he had t o  sead it t o  you t o  know tha t  
he understood the moverrmt that  was t o  take place on tha t  order. That 
was a dlrccl; order, see? But a 19 ,  i f  they wanted t o  change anything 
on that  order, theyt d say, "Take 19 for  so-and-so," and they'd change 
whatever they wanted t o .  For instance, I f  a loca l  broke down i n  Raymnd, 
broke a car  down on the maln track, and they'd have t o  take the other 
t r a ins  throu@ on the p a s s h a  track, w e l l ,  that would go up on a 19, 
you how. We ' d t e l l  them just  wlhat had happened-llSo-and-so i s  broke 
down and you ' l l  have to go thro& on the passlag track. " 

So, those orders were what the  t r a i n  worked on, After he le f t  the first 
s tat ion,  he depended on those trak orders, and h i s  "c tab le .  He had a 
1:lmtabla that  he w a s  suppo:;rd t o  M e ,  all the tl.mr.14 And we had sum 
vewy T a t  f'reiyJts. They called them . . . uh . . . 1 've even lost tha t  
word. They were 1arp;el.y rc:frTgerated c<ms and they rm them tW0&1. Theyt d 
take a carload of beef' out, of' S t .  Lou-Is, theyvd nm it throu& t o  C,hl.cap;o in 
o m  r - l i d i t ,  you how. 'l!hcytd G:ke her, thwx~@ In  a hlnrry i f   the^ was any re- 
fr'igeration cars and they ' d. go tllrou&--highballs ! That 's what they called 
thern. "A hipjlball I s  corrlirlg. " And when therc wa.s a highball coming, we were 
on our ~ O C S  LO see that  11e got h i :-; 193, or. 3Os, or. whatever, as he cam along. 

So, then i f  you had t o  stop a t r a in ,  meantime, you could do it with tha t  
board. You could stop any of them with tha t  bowd. h a v e  it red, they 
woul.dnlt pass L t ;  but :l.f w e  wanted t o  stop them fo r  informtion,  os t o  
give them defini te  lnformatj.on about something, we would s tep out with a 
rvd f l a g  or  a red lantern arid f l ag  them down. They cam t o  a stop right 
at us, you know. The englnecr would hop out. %at 's the mtter?ll Well, 
we'd t e l l  h h  md, "Come in  and. sign your order. Theyf d come i n  and get 
it .  Then they could proceed under the proper directions, you see, t o  go. 

They had l o t s  of wrecks. rats of drawbars pulled out. They could only 
haul so m y  cars, those days, without pulling dj.awbars. [If I the draw- 
bars were not put in-that f s  the coupling between cars a d  they were 
great big heavy steel--but i f  they were riot properly placed i n  the car 
shops o r  [they 'd l  get a heavy load, why, they 'd pul.1 out and then there was 
hal f  a t r a i n  down here loose arid half  of it on the en-. Tne enginew 
would be scared t o  death whenever tha t  happened because the air  brake 
would stop him, If he didn't  watch h i s  doing, and it would break off  down 
there and the air brake wouldn't brake and here they'd come tear ing up at 
him l ike  another w a i n ,  you know. So It was his busrincss t o  Work tha t  a b  
p w  and get that air out of those cars behind h i m  just as fast as he could. 
And you could t e l l ,  t o  hear them acoming, what was wrong. They was workbe; 
hard and that  old engine was a f i g h t h g  it, you know. 

Q. They automt ica l ly  locked, then, the brakes? 

A. They had t o  chain the train together then. They Id allow the  back end 
t o  catch up o r  else they ' d back down t o  i t  md ts.ke a &?eat big  chain :~nd 
chain It on and away they'd go. 

14see addenda item 89. 
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But al.1 of tha t  had t o  be done through the telepraph office.  We 
were the voilce fo r  every movement of the train, pract ical ly ,  you see. 
hiomdays, the vollce goes over telephone d i r ec t l y  t o  the conductor 
and the  en-eer. They get i t .  But those days it was written out 
and handed up. 

Q. You didn't  do t h i s  type work there at the crossing where the 
I lUxo i s  Central . . . 
A. No. I took one t r a i n  order while I was these. There was a 
wreck i n  the north end of W.tchfl.eld and they didn't  w a n t  the e n m e  
tha t  was coming down t o  get in to  it, so they to ld  m to take a t r a i n  
order and I a d  a fa i r ly  good j ob . That was first one, you know, 
t o  hand up. So, I went out and handed it up t o  them and they mde 
it a l l  r i @ t .  

I was  working at Honey Bend when they had that t e r r i b l e  wreck tha t  I 
don't suppose you ever even heard of.  During the World's Fair at 
St .  Iouis, they rm-I think there was nine passenger trains passed 
our s ta t ion  a day, p i n g  t o  St .  Louis. They'd run three and four 
sections of a certaln number. The t r a ins  a re  a l l  nurrbered, you know: 
rlwnber 4, nwber 12 ,  nwnber 7, and so on. And rider 11 was comlng 
down tha t  day with a peat;  trainload of people, never did h o w  just 
exacCly how m y ,  but they had a t e r r i b l e  t r a h l o a d .  

There w a s  a new dispatcher breaking i n  on the road. They had t o  t r ave l  
the road so much and learn a l l  about the h i l l s  and hollers  and so on, 
what would cause trouble md what wouldn't, m d  so on. So, the dispatcher 
had t o  r ide  enghes  qulte frequently when he was learmlng and th l s  new 
dispatcher we thought so much of was on tha t  train, t ha t  day, with the 
engineer and the t r a i n  was one hour l a t e .  He cam out of Detroit, and 
i n  the  dlstance from Detroit t o  Decatur held l o s t  an hour, bobably  
loadbe;. They took quite a while t o  load fif 'ty o r  a hundred people, 
you know, in coaches. So, they were coming down there at the . . . 
Word came out. I don't know how it ,got out,, but the word cam? out af'ter- 
ward, tha t  when the dispatcher climbed in--of course, the engineer mew 
him-he says, "Are you golng t o  take us i n  on time?" The dispatcher 
knew he had t o  rrake up ari hour i n  tha t  &om Decatur to St.  Lods ,  and 
he said,  "I w i l l  or  I t  11 land her in he l l !  " %ere wasn't any res t r ic t ions  
on them. They ran them as fast as they could run and some ldds had 
tampered with the switch r ight  up at the north end of Wtchfield and had 
s p l i t  tha t  just  e n o m  tha t  t ha t  engine s p l i t  it. They went in to  it at 
tha t  tremndous speed and tha t  en-e got off  I t s  wheels and the boi le r  
went down the t rack l lke  tha t ,  end over end, and ended facing back toward 
the way it had corn. Every car went in the  a t c h  and it caught fbe ink 
mdiate ly .  There was a l o t  of people burned q. They never did how how 

- 
Men tha t  were down there--of course, I couldn't leave s tat ion,  1 was 
on the job, but a l o t  of the boys from around there went down there.  
Drove down Fn horses andbuggies, goti know. They sa id  there W a s  one worn  
tha t  was  hooked under one of the cars jtxstbeyontj her ankle there,  the 
i ron had clamped on her, and they safd she Jus t  begged them t o  take an 
axe and chop that  off .  1 1 ~ 1 7 ~  w a s  the f i r e  coming down on her and she 
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knew it and she b e s d  them arid there wasn't anybody would chop tha t  
leg  of f .  They was a f m i d  they'd be sued for murder i f  she died, you 
how. They jus t  l e t  t ha t  poor soul b u m  up, and knew what was comlng. 

Oh, that  was a terrible wreck. My goodness ! Those cars just  piled 
up and blazed rlat off .  They burned the telegraph wires i n  two i n  
two minutes and so there wasn't any tellcpaphing below TIE for quite a 
l i t t l e  while. Then, they got a man down there and put him r imt  on 
the f i e l d  and hooked on wires and had him work from there,  

Q. Did It take them a long whilc t o  clean up the tracks? 

A. Oh yes, they was a long time get t ing i t  cleaned up. The cWs a l l  
burned up but the s t e e l  par ts  r e m h e d .  They w a s  s t e e l  e m s .  It was 
a brand new train. A beautiful t ra ln .  It w a s  jus t  rea l ly  the pride 
of the road and I expect each one of those cars would cost a mZllion 
dol lars .  They were perfect.  You had air conditlonlng and that was a 
new thing i n  those days, you know. flilr. condltloning, you didn't  open 
wlndows and, oh, it was a wonderfbl t r a i n .  The Wabash w a s  a long t h e  
getting over it, 1'1.1 t e l l  you. I donf t know what it did cost the 
lnsu ranc~  companies, I never did hem, but they f igwed there was a t  
leas t  a hmdred people bwned. 

lhey got out a l o t  of them. They got a l o t  of them tha t  was broken 
up but not fastened in the s t ee l .  They got l o t s  of them out, They 
got a l l  the doctors Porn Decatur t o  there and *om St.  Lmls up t o  
there.  They had all the doctors up, f'rom both sides,  up there  t o  take 
care of the wounded ones, you know, t o  keep them fl-om bleeding to death 
Run specla1 trarlns t o  do It,. 

&. W a  St .  John's hospital  there In  Litchfield at t ha t  tim? 

No, the . It i s n  ' t St .  John s . I t ' s  . 
i Not S t .  ~ r y f s ?  

A .  No. Shoot, I how it, i f  L could think of It. 

Q. St .  Francis? 

A .  That's i t !  Now you're ta&ing. Yes. It was just a two-story a f f a i r .  
It had an L t h i s  way arid then an L went out Porn i t  tha t  way. I don't 
suppose it had over t h i r t y  beds, and of' course it was jamfed jus t  as  quick 
as they could. Thcn they b r o w t  up hospital  cars and took people in them, 
too, In both 1Jlrections, quick as they could. But, oh boy, tha t  was one day. 

Q. You were working at the crossing a t  t ha t  time? 

A .  No, I wasnl t ; I w a s  a t  IIoney Bend. S was agent. And we had a block 
system. We had a system on the road when the  Fa l r  cam on; they h t r o -  
duced a block system tha t  you kept tralns one s ta t ion  apwt. Tnat distance. 
That was put on a sepamte wire. It wasn't in the t e l e p a p h  wires but it 
was a separate wire. That was your blocking wire and when a t r a i n  got 
ready t o  leave Li td i f ie ld ,  the operator would say, "Block south . I '  And 1 'd 
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say, "Block south. I' Then he could turn h i s  t r a i n  loose and immdiately 
1 turned t o  Raymnd and I says, "Block south, I '  and he would put in a 
block. Well, then I could l e t  them pass ITE, go ri@t on by. I f  you 
couldn't get a block, you l e f t  tha t  red bomd on them because there 
may be a wreck between there tha t  you didn't  how about. So, we  had 
a wonderful system. 

The f i r s t  thing I looked for ,  when I heard tha t  t r a i n  had gone i n  the  
ditch, was t o  see tha t  I had a def ini te  okay fo r  q block, see.  And 
I did. For I was blocking south a t  t ha t  tiw, I was blocking south. 
Litchfield took the block. Hc had accepted it .  Those days you had t o  
stay pret ty  close t o  your Job because t r a ins  mved on those blocks. 

Then in order t o  move them in to  a section tha t  w a s  blocked, we had 
what we call-ed caution cards and they were a casd tha t  says, "You are  
t o  proceed with utmost caution *om Honey Bend t o  Raymnd, expecting 
somthing wrong. We don1 t know what. " You handed tha t  up t o  a t r a i n  
a s  he come along by you, o r  eluse you stopped hlm and give it t o  him* 
IIe acted on tha t  u n t i l  he knew tha t  track was clear  and could e;et throuffh 
fiiynond ,and then, i f  cvcryl;hhp: w a s  3.3 3 right, he got up t o  speed again 
and s ta r ted  on t o  Decatur. So, wc handlcd them i n  blocks when they 
were occupied. We'd get trains within ten  feet of one another tha t  w a y  
because he went up expecting t o  find trouble. When thcsc t r a ins  would 
break In two, why, they always used that  because tha t  back end was help- 
l e s s .  It was just  s e t t ing  there on the track, you know, and you had t o  
protect it u n t i l  i t  was recoupled and pulled out. 

I learned railroading pret ty  good. That was one thing tha t  I took a 
pride i n  and 1 taught a your@ r r m  there i n  the nele;hborhood, and he 
worked as  ni@t m there fo r  a rimer of y c m .  Then I taught rqy 
brother, George, and then my youngest brother, Jean. Both of them 
were out on the road, working, when my father died and, as I to ld  you, 
thc younger boy gave up his ,-job and came hone, 

Rut George stuck t o  it. I+ moved off of the Wabash over onto the New 
York Central bccause they offered him f ive dollars a m n t b  more t o  be 
xi operator over there then the Wabash w a s  paying. He was jw t  a qu,.lrtcr 
of' a f i l e  fYom where tha t  ctdnf'f went down f'rom Hillsboro t o  St, J;ouis 
without any t o m s  on i t .  So, he went over on there and went t o  working 
In a to we^ and got $5.00 a month more wages. Be got $50 a month where 
he only got $40 or $45 down here. And he stuck t o  it. He stayed with 
the New York Central uritll they r e t i r ed  him. He draws a pension of about 
$380 a mnth.  

Q. When you we* working i n  the tower at the crossing, didn't it get 
kind of  lonely there? Set t ing there twelve hours out i n  the middle 
o f . . .  

A. 1 never was bothered tha t  way at a l l  becausc I was a t r y h g  rr~y' very 
best t o  learn that  business, t o  act able t o  read everythbg that passed 
w. After I got so T could read good, why, that  was a constant source 
of m e m n t .  You could just  s e t  there ,and hem what was taking place 
a l l  over the system. Know what each t r a i n  was doling and when t o  expect 
it, and so on, So, no, I didn ' t  have any trouble. 
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I did have trouble somethes staying awake. I went t o  sleep one tlme 
and stopped a coal drag tha t  was coming north and I: hated it 2.0 bad 
and those fellows, when I gave them the board, they cam up even with 
me where they could, they called r E  everything they knew (laughs) 
hard as they could, but the b w ~ e r s  never turned it in. They were 
good enoum t o  (laughter) . . . I didn't  blaw them for cussing me 
because it was a hard drag t o  start. He had a compound on and he had 
t o  use tha t  old corrpound t o  drag her out of there.  

Q. You were working twelve hour s h i f t s  there,  Did you m t a t e  sh i f t s  
every so orten? 

A. That was it, twelve hours. I worked f r o m  seven t o  seven at Honey 
k n d .  Then the n i@t  man cam on and worked f'rom seven t o  seven. He'd 
leave seven In the morning, p home, and I would be on the job at seven, 
you see. Worked throu& the day and then when he come on at  seven o'clock 
in the evening, I pulled out fo r  home. 

9. Dld you ro ta te  at a l l  o r  werhe you always on tha t  schedule? 

A. No, we were on tha t  schedule because we were registered tha t  way, 
each one. But, t o  get t o  go t o  the World's Fair,  we each one had t o  
double f o r  the other. They wouldn't furnish m n  t o  relleve us at all. 
They was too busy. 'Theyt d send you a l l  the passes you wanted. 'I"ncy 'd 
just give us passes without any queztlori, but they'd say, "Get your 
own r e l l e f .  " Well, tha t  was up t o  he and I t o  trade off ,  see. So 
when you did tha t  and went t o  the 1W r and corn back tha t  n i m t ,  why, 
you had t o  work-take on and work about 72 hours before you got relieved. 
I worked 72 hours a nturber of Limes. And I dfdn't go t o  sleep much on 
tha t .  

The l a s t  time I got tha t ,  he played a t r i c k  on m.  He took a notion 
t o  lay of f  and he says, " l t m  agoing t o  lay off, now, whether they l e t  
me or  not." He kept awritirig &id asking for  rellef but they wouldn't 
I 1 .  That; was long af ter  F'cG r tlw. It wasn't so busy. And one 
morning I went dawn <and he wasn't there and there was a telegram on the 
desk, writ ten out, saying, "I m s ick .  Send r e l i e f  ," and h l s  rn signed 
t o  it. I put it on the wire i m d l a t e l y .  I dkln't know but what he was 
s ick.  But the bugger had just  gone horn and dressed up and went mound 
fo r  a good time and he stayed away two weeks. 

Well, I worked 72 hours that  t im  before they would give rre any r e l i e f  
and I called the wlre chief then. I knew him personally. And I says, 
"Now, h. Stanton, I 've  got t o  have r e l i e f  tonight o r  I ' m  not going t o  
be rbesponsible. I 've  stqyed here 72 hours now and you get somebody 
here or  1'11 close the off ice."  So, he got a m down there then. 7: 
suppose he pulled the n i@t  man off  of someplace and sent h h  down. 

Q. You say you attended the World s Falr there at S t .  huls? 

A.  Yes. I went twice, but as 1: say, I had t o  work 72 hours t o  do it. 
But we got t o  see mst of It. Jus t  walked through it, we didn't get t o  
l o i t e r  very rrruch. But I did see a rimer of things tha t  I was fntensely 
interested in. 
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I ' d  read about them trying t o  hamess the sun. I ' d  read everything 
I could on tha t .  I stJ.11 don't understand why they don't harness the 
sun. And I went amurld t o  that  place. There w a s  a fellow there claimd 
he had it. He was a Swede. Great b . ig  Swede. But I hmghe he was a 
scl.entlst. And he was m l t i n g  f;r'mrite, i n  that r e to r t ,  with the sun 
rqys. He'd just melt, it down u n t i l  :it w a s  lrlke water. And I went a- 
round t o  see tha t .  They never did. take that. Never used it fo r  any- 
thing tha t  I ever heard of .  1 still can't  understand why we can't 
have sun power. 

Q. Well, there 's  a l o t  of work going on in  it now, of course--sol* 
power. 

A.  Well, do you hecar of them rr;iking ,any progress, outside of these 
fellows tha t  go t o  the rmon? They do charge ba t te r ies  and so on, on 
tha t .  

Q. I believe horn heating, ~ l @ t  now, i s  becoming pract ical .  

A. Fmm the sun? 

&. Yes, sir. 

A .  No, tha t  's from the ear th,  i s n  t It 7 

&. No,sir, so1.m heating. No, t;he heat f romthe cavlth i s  mre d i f f i cu l t  
t o  rranage. They do do it. 

A. They have t o  go down eighteen hundred f ee t ,  1 read. 1s that r ight?  

. I don't know, don't know that  much about it but; I know it ' s  more 
difficult than harnessing the sun, sun's rays. 

A. Well, how do they s tore  tha t  sun rays? In ba t te r ies?  

$. No. 

A. Use it t o  charge bat te r ies?  

$. No, sir. I t ' s  not for  e l ec t r i c i ty .  I t 's  for  the heat. So they have 
a . .  . 

A. How m e  they g o h g  t o  s tore  tha t  heat? 

Q. Wel.1, they have a special  heat tank. 

A. A what? 

Q. A heat tank, a tank. In  which there is--I think i t ' s  some k h d  of 
s a l t  solution, which gets real hot, you see, and s t o ~ s  tha t  heat and 
then you run--like ref"rigration--you run water, or liquid, throu& t ha t  
and circulate  tha t  mound your house and t h a t ' s  the way . . . 
A. You have t o  have mdia tors ,  I p r e s m ,  t o  use t h i s ,  then. 
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Q. I . . . yes, I believe it i s  radiators.  

A.  Radiators w a s  a wonderfhl heat qyhow. I th,ou@t they were r e a l . 1 ~  
the best heat they ever developed. 

Q. Except they clank a l l  the t k .  (laughs) 

A. Well, I never minded tha t  whcre I used them. We never had them 
iri our horn but we had them in the depots a lot of  places. I never 
minded them claulking. They'd sound l ike  they was apounding iron, you 
how. 

Q. Was tha t  the way they heated the depot there h Honey Bend? 

A. No, it had a great old red pot-bellied stove and we'd flll t ha t  
all of coal, about two buckets full, and get it hot and it would heat 
tha t  old buildfng l i k e  nobody ' s business . They always give us plenty of 
coal. mat  w a s  one thing. I never dld have them turn down a requisition 
fo r  coal. 'hey got it there as I asked f o r  it and it was stored i n  the 
end of the depot, We didn't have t o  go outdoors t o  @t it. We'd go In 
and shovel a bucket fW1 and put her  i n  the stove. We had two stoves, 
one i n  the off ice and one out In the w d t i n g  roomtand we could keep the 
place plunk cozy. 

&. How large was the depot there at Honey Bcnd? 

A. How large? 

&. Yes, sir. 

A. Just  about a repl ica of what was here at Waggoner. You know how the 
Wagoner one looked. 

Q. Yes, sir. 

A. There's one here a t  Wagoner yet,  i s n ' t  there? 

Q. Yes, slr. It's been cut down a l i t t l e  b i t .  It's not as large as It 
was. 

A.  Well, t h i s  w a s  something l ike  tha t  s ize .  We could get a twelve-foot 
truck i n  the freight room, loaded . . . and I how . . . t ha t  we had them 
in there always when f lour  came i n .  Theretd be a quarter of a carload of 
flour cow at a t h e ,  usually, <md we d unload tha t  just rl&t off of the 
local .  They'd fom a l i n e  and throw it on, one t o  the other, and pass it 
on. You could unload tha t  much i n  pret ty  quick time, you know. And we 
always put it In the dry. 

Q. How many passengers used tha t  depot at Honey Bend pes day? 

A. Well, there was seldom over three o r  four at a t b  for  one train. 
I was thinklng t h i s  morning, a great many people favored IIE because I 
was out of the nei@borhood, you know. They tried t o  turn business t o  
m , m d  there was a couple of schoolteachers that wanted t o  go t o  Wash- 
h @ o n  and New York City on vacation t i m e .  One of them lived at Coffeen 
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and the other one l ived there a t  Honey Bend, and the one at Honey Bend 
says, "I want you t o  get both trlckets for  us . I 1  Well, I: didn't handle 
t i cke t s  l l k e  tha t ,  a t  a l l ,  bemuse they were - that  long, you know. So, 
I wrote the t i cke t  off lee a t  S t .  Louis, t o ld  them the route they wanted 
t o  go and what they wanted t o  see. So, I gave him a pret ty  complete 
descriptiori and I says, f1W3.1.1 you rrake coupons for  two t icke ts  t o  stmt 
from Honey Bend and back t o  Honey &nd?I1 And he sent t h e m  up, mde up 
by the head t icke t  agent i n  S t .  l;ouis, you b o w .  

So, when the women s ta r ted  on the t r i p ,  why, they got away over In  the 
East and the schoolteacher tha t  l ived at  Honey Bend sa id  there was a 
conductor picked up them t i cke t s .  He looked at them, says, %here i n  
the world did you got these t ickets?"  

END OF SIDE ONE 

A. She says I1Well, we got them from the agent at  the station there 
where 1 l i v e >  'well! he says, f f s o ~  people sure a re  lucky." They 
got a s ide t r f p  tha t  nobody e l se  was getting, see? (laws) He says, 
"Some people sure are lucky. I f  Well, 7: hadn't made them up. I couldn't 
have done it at tha t  time. I did get so I could a f t e r  I worked at 
Litchfield the two yearls. I mde s t e m h l p  t icke ts .  Clear acmss the 
ocean. R rimer of them. 

Q. Oh, the ral l road handled the s teamhip trlckets? 

A. Yes, we had s t e m h i p  t i cke t s .  They had t o  use our rmd as far as 
we could use it. To Kansas City i f  they were going by the Paclfic. If 
they were going by the Atlantic, we'd rwi them clear  over t o  Buffalo, 
New York, because the Wabash run in to  Buffalo. We wanted a l l  the mllage 
out of it we could get and that  was the way we'd t r y  t o  send them, A l l  
of them, I think, without one o r  two exceptions, a l l  tha t  7: ever sold 
went t o  the &st Cox3t. 

Some of those birds were coal miners, down at M t .  Olive, and Stamton, 
and they would take a not-i.on t o  go horn on a furloupb. They would not 
come and say a word about f t .  They had a t r ave l  agent tha t  cow and 
sold them or1 t h i s  t i cke t ,  t o ld  them exactly what It would cost and what 
they could do. He was a sp lendd  t icke t  agent. Now, I never did see 
the bIrd*but he had them posted u n t l l  they h e w  exactly what they wanted. 
He had it written out and they would plop tha t  down and, 'We want a t fcke t , "  
was a l l  they could say. 

Well, I s ta r ted  i n  t o  m e  nly first one of them [that]  called f o r  a 
steamship and I s t a l l ed  about the middle of the t icke t .  Well, the old 
agent had to ld  ITE i f  I ever s t a l l ed ,  why, just c a l l  him up and he says, 
'fltll t e l l  you what t o  do." So I him tha t  night.  He got up and 
put on h i s  clothes. He didn ' t  come down t o  the s tat ion.  He just got 
on the  phone and he told E what coupons t o  get, what t o  put on them, a d  
how t o  make up the t icke t  f'rom one end t o  the other. 

So, I sold it t o  the f'dlow. It mounted t o  a hmdred and ten  dollars.  
two h m d ~ d  and ten, I don't how. There was a ten  i n  it, anyhow. 

I never forgot because I shorted hlm i n  change on tha t  ten.  He never 
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touched tha t  money when I layed it back d m  on the desk. He stood 
there jus t  looking Hke t h l s  . . . 
&. Slmking up at the ceil ing. 

A. . . . and direct ly  he says, "Not enou&." I says, "Yes, I counted 
it t o  you. 'I "Not e n o m ,  he said.  So, I plcked the money up and 
counted it again and he was r ight ,  I was shorting him tha t  t en  dol lars .  
1 never forgot tha t .  I gave him another ten.  After tha t ,  I watched 
very pa~.ti.eularly because tha t  agent had to ld  them t o  a dim what t h e i r  
t i cke t s  was going t o  cost,  you how. 

Q. L e t ' s  see now, you went Lo Litchfield f'rornthe crossing. 

A. No. I went from the crossing back t o  Honey Bend, as a student, 
and then I worked--that was 1901 tha t  I worked the tower. I n  1902 I 
went back t o  the off ice and lerzmed the agency work, the bookwork tha t  
there was t o  do i n  the s ta t ion  and how t o  b i l l  cars and how to wrlte 
Invoices and a l l  of tha t ,  P had tha t  t o  learn yet.  I ' d  jus t  centesed 
on telegraphing, understand, before. So I spent, 1 expect, three months 
tha t  spring, from March up t o  about May, J, guess, 1 spent i n  the office 
u n t i l  I f e l t  sure tha t  1 mew what t o  do i n  a s tatfon.  

@IP day they stopped a f a s t  t m i n  and jerked rn on arid sald,  'fWelre 
taking you t o  where I;here7:< :-I, s ick agent. He had t o  be taken t o  the 
hospi tal  last nl&t."  Well, they took re up t o  Strong, and Strong's 
way up in the Chlcago d.str.i.cl;. And i n  tha t  black land, it was  In 
Pyatt County and t h a t ' s  about as good as Champaim County. It was one 
of the r ich  counties, you know. 

Well, they dumped me off there,  o f f  of tha t  fast t r a i n ,  at two o'clock 
i n  the af'ternoon,and tha t  was the place where I to ld  you the gent had 
taken the money with him and I had such a t h e  ackiecklng in .  15 
&. Yes, sir. 

A. Well, I checked 1.n there and I worked there a mnth  and then they 
changed rw from tha t  when the ap;ent caw back. They put rw out on the 
mad just  whertever an agent wanted o f f .  I was a r e l i e f  mn. I worked 
pract ical ly  a dozen s tat ions,  I expect, up and down the mad then as a 
r e l i e f  man. I put i n  the  b ig  end of' that  yca,r and then I hewd tha t  there 
w a s  a l i t t l e  s t a t ion  down the road namd O s m  was open fo r  an agent and 
I bid it in.  I had seniori ty  enough t o  bid it i n  and I went to tha t  
s t a t ion  arid worked the r e s t  of' 1902 I n  there.  

Well, brother Jean wa a l i t t l e  tyker but he got around a d  his ears  
were wide open, and he heard tha t  the agent at Honey Bend was aleaving 
tha t  s ta t ion  and ageing over on a s t a t ion  at S h m a y  , I l l i n o i s .  He got 
busy r imt off  and wrote me. He says, "You apply for  Honey Bend as fas t  
as you can." Because tha t  w s  q m i t i o n ,  t o  get back t o  the home station 

%ee addenda Item 90. 

Bert Aikman Memoir, Vol. III -- Archives, University of Illinois at Springfield



So, I called the wire chlef. I knew him. And I says, 'Whenever Honey 
k n d ' s  open, I ' m  ready fo r  i t .  You ~ r r m b e r . "  And he says, 'We'll 
check you out tomorrow. I '  I cam tha t  near d o s i n g  it, see? Bemuse 
he would have put it up .for bids but he J ust checked m In  right off . 

I worked -there fol: fTve or  six years and then, when I ' d  finished at 
Honey Bend--when the nhe-hour law went in to  effect--they closed Honey 
Bend. Took out the  t e l e p a p h  keys and just  shut it up, only a t lcke t  
office.  And the tralnrrbaster cam down t o  see re, the man I worked for ,  
and he says, "Now, you've got plenty of seniori ty .  You can take any- 
t h h g  you want on t h i s  division and I' 11 put you In it. " And I Says, 
'Well, I ' d  l i k e  t o  take the second t r i c k  a t  Litchfield,  then." I'd go 
t o  work at four o'clock and work u n t i l  one o'clock i n  the morning, 
because it was nine hours now, see? [That] had taken ef fec t .  

So, we mved t o  Litchfield and. we l ived there u n t i l  I qul t .  Lrs 1909, 
in October, why--1 had t o  f lnlsh rqy ten years on the railroad--I qui t  
and cam t o  t h i s  farm. Not--yes, came t o  thls fm. 

Now, d w b g  the time tha t  1 w a s  at Honey Bend it was developing in to  a 
m i l k  shipping point. I: was very foolish t o  have ever l e f t  it because 
old nan Pevely, in St. Louis, had seen there was a l o t  of milk around 
Honey Bend. Now, thc Litchficld Crearmy should have the credi t  for  
all. t h i s  because they developed tha t  milk, you know, developed the 
dair ies ,  but a l o t  of the m n  up them by rw shlpped their milk t o  
Pevely a t  S t .  Louis because they could get a l i t t l e  mre fop it than 
they could at Litchfie1.d. 

It went on t icke ts ,  just  l i k e  a person, and I got 10 percent out of 
those t icke ts .  Well, it wasn't long u n t l l  that r r d l l r  was paying me more 
than salary.  When I had t o  check out, I was get t ing more out of the 
milk than I was  out of rqy salary.  And then I: had t o  give tha t  up and 
go down t o  Litchfield and start on a s tmlgh t  salary again. 

In the meaultlrre, Pevely h.ad bui l t  a milk house, put i n  refYigwatf on, 
put on a landing platf'orm t o  load cam, and he shipped a trenxsndous ,mmt 
of milk out of Honey Bend then. And it made the country because people 
went In to  dairying. They were poor f m r s ,  poor land, but they could 
milk cows. And it just  mde tha t  country, t ha t ' s  a l l  there was t o  it, 
tha t  milk buslness did. 

Q. How dld thiis d l k  shipment work? 

A. Well, they put it i n  f ive  and ten-gallon cans and the can had t h e i r  
n m  soldcred on it, r i @ t  around the col lar .  You'd make out a l i t t l e  
waybill of how many cans you shipped out each day and sent [that], with 
the b a w g e  man t o  @ on down t o  S t .  b u i s .  When he stopped a t  S t .  Louis 
and star.ted t o  unload, well, "Here's the blll from Honey Bend. There's 
so many cans from there," and they checked them out. The fammrs, of 
come, dldnl t get paid but once a month. The end of the month they got 
paid fo r  the whole m u n t  that  they'd shi-pped during tha t  t h ~ .  

Q,. L t  was the f m r ' s  nam tha t  was on the can? 

A.  Yes. But it w a s  from Honey Bend, credited t o  the Honey Bend stat ion,  
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you how, and af'ter Pevely ppt it a11 se t  up he had a wor~derf'ul 
shipping point there.  And the agent tha t  corn In  there,  took tha t  
job, was an agent on the division tha t  w a s  older than I. When they 
put the wires back i n ,  well, I t r i e d  t o  b id  it back, but there was 
a fellow older than m and I couldn't get it. So, I just  stayed at 
i3tchlYel.d u n t i l  I firdshed. 

Q. What klnd of cows were they ml lkhg In those days there? 

A.  Well, they were rnixed breeds, lasgely offsprings of Holsteins 
and Guernseys, some Jerseys. 

Some fellows shipped just  straimt cream. The cream scpamtor was 
a new thing i n  the country then, and they could buy a sepwator  and 
skim t h e i r  own milk and have the milk for  hog feed. Many fellows did 
tha t  and Jus t  shipped the c ~ m .  They got pretty near as much out of 
the cream as they would out of the whole milk because they didn't  care 
so much f o r  tha t  milk down there.  A l o t  of lit went i n  the sewer. Then 
they learned t o  m e  cottage cheese arid they used tha t  s k l m d  milk, 
you !mow, and they, I think they made It .into cottage cheese and then 
shi.pped it t o  r e a l  cheese factor ies  where It was mde in to  r e a l  cheese. 
So, Pevely didn't have to waste v e r y  much of it. 

Q. W s  therc  a l o t  of shipping of hogs out of there also? 

A. No, they seldom had a load of h o p  there.  I expect I loaded out- 
oh, I was there fo r  seven years and I doubt i f  I ever moved over two 
carload of h o g .  lke  company got t i r e d  of keeping up the stock pens 
and they f h a l l y  wrote me that  they were going to tear them out and I 
wasri' t t o  accept ho@ ;mymore for  shipmnt there.  They had t o  go t o  
Ra,yn~nd o r  Lltchficld.  So, they to re  the old stock pens down. 16 

Q. How would they get the h o e  t o  Rqymnd or  Litchfield i n  those days? 

A. Haul them i n  a wagon. And then they Id dump them out i n  a pen and 
get the whole carload. in a big pen. Then they run them up a chute in to  
the car ,  you know. And those cass had t o  mve fd i r ly  good, too, because 
i n  warm weather hogs would die while In t r a n s i t  i f  you didn't  watch. 
They dldn ' t l i k e  taking in dcad h o g .  

Beef the  s a r ~  w a y .  They shipped a l l  t h e i r  beef out of Raym~nd and Lltch- 
f i e ld .  I never did handle a carload of beef. That f i r s t  s t a t ion  I was 
a t e l l h g  you ahout--Strong--where the agent had taken the money wZth h h ,  
therc was a c a t t l e  feeder slxteen miles out from town tha t  was a big 
enough v o l m  feeder tha t  the rai l road built him a switch out the sixteen 
milcs t o  h i s  place. He would load h i s  c a t t l e  out there and then they'd 
brilne; thcm i n  t o  thc agent t o  b i l l  and hold the train u n t i l  you b i l l ed  thcm. 

Well, I hadn't been there over three weeks u n t i l  he took a notion t o  ship 
out and he l o a d ~ d  sixteen cars of s teers  and sent them a l l  up there on IE 
at one shot, and I never had b i l l ed  out a c,mload of steers. Well, I h e w  
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how t o  do it. I ~ b b e d  the waybills and b i l l ed  them but I also had 
t o  mike an invoice of the whole o u t f i t  and put every car rider on 
tha t  invoice. He couldn't; unload mt l l  tha t  got t o  Chicago, you bow. 
So, I never worked harder i n  qy l i f e  than I did that  hour o r  hour and 
a half  tha t  they held that  tmln. 

The t r a inmn were good. They helped IE a l l  they could. They got a l l  
the nwrJ3ers and broumt them t o  me and took the seaUulg i ron and went 
out and sealed the c- fbr ITE. So, I jus t  sat at the desk and wrote 
as f a s t  as I could u n t i l  1 p p t  a l l  of those e m s  b i l l ed  and tha t  I.nvoice 
full  and then checked it .  By tha t  tiw, the schoolteacher and I were 
good friends and he was alooking over my shoulder. He could see tha t  
I kept rny nwrbevs ri&t and so on. He was a wonderful help, that young 
fellow was, but I don't even remerrber h i s  m. 

Q. How m n y  passengers would go rin and out of Wtchfield on a train 
when It stopped there? 

A.  Well, l o t s  of times we would have . . . oh, t h i r t y  or  fo r ty .  And 
then we ran what they called a speclal  t icke t  sa le  on Saturday. We 
sold a round t r i p  t icke t  t o  S t .  buis f o r  a dollar, good a l l  day Sat- 
w?dw and Sunday untl.1 seven o 'clock i n  the evenhg. But they had t o  
be back in to  Litchfield by rrd&fi&t.  They m u s t  mike it back by mldni@t 
o r  t h e i r  t i cke t  was void. Well, those tims, weld sell a hmcked o r  a 
hundred and f i f t y  t i cke t s ,  you know. Saturday we'd s e l l  a mss of them, 
People used tha t ,  they like t ha t .  They could go down there and shop on 
Sa tu rdq  and then come back Sunday evening, you know. Maybe go t o  the 
pmk o r  s o m t h h g  on Sunday. 

So, there w a s  quite a l o t  of t r a f f i c  out of Litchfield at tha t  t l r ~  
and yet there was four ra l lmods  out of there tha t  handled passengers. 
There was the New York Central and the I l l inois  Central and . . . the 
& [CB&Q--Chicago, Burlhgton and Quhcy] . , . and l e t  's see, am I . . . 
Q. And the Wabash, i t s e l f .  

A. And the Wabash, and the & the I l l l n o i s  Centml, and the New York 
Central. Four, four trains. 17  

Q. What was the Q? CB&Q? 

A. It was the CB&Q. It went t o  Minneapolis and it hauled coal, largely,  
out of the mlnes down there.  It was largely a coal &rag through Utchf i e ld  
but they had t o  keep an agent there and telegmph operators. They had two 
E n  I n  t h e i r  s ta t ion.  They shut up the t h i r d  t r k k .  They just used two 
nen. Tneyld shut up mrn orie o'clock on; mtil seven there wasn't any 
operator i n  there,  but the Wabash and the Illllnois Central wwe open the 
whole time. 

1'11 never forget one experience tha t  w a s  ludicrous t o  m, It don't have 
,mything t o  do with history,  you may w a n t  t o  shut It of f .  

17see addenda item 92.  
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g. Oh, no. 

A. m e r e  was an agent tha t  w a s  there a t  Litchfield,  was a l i t t l e  
Frenchmn, and he was a well-educated chap. A perfect gentleman, nice 
a m as you ever saw, but he could out-cuss a sa i lo r .  I was a Christian 
at tha t  t l m  and he ' d choke lo t s  of cussing off becausc of m . He had 
a friend In Decatur who w a s  a r r d l l w r i g h t  i n  one of the b ig  mills up there.  
There w a s  a f lour  m i l l ,  o r  I don't . . . Yes, it w a s  a f l o w  m i l l  i n  
Decatur. And t h i s  old f e l . 10~  who was the millwright--well, he was the 
boss of a l l  the works i n  the mlll ,  you know, the millwri@t was i n  chasge- 
he had a widow s i s t e r  that  cam t o  keep house fo r  him a f t e r  his wife dled 
and she had quite a l i t t l e  b i t  of money. %e said,  "I 'd l%e t o  go down 
and have Charlie Camau show w how t o  buy some land down there ."  C m a u  
was the agent I ' m  talking about. 

So, they came down one afternoon on the t r a i n ,  and--they really came on 
the Cannonball, at noon. When I cam t o  work, they had been visiting 
with the agent mtPl I got t o  work, and he says, "Bert, I w a n t  you t o  
look these people over pret ty  carerully.  I'm going t o  s e l l  them t i cke t s  
back t o  Decatur, but they don't w a n t  t o  carny them. Tney want them l e f t  
here in the t icke t  cage and you're t o  give them t o  them when they come 
i n  and ask for  them. Now," he says, "look at them and see If you think 
you ' l l  how them." Well, the old man had chin whiskers and the old lady 
was a nice appearing old I.ady. I got t h e l s  faces fixed and I says, 'Well, 
I thlnk 1'11 mow you a l l  r i @ t  when you cme in,  so just  ,p ahead." 

So, they got a mn t o  take themwhere the agent sent them-1 don't remrrber, 
out where there was farrrs tha t  could be bought--and she went out t o  1001-2 
over the famns and she took him along, f o r  his business acwnen, you how. 
Well., they came back in to  town, oh, I guess . . . six o'clock, jus t  about 
supperthe,  and she cam in to  the off ice and she says, ''I'm ready t o  go 
horn, but," she says, Yhe ins is ted  on v i s i t i ng  with sombody he knows 
here i n  town besides Charlie Cmau. " And she says, "You keep hls t j  cket , 
but I ' ll  take mlne and 1 'm going on horn. " So, I gave her her t i cke t  and 
she got on the t r a i n  about SIX otclock and sa i led  out f o r  Decatur, Well, 
the old mm never showed up. She said,  "He'll be Fn pret ty  soon." He 
never showed up, never showed up. 

Finally,  there was a plrrg! Porn one of the bawdy houses close there tha t  
1 !mew, he come awalking i n  pret ty  near carrying the old man. He was 
drunk as a lord! And he says, "He promilsed me a dol la r  and a half If 
I t  d bring him down here t o  t h i s  s ta t ion ,  " and he says, "I want it. I t  

And the  old rrnn says, "Well, you take it out of nly hide i f  you think 
you're b ig  eno@," and he wouldn't pay him a cent. ( laums)  He says, 
"You got as many drinks as I did. You got as much l iquor a s  I did. 
He says, "That I s  all you're going to get , I t  and he sat down i n  the seat 
and went t o  sleep, 

Well, I dld hope he Id sleep u n t i l  the t r a l n  come but he didn't. He woke 
up pret ty  soon sicker than a horse, fbr he had too much whiskey. Then, 
he went out back and throwed up and throwed up ,and thmwed up, then he 
cam back i n .  He f e l t  a l i t t l e  be t t e r ,  so he started--he was an Irishmn- 
arid he s t m e d  s h a g  "&in ~ 7 0  bra@. " You know the old song, And he Id 
s lng that  and he'd say, "Now, -anybody tha t  don't l l k e  tha t  can go t o  hell! 
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(laug3s) And then h e r d  s ing it riat over and the sm was repeated, 
you bow. 

Well, I had a b ig  husky bap-ge man and I says, "Get him on this t r a in ,  
and don't you l e t  him have tha t  t lcke t . "  I says, "You give it t o  the 
conductor. So, I gave him the t i cke t .  Well, he could no more get 
him on the trarin than nothing. There was three tralns m; couldn't 
get him on them. No, he was having too good a t h .  So, f ina l ly  it 
came t im tha t  I was going t o  have t o  go horn, I f e l t  he w a s  s ~ r t  of 
i n  rqy charge, you know, and I sa id  t o  the baggage m, "Now, he's  golr47; 
on t h i s  tmin i f  you and I have t o  put him on, because I ' m  leaving at  
one o '  clock. I t  So, he p p t  him by the arm and he says, "This i s  your 
t r a i n  and it I s  your last chance. I t  The old man w a s  sober enough. by tha t  
time. IIe got on and l e r t .  

Well, the next day I come down t o  work and the agent w a  jus t  popping 
mad and he says, 'mat kind of a tiw did you h a v ~  with that  so-and-so?" 
Well, I gave him a resume of what had taken place and he says, ''Read 
t h i s  l e t t e r . "  I picked up the l e t t e r  and read it .  It was f'rorn h is  
s i s t e r .  He went home and to ld  her tha t  Chzlile took him out and got him 
drunk and didn't l e t  him come u n t i l  tha t  last train; tha t  Charlie Carnau 
had done tha t .  And Charlie Cmiau was so m d ,  he w a s  (laughs) ready 
t o  pop o f f .  And she says at the bottom, "The worst of it is, he 'S l o s t  
h i s  fa l se  teeth."  (laughter) 

Well, I says, 'Well, I: know where his fa lse  teeth are. The agent says, 
"You do?" I: says, "Yeah, just go out back there and look i n  tha t  puke, 
He puked them out . I 1  And he went out there and fished them out with a 
s t i ck  and brought them in,  washed them up, put them fn a sack t o  send 
t o  h h .  But he was - so mad, he wrote a l e t t e r  tha t  just  took the  h a i r  
off  of tha t  s i s t e r .  He to ld  her tha t  he didn't drink, wasn't In the 
habit  of drinking, tha t  my operator had nevpr seen him take a drink, and 
I hadn't. He was a sober a mm as I w a s ,  and I hated the s t u f f .  Oh, 
but he w a s  m d .  But i f  1 hadntt; known about the old mn puking out there,  
he would haw rea l ly  l o s t  h i s  teeth.  

&. Did they buy land? 

A. I don't think so. I don't think she bought q y  land. She was afraid 
t o  bring him down there mother time. But tha t  w a s  funny t o  think about, 
a f t e r  it w a s  all over. It was f'umy how he sa t  there and fo r  two hours 
sang tha t  song and repeated that  at the end of it every tire: "Anybody 
don I t  l i k e  it, they can g. " 

Oh, 1 did hate  dmmks. They had l o t s  of them there and I hated t o  have 
them around and hated--why, 1 c o ~  near t o  get t ing rqy head knocked ofr. 
One Sunday evening I w a s  s l t t i n g  there at the t m l n  arder desk, copying 
a train x d e r ,  and a great b ig  Irishman wal,ked UQ behlnd me and took hold 
of my chair and shook it cnou@ t o  mike IW recognize him. I said,  "Just 
a minute, please. I t  I had t o  f in ish  tha t  order. So, J finished the order 
and then I t m e d  mound and I says, 'What ' 5  the trouble?" He says, "I put 
a penny i n  t h a t s l o t  machine out there and it didnt t give me a thing, " and 
he says, " I ' m  going t o  t e a r  lt of f  the wall! I says, "No, don't t e a r  if 
off the w a l l .  1'11 give you back your penny." I went t o  the cash drawer 
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and got the penny and @ve It t o  him. But he was ready t o  h i t  m, 
now. He 'd of s m h e d  m. 

Q. Dld you have much trouble that  way wlth the passengers, o r  the 
people i n  the . . . 
A .  Never dTd . . . The other r e a l  experience I had was a man with 
a freight  shipment, while I was at Honey Bend. There was a man moved 
from up close t o  Decatur down t o  Barnett and he shipped h i s  household 
goods, l e s s  than a c z l o a d ,  a half carload, and every piece had t o  be 
itemized on the  waybill, you how. The weight, and so on, of all of 
it and then the m t e  fixed. Wcll, he had prepaid the f'relght on t h i s  
household goods, and he clidntt; know--and a p a t  m y  people dldnl t  
know-that the receiving agent w a s  responsible for the correct mney 
on the shipmnt.  You had t o  watch all. shipments and figure the rate, 
because sombom would get carelcss and just put on a r a t e  tha t  they'd 
thlnk of and it wouldn't be right. You looked a t  the r a t e  sheet, put 
on the proper ra te ,  <and then figured it. 

Wcll, there was $4.00 short on h i s  b i l l  and I sent word out.  He was 
already unloading It. The n l @ t m  had seen It was prepald and hetd  
allowed him t o  break the seal. and w a s  loading wagons. I sent word 
out fo r  him t o  come I n  and I to ld  h h ,  showed him the difference In  
the weight and r a t e  and so on, and tha t  mam turned as  white as a sheet. 
I never saw a man get so md i r i  rqy l i f e .  He got m d  enough t o  be 
pret ty  near crazy. IIe t h o u a t  I w a s  apicking up $4.00, see? Well, 
I seen how m d  he d got and I says, "Now, I am responsible for IAIs 
freight  here. I says, "The agent tha t  b i l l ed  you out wasn't* He 
could b i l l  it out at anything he wanted to ,  and send It in, and f had 
t o  col lect  the balance t h a t ' s  due. There's so much due on every ship- 
rent and it has t o  be paid, and i t ' s  u$ t o  IE t o  col lect  it." 

And I says, "Cant t your daughter f i g u ~ ? ~ ~  She was a grown woman. She 
says, "Surc, I can flpyre." She cam over there and I says, "You take 
t h i s  pencil., now. Put down the weimt tha t  ' s on tha t  waybill. " %c 
put it down, it had been weighed over elevator scales;  the weight was 
correct.  And I sqys, "Put dc~wn tha t  wei@t." She put it down. I says, 
"Now, put down t h i s  r a t e  wider it and multiply it and see what the rate-- 
see what he should have paid." Arid she did it and she turned around and 
said,  "Why, Dad, he ' s  correct." Sald, "He's not twyln[< t o  gyp you, That's 
just  exactly what you should have paid up there . I 1  The old lran begin t o  
get a l i t t l e  color i n  h i s  face then, and he pulled out the $4.00 and glve 
It t o  m. (lau@s) But boy, he w a s  the maddest m I ever saw i n  my Ufe. 
Jus t  crazy md,  you know. He t h o u e t  I was knocking down $4.00. Well, 1 
didn't  h o c k  down, I just  t r i e d  t o  col lect  the f'refght and send it in. 

Q. Barnett w a s  on the CB&Q railway . . . 
A. Yes, but you see it was a direct  line *om &&UP down here and 
hauling i t a c r o s s  country avoidcd a t ransfer  at Litchfield which would 
have cost h h  as much o r  mare than the f'reight down t o  Honey Bend. So, 
he U d n t t  want t o  t ransfer  it, he had h i s  wagons there t o  take it out and 
he unloaded it. Took it horn. Well, tha t  w a s  the worst deal I had. 
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1 had plenty of set-tos with t r a l m n .  I woul&nlt allow them t o  cuss 
and blackguard in the depot. I Jus t  stood pat on it. They couldn't 
come i n  there cussing around-and worm i n  there waiting fo r  a t r a in ,  
you how--and I bawled out fellows good and hard tha t  w a s  pret ty  near 
three t l r r ~ s  as bfg as m.  But I had the l a w  on w side and they a l l  
knew it. 'key all knew tha t  I had the l a w  and they didn't m e  hit m. 

I remerrber one t lme when I was at Litchfield,  the agent had a set-to 
with a drunk. A drunk core i n  there and he was going t o  do so-and-so 
just  as he pleased, and the agent stood right ~rp t o  him. AS 7: t e l l  
you, he just  cane t o  rry shoulder; he was a l i t t l e  fellow, but p l t t y ,  
oh, he was m i t t y .  He stood r i @ t  up t o  t h a t  b ig  old boy and t o l d  him 
off and he says, l''T!ha"c's the way it Is and tha t  's the  way it ' s g o h g  
t o  go! " And the old drwk was ready t o  f i m t  but he changzd his mlnd 
when tha t  l l t t l e  rooster stood r l @ t  up t o  him, because there w a s  me 
t o  Jwrrp In, you know, s i t t i n g  i n  the  chalr.  Besldes tha t ,  the agent 's  
son-in-law was astandeng there beside nly desk, just  aloafing with us 
that  afternoon. He was as b ig  as t h i s  fellow and he was ready t o  dip 
h. SO, the fellow thought thcre was about three of us he'd be t t e r  
leave alone. So, he eased down and got out and waited and done what 
he was told.  

Drmks were a c m e l  Always. Always. Then, when I was at Honey Bend, 
I had a peculiar experience there.  We had a section foreman who l ived 
there.  He was the nicest  kind of a fellow. Never heard him swear orb 
use bad language of any kind and he got along fine wlth h i s  mn. He 
worked f lve  or  s i x  men and he had no trouble wlth them at a l l .  He was 
a dlplomt and he was a man tha t  I liked. Ilis n m  was Sam Evans and 
he had a wife and three l i t t l e  girls and the l.llttle gfr ls  were In school. 

Well, I didn't  know u n t i l  he'd been there three mnths  that he was a 
drinker, but at the end of about every three months, he went on a hi&- 
lonesome. He  would buy a gallon of whlskey, bring it home wlth h b ,  
and go t o  the carhouse and lay down beside of tha t  and drink tha t  en t i r e  
p l l o n  before held qui t .  Drink the  gallon1 He wouldn't eat  q t h i n g ,  
wouldn't appear at al l ,  wouldn't bother anybcdy. Jus t  layed there and 
drank that whiskey, but he would drink the gallon before he qui t .  

Well, he needed a cow for  those l i t t l e  girls. He needed m i l k  and he 
c o u l h l t  rea l ly  afford--those days a section foreman got a dol la r  and 
ten cents a day f o r  twelve hours work and he couldn't anymrre than 
support h i s  family, you how, and he says, "I wonder If I couldn't keep 
a cow?" And I says, "I don It; see why you can't ,  there where you l ive .  
You can f i x  you a lean-to t o  put her i n  and use her at leas t  through 
grass season." I says, "You can t i e  her out on t h i s  schoolywd." There 
was a b lg  s c h o o l y ~ d  there.  And I says, "You can t i e  her out on that  and 
that  '11 be all the feed s h e ' l l  need. It w i l l  take care of your cow." 
I was a school director,  1 had a right t o  l e t  him take it. 

So, he went t o  see t h i s  milkman t h a t  w a s  ahaulinp; the most mllk t o  us 
and asked hlm i f  he would s e l l  him a cow. And he says, "Yes, I w i l l .  " 

He says, "Do you want t o  come out and look at  her?" Well, on Sunday 
he &t; i n  the wagon wlth the old m i l k m n  and went out and b o a t  the 
cow and the two of them b r o u a t  her  i n  and put her i n  [a] place there 
at his place. Well, he had her jus t  a week when t h i s  drunken time come 
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and he got a gallon of whiskey and come hone wlth it ,  you know, and 
there the worn  had the cow t o  milk and he never went horn. 

There was one thing about him tha t  I always gave him credi t  for .  
When he b o m t  tha t  gallon of whiskey, he always bou&t a roast at 
the butcher shop tha t  cost =; much as tha t  gallon, and he sent tha t  
by the hands up t o  h i s  f a d l y .  Well, he had sent the  roast up t o  her 
and she come down and said, l'Ls Sam drunk?" I said, "Yes, he Is. He's 
alaylng down there i n  tha t  house. She wouldnlt gc nem him. She jus t  
lef't him alone. 

Well, he got about half  sober, got up and was  awandering around. There 
was a b a l l  pm or somthing there tha t  brought some extra people i n  
and there was a fellow seen h i s  cow out there and he wanted t o  bow who 
owned tha t  cow. Well, they told him and he hunted up Sam and asked him 
If held s e l l  her. Well, no, he wasn't anxious t o  s e l l  her.  He said he'd 
jus t  bought her a sho& time before. But he was justdmnk e n o m  tha t  
he f e l t  he was pret ty  big and f ina l ly  he priced her t o  h h  at f i f t y  do l lws .  
Well, the cow was worth tha t  much, t h a t ' s  what he w a s  apaylng for  her.  
And the fellow bought her  and j u s t g i v e  hlm his note and he l e t  him take 
that  cow. 

Well, the next morning I come t o  work and they t o ld  m as soon as I 
come i n  tha t  Sam had sold h i s  cow the day b e f o ~ .  Sombody had got 
her and got away wlth hcr. And the mi lkman cane i n  and says, "I hear 
Sam sold that  cow," rmd I says, "Yes, that  q s  what they t e l l  me and 
he's got a not f o r  f i f t y  dol1,uls and he owes you f l f t y  so he I s  slot any 
ahead. He  didn't  rrake a penny. " And he says, 'Well, you t e l l  him tha t  
I want the f i f t y  dollass here tommow m d g ,  I '  I says, "No, f lm not 
agohg  t o  t e l l  hh. " I said,  "He s a good friend and you're a good 
f'riend." I says, "You write him a l e t t e r  and hand it t o  me and I'll 
gfve it t o  h h  when he comes in ."  So, he sat down and wrote the l e t t e r ,  
whatever he wanted sa id  t o  him. 

When Sam carre i n  tha t  nF@t I handed hlm the l e t t e r .  He was able t o  
work tha t  day. He c a m  in and I: handed him the l e t t e r  and he sat down 
and read it. He sat there a long time, l i ke  t h i s  . He says, "Bert, would 
you keep a poor devi l  out of the pen?" I says, "Why, yes. I 'd l i ke  t o .  " 

And he says, "You how about; re se l l ing  that  cow. I t  I says, "Yes, J know 
about it and I know she wasn't your cow, you didn't own her mt i l  she was 
paid for .  " And he says, "That I s  r imt .  I t  b d  he says, "Crawford Is Ifable 
t o  send re t o  the pen. W i l l  you put up the fifty dollam? He's demanding 
it today. I' And I says, "Yep, 1'11 do it an8 you give m your note. " And 
he says, "You can take :it out of rqy paycheck, each month so much, u n t i l  
you get It all. l 7  The paychecks were sent t o  us, you how,  the agent. 
He says, "You can do tha t  u n t i l  t ha t  I s  paid for .  I' 

Well, I paid the old boy o f f .  IIc called him rimt up and asked hlm i f  
he Id take a check Porn Bert Ailanan Yor f i f t y  and he says, "Yes, sir! I' 

And he cam i n  and I gave him the check and he wrote him a receipt .  He 
was out on the road, of course. He d ldn t t  even see him. I gave him the  
check. Well, t ha t  was a pret ty  good arrangemnt. I t h o m t  I was plunk 
safe.  Even i f  he pt drunk, 3: s t i l l  had h i s  paychecks tha t  I could hold 
on to ,  but l o  and behold, tha t  I s  when they changed IE outof t ha t  s ta t ion .  
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They closed tha t  s ta t ion  ri&t then and I went t o  Litcbfleld a d  a11 I 
had was tha t  fellow's note. 

And he dodged m. He never l e t  me see him. I t r i e d  all season t o  
get a chance t o  t a l k  t o  hlm. He'd always dodge m. And I thought, 
"Well, tha t  was pret ty  man of him because we'd been such p o d  friends . " 
So, I sat down and wrote him a l e t t e r  and to ld  him tha t  I did tha t  t o  
keep hSm f r o m  at  leas t  havlng an awful l a w  suit. And I said, "You won't 
l e t  me see you, so t h i s  i s  the only way 1 can approacp you. I ' d  l l k e  
fo r  you t o  come i n  and see r r e  and l e t ' s  talk It over. So, he gt drunk. 
When he mt tha t  l e t t e r ,  he went on a drunk. And he came in to  the  
s ta t ion  drunk and he'd cashed h i s  check and he had the f i f t y  in cash 
and he plunked her down t o  m.  Gave 1.t t o  me, the whole thing, and he 
says, "NOW, we ' r e  square aren ' t  we, Bert?" I says, "Yes sir, we w e  and 
wetrc s t i l l  frSends." And he says, 'Well, thij~k's the way I want it t o  
be." I never saw him afterwards. Never did. 

ElE OF TAPE 

&.IY Could we think t h i s  afternoon about when you first cam up here 
t o  farm In the fal l  of 1909? 

A. Yes, I moved here i n  1909, in October, but I didn't do any farming 
mt i l  next spring of course. I bmke horses because I bought a bunch 
of young horses and I put In  the winter get t ing them ready fo r  sprlng 
work. 

8 ,  How did you go about breaking them? 

A. Well, you've got t o  have a gentle old horse t ha t  doesn't get excited 
at anything. I-Ie ' 11 keep them f m m  r u d n g  away or  throwing themselves. 
You h a w ,  a young horse i s  apt t o  try t o  paw up over the  neck yoke; or ,  
if' you have them t o  a wagon, you have a l o t  of things you have t o  watch 
for .  Well, we had a r e a l  good horse and I broke three tha t  winter. Then, 
when springt~ cam, why, I used a three-home pl-ow tha t  my brother-in- 
law had. We were partners the filrst year. He w a s  on the place when I 
e m .  So, we were partners and I used h i s  plow the Mrs t  year. Well, 
then he decided tha t  he wanted t o  get married md move i n  down below and 
he did, and that  l e f t  me the whole fm then. 

I had t o  get more horsepower on and I had t o  have a bigger plow. I: had 
t o  have--see, there w a s  a hundred and twenty acres at that  tZ;Zme and I 
got a g m ~ l o w .  I had r m  a ,gangplow, knew how, a l l  about them. So, I 
got a gangglow and brou@t it up. 

The farm was newly t i l e d .  It had just been f a d  t ha t  one yeax out of 
new t f l i n g  and that--you can't  imagLne what that does t o  a piece of land 

%ee addenda item 9 3. 

19~efore reviewing t h i s  portion of the transcript , Mr. Ailanan provided 
in formt ion  on several. new subjects.  See addenda item 94. 
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tha t  has laid a l l  those years without benefit of t i l e .  It just changes 
It, pret ty  near, t o  new gmund. 

Q. I n  what respect? You nlem . . . 
A. Well, it aerates it fo r  one thing and it drains it properly f o r  
another t h h g .  You can work it sooner and you can work It mre thorough 
and, with horses-that was a bl.g thing in farmln~;, was t o  get your prowld 
worked r imt.  I to ld  you tha t  I studied a l l  the fanrers tha t  I worked 
with and I learned tha t  practically a l l  of them tha t  had the best crops 
used a drag behind the plow t o  leve l  It a l l ,  fill. up a l l  the holes, pack 
the ground, pack the plow-deck, you h o w ,  and break it q ready f o r  a 
disc.  Then the  disc went In there,  went the s m  depth a l l  over, and 
t h a t ' s  another place the t i l e  was a benefit  because the land was a l l  
emptied of water down t o  the level  of the t i l e ,  you know, 

Tile  was put In about, oh, thir ty-s ix inches I guess, most of It; three 
fee t .  It woul draw sixl;cen f'eet on cach s:l.de of 3.t. It would b r h q  it . . . 
flow in to  Well, then i f  you had another one over there sixtceri fee t  
beyond tha t ,  why, your land was a l l  aerated. Every rain went throw& 
the t l l e ,  you know, and took down--I have a theory i n  IQI head tha t  r a i n  
water carr ies  a certain amount of nitrogen. That's just  rrp idea. I 
don't know of anything t o  prove It but I think tha t  rainwater I s  very 
beneficial .  And yet,  when I went t o  the West and watched them irrigate, 
they pret ty  near took tha t  a l l  out o f  ms because they aemted t h e i r  
water with sprln2clers. You've seen them, I guess, sprinkled f ie lds .  
It looks l i k e  rain. They had them on wheels and they could move them 
forward. They could start i n  a t  one end of a f i e l d  and move c lear  down, 
the whole day, you know. Soak the whole f i e l d  In one day and It was 
a l l  aerated. They would t e l l  you, f ina l ly ,  t ha t  they t h o a t  the aeration 
helped, those be t t e r  rren i n  the West. 

So, a l l  of those things were i n  favor t o  start on. It was newly t i l e d  
land and then 1 had old machltneq, of course, t o  start with. 

Q. What other kinds of mchinery did. you have, besides the @ngplow? 

A. Well, I bought the @r@plow and a brand new corn planter.  Corn planter  
then, with a check-wire, cost thlrty-two dollam. Now, a corn planter 
costs nine hundred, you know; depends on how many rows they Is. I had a 
harrow, a wooden harrow tha t  my- father-in-law had used. I added t o  it. I 
added more t o  it t o  rrake It a l i t t l e  b l t  bigger. It was only a six-foot 
Wmow and I wanted an eight.  So, I added two pieces on each side, o r  one 
piece on each side. 

&. What do you man by a wooden harrow? Were the teeth wooden, also? 

A.  No, the tee th  were s t e e l .  They were driven in . . . You bored a 
hole through t h l s  two-by-four a l i t t l e  shy of the s h e  of the hamow tooth. 

20Mr. A i l a r a n  l a t e r  explained t h l s  figure should be four rods. Ti le  
was layed e l a t  rods apart .  See addenda item 95 for  verbatim t e x t .  
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Then you drove tha t  h m o w  tooth i n  there and it was as tl.@t as 
t igh t ,  you know, and every shower tha t  come on would t ighten it up. 
And those h,zrrows you pulled catty-corner so as t o  keep the tee th  
about tha t  close apart  :in the work of the f i e ld .  So . . . But the 
s t e e l  harrows be@ coming l r i  and, as I to ld  you, they were Such Sharp 
tee th  and so heavy and a l l  tha t  it scared rn t o  death t o  try t o  harrow 
corn with it. 

Then, the next t h h g  tha t  I had t o  do was get a binder. And I had a 
wheat crop that  I was sue would pay for  the  binder. A binder cost 
$140 and I also needed a mwer whlch cost,  i f  I remmber r ight ,  $65. 
I bought the binder and the mower fmm an Implenent man i n  Raymnd and 
he says, "This fall 1'11 s e l l  you a wagon." 1 was able t o  pay h i m  of f  
on those two thin@;; with the wheat crop, and tha t  J:n11., why, I went down 
and p p t  a new wagon. 1 b r o w t  it home, loaded with corn and took 
it back over t o  Raymond, and that  load of corn paid for thc wagon. 
The wagon cost $80 and I had xi elghty-bushel load of corn on it. I 
put a l l  it would hold; the corn was a dol lar  a bushel at tha t  time of 
year. It was In the  f a l l ,  you know, and held over. 

So, that  was the beghning  of my f;tmrdng and I added t o  things as 1 
f e l t  able t o .  I had two pairs  of cultivators tha t  I bought from my 
father-in-law. One w a s  a r ide r  and one was a walker. I usually threw 
the sea t  up and walked because you could do so  much be t t e r  job, especially 
the f l . r s t  thz over. You could uncover corn with your foot as you passed 
along. You could. do more work wlth it by being on the ground. 

Well, then I had t o  h i r e  help, you know, t o  use tha t  other cul t ivator .  
So, 1 wanted t o  get away from that  and T went and bought a two-row 
cul t ivator ,  pulled by horses. And I used it the r e s t  of n7y farming 
experienceJ a two-row. I had t o  r ide  tha t ,  because you had t o  see w 
you was domg a l l  the time on tha t .  That took two rows at a through, 9Tt 
you know; four rows t o  a round, and It cud good work. I used that--oh, 
I don 't; how how many years, probably ten o r  twelve, and then sold it at 
a sa l e  when I sold q y  farming tools .  

I never owned a hayrake of rqy own. There was three o r  four of us In a 
bunch here tha t  had a hayrake and a tedder tha t  we s p l l t  up on, three of 
us owned It and tha t  made it much easller on each man, t o  pay for them, 
you how. 

Q. Yes, sir.  What is a tedder, sir? 

A. A tedder was a machine tha t  w a s  mde t o  stir hay ri@t a f t e r  it was 
cut .  Youf d mrw the hay today. Tomorrow morning youf d take tha t  tedder 
and you'd @;a out there,  and it was forks on a crank. It worked l i k e  t h i s .  
'They kicked tha t  hay up i n  the air mrc o r  less t ha t  hf&, anyhow, t o  
air it outj you know. You could cure your hay much faster and put it up 

C I M r .  l'dhmm uses the work -through in t h i s  context t o  man a 
pass from onc end t o  the other end of a f i e l d  belng wo~ked. [Ed.] 
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much quicker. You could ted  it In the  morning and put it up In the  
afternoon. 

&. Dld you go down a windrow with t h i s  tedder? 

A. Yes. It would take a swath tha t  the mwer cut. In  f ac t ,  it took 
a swath and a half  because it was e i m t  fee t  and not m y  mwers was 
over seven. That was a pret ty  long blade for  a mower, you mow. We 
used them for  everything. We mwed along hedges with them and you'd 
hook In  the hedg~-I've had them hook i n  the hedge and sear  the wheels 
c lear  up, ra ther  than break the b a r .  I don't h o w  how it Stood -It .  
So, a l l  told,  I had a very complete l i ne  of famning tools ,  by the 
nel@bors and rn together. 

Q. Were there any written agreemnts when two o r  three neighbors 
went together on . . . 
A.  No. It was always just  mutual. We'd say, 'Well, I'll go a thLrd," 
andj "I '11 go a thilrd, " and., "1 ' 11 go a th i rd .  I t  And we ' d put up the rruney 
and send one of them t o  buy it .  We k n e w  what we wanted. 

I to ld  you about get t ing the b ig  papp le  fork tha t  time. That went a l l  
over the country. I wouldn't C:&P partners on tha t ,  I wanted t o  control 
it. But I never refused lending it t o  anybody t ha t  wanted It. Because 
It was a lifesaver on dry hay. It would get it clean off  of the hay- 
f m  and take it in to  the barn. 

Q. That first couple of years, what crops dld you gm? Wheat? Corn? 

A. Yes. Corn, wheat and oats ,  and timothy hay. Then I paid cash rent 
for the pasturc. I p3j.d $50 a year fo r  the house and $3 an acre f o r  the 
cash rent .  

Q. How large w a s  the pasture? 

A. Well, it was about f i f t een  acres. And then, when I'd move t o  another 
location, it would bc twenty acres.  You see, th i s22  is  of f  of one twenty. 
The pasture w a s  r ight  south of the house when I moved here and I used it 
there f o r  four o r  f ive  years. Then, when I got hog fences i n  the  hedge, 
I be@ rotating pasture; change It Tram f i e l d  t o  f i e l d  so tha t  every 
f l e l d  was rotated in pasture a year o r  two, 

Q. How would you seed a new pasture when you changed t o  a new f le ld?  

A. Well, you'd seed It; In the spring, usually when the  f w s t  thaw came 
i n  Ivlzrch. You'd go over it with the seeder and spread your grass seed 
over i t .  

Q. By hand? 

2 2 ~ e f e m i n g  t o  the f ive acres on which the house, barns,  and so 
forth, are  located. [Ed. ] 
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A. Yes. Then, a f t e r  I g o t a  good drill, why, I would seed it in the 
f a l l  because the d r i l l  had a box i n  front tha t  seeded grass seed and 
tha t  back box seeded wheat and I ' d  just seed it a l l  at once. That way 
I ' d  save tha t  spring work. But we usually l e t  t ha t  p m d  stand, the 
f a l l  tha t  It was in wheat. We'd cut a stubble crop off of it, possibly, 
f u l l  of stubble i n  the hay, you how. The next year it would be clean 
hay, and then the next year  we'd plow It up and put It t o  corn. We 
t r i e d  t o  havc a mixture of--a l i gh t  mixture of timothy and a rather  
heavy mix tu re  of clover. 

Q. What kind of clover would tha t  be, s f r ?  

A .  Red clover . It g p w  pret ty  rank. The ground wasn't too sour at 
tha t  t lm.  That w a s  another thing the t i l e  tended t o  do, was to , W e  
the ground get sour. So, l a t e r  on, we had t o  begin llmlng t o  get a 
good clover set;. 

I never raised much a l f a l f a .  I t r i e d  t o  r a i se  three acres once. Got 
a b i g  crop off  of it the f i r s t  t lm and no weather t o  put it up, and  
the second crop didn ' t  m m t  t o  very much, and the t h i r d  crop just  
petered out. It was sour land, you see. Not sweet. Alfalfa requires 
sweet land. Lots of lime. 

Q. How much livestock &id you have the first few years here? 

A .  Well, I b o w t  three or  r o w  cows of father-in-law. That I s ,  
one good milk cow and three young heifers ,  you how, tha t  came ill; 
we broke them In. But those years we d i d n ' t  do anythlng only just  
m e  but ter ;  didn't t r y  t o  s e l l  cream. The flrst two years. Then 
a f t e r  tha t ,  why, there was a m named Galloway up i n  Iowa tha t  clalmed 
t o  be a p a t  famrr;rst friend and he came out with cream separators 
tha t  he guaranteed anybody could handle. I bou@t a Galloway cream 
separator and put it i n  the ce l l a r .  We'd crank the m¶.lk through and 
take a l l  the cream out of It, feed the m i l k  t o  the hogs and take the 
c r w n  t o  Litchfield.  

The Litchrield Crearrewy was  developkg a t  t ha t  t h e .  It became a l i f e -  
saver for the country around Litchfield because they got cows i n  there,  
and E n  tha t  had poor land tha t  wouldn't produce much of anything e lse  
but grass got droves of cows and mllked and s ta r ted  moving it t o  Wltchfleld. 
It w a s  a wonderful thing. Just  a wonderful thing. Then, S t .  Louis seen 
they were get t ing such good rrdlk t ha t  they butted In and when I lefY 
Honey Bend, why, S t .  Louis had hogged a1.l of tha t  mllk t ha t  had bean com- 
ing t o  Honey Eknd. 

Q. Went t o  Litchfield.  Did you Increase the n d e r  of cows you had? 

A. Yes. I went up t o  about seven because rqy wife could milk as f a s t  o r  
f a s t e r  than I could. She dldn t rdnd It. We milked and we pract ical ly  
got our groceries out of that; cream check and a l o t  of other things besides. 
That cream check paid, those days. 

Then the Farm R m a u  developed. Long cabout the t h i r d  year tha t  I was 
farming, the E m  Bureau took over at Hlllsboro, and they had a wonderful 
m, a maylager, and hc. came around through the country and 1 vis i ted  with 
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him awhile. He convl.nced m, rimt quick, tha t  I ought t o  be In the 
Farm Bureau and get the advantage of the agricul tural  b u l l e t h s  tha t  
came out From Cnaqalgp. And he would see tha t  you did get the rl&t 
t h i n g ,  tha t  belonged t o  you, you see. He'd go get the bulletins and 
bring them and dis t r ibute  them. He w a s  a wide-awake fellow, You 
could call him any t i m .  

We had a bunch of hem and an old bmken down henhouse and I wanted t o  
s e l l  eggs. I knew I couldn't do very good in there but I decided t o  
have the hens culled just t o  see what a difference would it make t o  
get the deadheads out. So, I called him up and asked hlm about giving 
me a date and he says, "Well, we '11 mke tha t  a township affalr, " He 
says, "I '11 give you t h i s  date now. " And he says, "I'm notifying all 
your township tha t  there ' s  going t o  be a culling at your house tha t  day 
and they can come and take par t . "  So, I put on the First c d l l n g  tha t  
was done i n  t h i s  past  of the country. And I'm t e l l i n g  you, he took 
out a bunch of them, too. They were deadheads tha t  w e r e  no good. Well, 
I kind of got the hang of what he looked for  t o  get a laylng hen, or  a 
hen tha t  would l a y .  The formation of the bones of a hen's body determines 
t o  a lmge extent how good s h e ' l l  be. And so, he showed me a l l  of those 
things and got me bul le t ins  on .i.t. 

Wel.1, then I declded tha t  we ought t o  have a r e a l  henhouse, so we b u i l t  
that  b u l l d b g  out there.  I fixed it so 1 could have two s e t s  of pul le t s  
In it at a t im. I ' d  mve the old hens back t o  the north ha l f  of the 
building where they could lay--the nest they were used t o .  Then, the south 
ha l f ,  I ' d  take the pul lets  out of the brooder that we had out here, t ha t  
we'd ralsed, you know, and break them  the^. Well, I w v e r  had any tmuble  
t eachhg  them t o  go in tha t  other pa r t ,  f ind the  nest,  go rimt up, and 
so on. 

So, we began se l l ing  e m s  t o  a . . . a bakery at Springfield, We sold 
t o  hlm several years, I don't know how long. He gave us a few cents 
above the m k e t  pr ice by us bringing him eggs that  he could break, tha t  
he h e w  was a l l  ri&t, you know. 

Q. Did you candle them herc before you took them up? 

A. No, I dfdnl t candle them, but I picked them every day. There wasn't 
any e g s  l e f t  b the nest and tha t  Is what made it bad f o r  them fellows. 
People tha t  would leave e m  i n  the nest--they called them decoys, o r  t o  
show the hen what the nest was for .  ( la&s) And i f  those e g p  were 
picked up, they were no good. Well, t h i s  m found out tha t  our eggs were 
al.1 r lght .  He didn't f ind any bad ones, so he took them without any candling. 

Q. About how many chlickcns did you have at my one tlm? 

A. Well, I had about two hundred and f l f t y  laying hens at a tlme. I had 
an old building over there tha t  w a s  a m c h h e  shed. 1 fixed it up f o r  a 
henhouse. Kept a hundrcd head i n   the^ and I kept a hundred and f W t y  
over herc. We qt  two t o  three cases of e w  a week t o  haul t o  Springfileld, 

Q. Did you buy the chicks? 
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A. Yes. We b o m t  baby chicks and put them in a brooder house. I 
used t o  have a brooder house that  s e t  ri&t out here in the yard. We 
soon discovered, though, tha t  it dldnlt pw for us t o  t r y  t o  stmt 
chickens because we had too much trouble with the brooder stoves, t o  
have the proper heat fo r  them, and so on. And the hatchery people 
began t o  learn t o  starZ; chickens at the hatchery and s e l l  them f o r  a 
h i a e r  prfce t o  us, and they would s e l l  us straiat pul lets .  The last 
few yeam we never bought anything but just  stralght pul lets .  Tney would 
be as b ig  as quails.  They h e w  how t o  eat  and how t o  gc t o  ea t  and how 
t o  get water and everything. They were, in other words, they were house 
b poke . ( la@% ) 

Q. How long did it take one of those tha t  you b o w t  before It was 
laying? 

A. Well, they generally had t o  be  about eight rrmnths old* Then they ' l l  
begin t o  lay  pul let  eggs, which are srrall.. You had t o  take a dLscount 
on them, but they were just as good an egg as the blgger hen's but you 
dldn ' t  bring as mucp fo r  It. In  fac t ,  L l lked them bet te r ,  t o  eat, than 
the  full-grown hens because the v i t a l i t y  of the young chick was In them, 
you see. They we= a be t t e r  t a s t ing  epg. 

Q. How long dld they m m l n  pul lets  before they b e c m  . . . 
A. Well, the next spring they would be full--I man next fa l l ,  winter-- 
they would be full-gram hens and go i n  e i the r  one of the  laying houses. 
We would keep them there,  usually, the second year and then we'd dispose 
of them. They d go t o  dropphg o f f .  Tney 'd have troubles with one sor t  
and another and it paid t o  put in fresh stock by every second yeas. 

Q. What did you do with the older ones? 

A. Sold them on the market. They were good eatlng chicken. TfEy were 
well-kept and well-fed and had s o d  f lesh on them and hadn't mua it a l l  
off.  You know, the l e s s  a chlcken exercises, the be t t e r  eating he i s .  

Q. What kind of chickens did you n o m l l y  ralse? 

A. Well, we got a cross-bred of Rhode Island Red and B m d  Rock and they 
mde a, pret ty  nemly, a ~d hen and you could just plck them out any place 
you s a w  them. And they were a heavy-bodied chicken. They weighed from 
f ive  t o  e i m t  pounds when they were ful ly  @?own. When they got too big, 
then you be t t e r  sell them because they break egg3 aget t ing in the nest ,  
you how.  Just tromp on them. 

But i n  the m a n t i m ,  why, we'd changed over, f l m l l y ,  t o  White Rock. Just 
buy White Rock pul le t s  and found t ha t  they dld about as well as the hybrid. 
They had a uniform cpg and a l l .  The last few years wc used Whlte Rock. 

Q. What did you feed the chickens? 

A. Well, there used t o  be a company over yt Quincy called the Moo- 
Mufacturllng Plant and i t ' s  a mlneral manufacturer fo r  a l l  par ts  of 
livestock. They m u f a c t u r e  mineral fo r  c a t t l e ,  hogs, horses, and sheep. 
It is a salt block with the d n e r a l  i n  it and they take t o  it readlly and 
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it was very, very good s t u f f .  Well, they cam out then with a concen- 
t r a t e  fo r  chicken feed and I would buy a hundred pounds of tha t  and 
fix it with t h ~ e  hundred porn& of horn-wwn grain. 1 would take an 
equal part  of shelled corm, wheat, and oats, put them i n  a sack, a 
h m w d  pounds. Three of them agalnst one of these sacks of concentrate. 
Then you had a balanced ra t ion  fo r  the 1ayZng hen, body and all. Body 
and egg-producer . 
It was excellent feed but there was quite a b i t  of work about It. But 
I used it a long t i rw because t h i s  @.rl r ight  across here, tha t  l lves  
In  the next house, she w a  a schoo1,teacher and she couldn't stand staying 
i n  the house. She j wt had a phobia &out being shut ug and she says, 
she t o ld  m, she says, "I'm not golng t o  teach any longer." And I says, 
"Why, I think tha t  I s  t e r r ib l e ,  Margaret. " I s d d ,  "You can get a school 
any place you've ever t a w t .  You can go back. " "I know," she says, 
"but I 'rn not a@ng t o  s tay shut up. I' She says, "I 'm going t o  get a 
winder  and go mound over t h i s  country and grind t h i s  feed." And she 
got a grinder munted on her truck, with a mod engine, and she ground 
feed f o r  a l l  the farm mound here. 

Q. Was that  Pbrgaret Franks? 

A. Yes. For all the farms around here and even down t o  Honey Bend. 
She went tha t  far t o  grand feed. And she did well. But then the 
elevators put i n  grinders and t h e i r  competition mined it fo r  her .  
Too m y  people hauled t h e i r  pain I n  arid could take back a mixed feed. 
They would mix it fo r  you I n  the elevator. They would put i n  the concen- 
t r a t e  and the r ight  amount of each kind of gain, whatever you asked 
for ,  and grind it and put it out fo r  so much a sack. 

Q. But you mixed your own here. 

A. Well, they'd use ny own p i n .  I ' d  haul my grain i n  an8 they'd 
use my own g a i n  and they ground It and mixed it fo r  so  much. So, t ha t  
mined Ivb?metls business. But she stayed on the farm wlth her slster 
and helped farm. She wouldn't teach any more. She was a splendid teacher 
and had a good education. 

Q. Did you feed anything l ike  she l l s  of any sort t o  refvlforce the eggshell? 

A. Well, that  was supposed t o  be i n  tha t  mineral. tha t  Moorm sold me. 
'That was i n  tha t ,  fo r  the shell.. And then we put in oyster she l l ,  w e  
always kept oyster she l l  i n  front of them i n  open feeders. They could 
help themelves, and tha t  was l i m e ,  you know. mey could help themselves 
a l l  they wanted toibut tha t  and the mineral feed, mlxed together, mde 
perfect she l l s .  You had rval good shell-s . 
Q. Were these a white e m  o r  a brown egg? 

A. Well, I--with the mode Island, with those red ones, it was a brown 
egg. But wlth the Rocks, it was a white egg. 

I didn't  grow the &@oms because t h e i r  cobs fYeeze so easy, and i f  a 
hen gets her comb f'roze, she Is out of comLzsion f o r  s i x  weeks. And i f  
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tha t  ' s  right i n  the  best p a t  o f  the seaon, long about Christmastlm 
is  a good egg market, you how, and you don't want a frozen c o d  then, 
1'11 t e l l  you. On the other hand, the Rock and the rcd ones had real 
low corrbs, about a quarter of' an inch. I never knew them to W e z e .  

Q. You didn't heat the henhouses i n  any way? 

A. No. I kept w a r n  water, o r  thawed water, in f'ront of them. I ran 
an e k c t r i  c line iY1 Lhcte (w1d put a heatcra i n  Lhc waterer and kept tkir 
w a t e ~  open and then 1.t was, oh, r o o m  temperature, you'd say. It wasn't 
warm but it was room temperature, always ready f o r  them. They require 
an awful l o t  of water when they ' re  laying and using tha t  feed, too. 

Q. What t i m e  of day did you usually pick up the cgp? 

A. Oh, we'd start about four o'clock and pfck them up, They'd be 
through l a y k g  fo r  tha t  day. Then, I had l igh t s  i n  the henhouse, i n  
both henhouses. As quick as the sun went down, why, a her1 goes t o  
mos t ,  you know. Well, I ' d  s e t  my l i @ t s  then; I had a rl@n$ here 
i n  the kitchen tha t  I: se t  for  four o '  clock in the mrning, and at four 
o'clock in the morning tha t  would flop on those l igh t s  and you could jus t  
hear those old hens h i t  the ground. ( l a m s )  1 kept l i t t e r  i n  there 
and I ' d  sca t te r  p a i n  i n  it;, you h c w ,  and they would a l l  core off  the 
r300st at once when those li@lt:-; flashed on. You could hear them clear  
here jn the house. Then they had a twelve hour day, t ha t  way, o r  a l i t t l e  
b i t  mre, and t h a t ' s  what you wanted so as t o  give them tim t o  make an 
egg and lay i t .  

Then, I' d q out the first thing after breakfast, go out and open up the 
henhouse and look a t  thc feeders, see I f  they needed any supplies, and 
I ' d  find a l o t  of eggs i n  there already. They were ready t o  lay when they 
got off  the roost. O h ,  I enjoyed a l l  of  t ha t  so much; and I had t h i s  man 
Snyder, as I t e l l  you, I had him t o  consult with and I U e d  the  m very 
mch. He had a wonderful education and was ready t o  t a l k .  

&. This was the F m  Bureau m, you man? 

.A. Yes. Hf.s name was Snyder. By the way, he had a t e r r i b l e  thing happen 
t o  him. His wife developed cancer of the brain. It swelled her  head where 
she was going crazy with headaches and the doctors went in and sawed her 
skul l  i n  two cleas  mound here, jus t  c lear  mund  it, and then mbsed it 
an inch. Sewed. it so it wouldri't go any hi@er,  wouldn't f a l l  off ,  and 
she--done a w a y  with her headaches--she l ived f a i r ly  easy u n t i l  she died. 
But, oh, what an awful thing that was . 
&. He l ived in H l l s b o m ,  did he? 

A. Yes, but he l e f t  therbe a f t e r  she died. He jsut  couldn't stand it t o  
stay around where they 'd worked together a l l  the  tlme, you how. He couldn't 
stand it, he l e f t .  O f  course, there was F m  Bureau E n  always afier that, 
but I never saw any I liked as well. 

Then, another episode I wanted t o  t e l l  you about. .be I did t e l l  you 
&out it. Wc had chinch bug years hit us. Dry yews, and the c h h h  bu@ 
developed in the wheat f ie lds  and they would go out of the whc* f'iclds and 
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they would clean twenty acres of corn In three days, Clean it clean! 
Be dead as a n i t .  Corn that  hi@-1. We fought them wlth everything w e  
knew. George Fooks sent and got IJS road o i l  by the barrel and sold 
It t o  us a t  cost and we t r i e d  ruming fwrows t o  keep the buggers 
frmn crossing and coming out of the wheat f ie ld ,  you bow. Keep tha t  
thing strewecl with tha t  o i l  and--they developed w h @  and flew i n  
anyhow, and there wasn't no heading them off ,  t ha t  ' s  al l .  , They just  
took It. 

So, Snyder to ld  us--he was up here helpllng us t r y  t o  Mght and he t o l d  
us tha t  he knew of a parasi te  i n  Kansas. He'd learned J t  through h i s  
visiti.ng the F m  Bureau leaders1 convention, you know, and he says, 
"I belleve I can get some fo r  here." So, the m that  l ived jus t  south 23 
of IE here was a wide-awake f a m r  and he says, "Let  ' s have him get it . 
And I says, " A l l  r igh t .  G e t  i t .  No m t t e r  what it  costs 1 s . "  Well, we 
fomd out the g o v e m n t  was fmi i sh lng  it. It dldn't  cost us anything 
a f t e r  we got; It and, you know, he got two l i t t l e  bot t les  not longw than 
tha t .  

Q. Couple of inches. 

A. Clear glass, and i f  they hadn't of mgnif led a little, you couldn't 
have seen those thin@ i n  there.  They were tha t  U t t l c !  They were sm.11 
enough t o  get i n  the chinch b u ~ ;  egg. We scattesed them pret ty  much over 
the township, few i n  each f i e ld ,  and they sure cooked the chinch bugs. 
We've never had them since, bad, at a l l .  

Q. Did that  happen i n  one ycm, o r  . . . 
A. Well, it took a year md  a ha l f ,  but they were gone f o r  the next year, 
corrpletely. We never had them afterwards. 

He was a wonderful help t o  us fn t ha t  episode and then he showed us how 
t o  sweeten s o i l  f o r  a, lfalfa,  and so on. We d ldnl t  attenpt t o  grow a l f a l f a ,  
thou&, yet .  But the catt1.e-feeders were wmtimg t o  grow j . t .  So, thcy 
used h l s  how-how t o  lk t h e i r  ].and and seed it and so  on. 

Q. Were there cattle-feeders around here i n  those days, then? 

A. Yes. Waggoner fed c a t t l e  and, oh, there was a nmber of them 
JO% 1 don't ,ow tha t  1 can m a m  nowy but 1 h e w  them arumd herle. 

a l l  at tha t  t k .  SOE fed more  and som less, you know. Some fed Just 
what they could handle :in t h e i r  c q u i p ~ n t ,  but John had c a t t l c  b a r n  and 
feed-bunks and everythlng. H c  fed a l o t  of ca t t l e .  He b o a t  c a t t l e .  
Before I COW up here I w a s  working fo r  a m down r ight  s t r a l @ t  west of 
Raymnd, and he had two carload of c a t t l e  on feed, t ha t  time. And John 
cam down and looked them over. 'They were not reaay t o  @;a on the market 
yet but they were i n  good f i x ,  ready t o  be  fed out, and John came down 

23Mr. Allman l a t e r  corrected this t o  read west. For verbatim tex t  
see addenda item 96. 

2 4 ~ e e  addenda item 97. 
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there and bought the  whole bunch and took them horn with him. And SO, 

I klnd of wanted t o  how John Wapgoner by tha t ,  when I mved up here, 
and I made the p o h t  t o  rr!ake h i s  acqualr~tance as quick as I could. It 
wasn't hmd t o  do. He was glad t o  M e  acquaintance. 

They was--John fed ca t t l e ,  and there a mn tha t  . . . oh, what was 
hls name? He was an old . . . Frenchyydescent . . . l ived up at the 
north end of E'itmn Township. He  fed a l o t  of c a t t l e  . . . well, I: can't 
t e l l  you h i s  nam. 

There was seveml cattle-feeders around F a m r s v i l l e .  There was six or 
e i&t  and tha t  was what bmke the National Bank. That m tha t  ran the 
Natlonal Bank up there,  they would go i n  t o  ? d m  and they'd say, "Mr. Ball, 
w e  want so m n y  c a t t l e  t h i s  f a l l .  " And he 'd say, "fill r ight .  I' 11 go 
get them and you can givc ne your note when I: get them back here. " And 
he would go and buy them, ship them up, and they would go In  and give 
him their note and start feeding them. He was a good buyer. He s t r a h c d  
the b d  that way, on loans, u n t i l  those crazy nuts tha t  came down here f r o m  
Sprhgf i e ld  closed him out.  

Q. How d i d  they do tha t?  

A. Well, they Jus t  c l a h e d  tha t  h i s  paper wasnl t any good. They couldn't 
get cash on it. Cattle w a s  I n  the l o t  yet,  not ready t o  sell, and so  they 
couldn't get cash. He got i n  deep enou@ with them fellows tha t  he couldn't 
go t o  St.  Ikuls and borrow money anymore. He 'd used a11 of his resources. 
'"hey just  cleaned him up and put him out of business and the poor old fellow 
shot himself, and so did h i s  cashier. Both of themkil led themselves. 

Q. About what year was tha t?  Do you remmber? 

A ,  Oh, no, I don't how. It was In Hoover's last year. 

A. If you how when Hoover's l a s t  yeas . . . But there was two good 
banks in Famersville at  tha t  t im.  Both of them closed t h e i r  doors. 
The State  Hank [ F m r s v i l l e  S ta te  Banlc] d i d n ' t  lose as bad as Ball  dld. 
B a l l  had a great big farm and he twned the whole thlng over t o  them. 
He wasn't crooked, i n  m y  sense. He turned it over t o  the s t a t e ,  gave 
up-made a pauper of h i m e l f .  And the c o d s s P o n  men at S t .  bu ls  says, 
"You core down hem and we ' l l  put you dawn in Missowl md f m l s h  you 
,sheep and you take care of them.'' Well, he went down there and t r i e d  it 
one y e w  and he couldn t mke a go o f  it. He wasn ' t a sheep-, he was 
a c a t t l e m ,  and he coul.dnlt make a go of it so  he jus t  kllled hlmself. 
Boy, I did hate it. He was such a nice fellow and wil l ing t o  do mything 
fo r  the farmer. 

&. When you w e r e  milking the cows . . . Can you describe how the cream 
sepamt o r  worked? 

"Mr. Allman 1-ater ident l f led this rim as a M r .  Rovey, correcting 
the descent k o m  French t o  G e m .  See addenda item 98 f o r  ve r%ath  t ex t .  
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A. Well, I can t e l l  you the principle of the thing. The buttcrfa'z 
i n  the  cream makes it heavier i n  weight than m i l k ,  than s k i m ~ d  rillk. 
Skhued milk is  newer  water. So they figur%d out, If they Would 
separate t h i s  m i l k  i n to  th in  layers,  they had a . . . Didn't you 
ever see a cream separator? 

Q. Is t h i s  one of those tha t  you crank and work by centrifu@l force? 

A. Yes, and the cream w a s  forced t o  the center of the bowl, came out 
the top, and the milk cam out over at the s ide,  went out. It would 
take a l l  the cream out. That skim xnllk was the mst wonderrul hog feed, 
boy, boy. 

Q. Is tha t  what you used the skim m i l k  for?  

A. W m ,  r ight  fmrn the cow and put it out there; hogs would pre t ty  
near k i l l  themselves get t ing t o  it. 

Q. Did you mix it with anything? 

A. No, just poured it i n  the trough, then pi led out the corn and l e t  
them balance it out. (laughs ) 

Q. Was tha t  the mln thi.ng you fed t o  the hogs? 

A. Corn? 

Q. Yes. 

A. No, I 1-earned from the  Farm Bureau man and Wallace Famu.--I s ta r ted  
taking Wallace F m r  when J fkst began f a d n g  here. You coul,d write 
t o  those fellows and they wodd give you the benefit  of t h e i r  knowledge, 
too, and 1 wrote t o  know about tankage. How sare it was t o  feed and how 
it balanced hog feed. They wmte back and to ld  rre and then Snyder ver if ied 
it at the Farm B m a u ,  and I went t o  buying tankage then and putting it i n  
a feeder so thcy cou1.d &p t o  i t  and ea t  it, you know, wlth the corn. The 
feeder s a t  rl&t on the platform where 1 shovelled the corn o f f .  I fed 
the corn in the ear. ?hat feeder was right In the middle of tha t  p la t fom.  
I had a concrete platform a l i t t l e  b lgger  than this mom tha t  I could 
throw corn on so 4.t w a s  never i n  the mud. 

Well, I began feeding tha t .  Tne neighbors didn't  l l k e  it. T k Y  claimed 
I was arunnlnp; them i n  danger of cholern, hog cholera, because we didn't  
know what was put In tha t .  But the people at Swift and A m o u r  both pyaran- 
teed it, absolutely, and I never had a speck of trouble with It. But I 
sure c a w t  thunder f'rom som of the f m m  because I kept going ahead 
and feedlng 1.t. They sald,  "You're t ry ing  t o  spread cholera.'' I says, 
"NO, I ' m  not." 

So, when the cholera struck us, the f l r s t  cholera tha t  struck me, I had 
two b i g  brood sows and they had nice U t t e r s  of p i g .  It k i l l ed  every 
pig, every one, just  l e f t  the two old sows, and I dldn't  think they were 
imune. I was afYald they were not. 1 was afraid they'd die l a t e r  on. 
So, I went t o  the veterinwy then and asked i f  he tho&t there was any 
posslbilj-ty of me getting serum. They were beginning t o  talk about a 
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cholera serum. He says, "Yes, I can get you s e m .  I f  you've only got 
two hogs, you can get it. I' Hc says, "You go t o  the phone now and c a l l  
up the agriculture depmtrwnt a t  Springfield and ask fo r  the serum m." 
And he says, "You t e l l  him that  I am sending you t o  buy serwn of him 
and tha t  I: w i l l  administer it. 'I And I to ld  him and the  next day here 
came two bot t les  of serum. HE cam r ight  out wlth it and we gave the 
old sows each a shot and they lived throuffh, They were n ~ y  foundation 
for  the hogs the next sprlng. Oh, they did lose hogs around here. 

Well, I saved those two sows and then I ppt l e t t e r s  Porn two o r  three 
ap i lcu l tura l  papers asking fo r  can,ybody tha t  had t r i e d  the  serwn t o  write 
t h e i r  experience and I inmdiatcly done it because I t h o m t  tha t  it 
oumt  t o  be known. I p p t  a l l  kinds of rep l ies .  The next t h h g  I h e w  
I was just mul rased by the f a m r s  amund here. They says, Wow 'd 
you get t ha t  serum?" Says, "We've t r i e d  a l l  fa l l  t o  get It. Howtd you 
get it? What kind of pull you got?" I says, "I haven't any pull. I' I 
says, "I Just  had two h o g .  That 's the secret .  " 

Well, they wouldn't take tha t .  No, sir. "You had a pul l  of some sort; 
o r  you wouldnl t have got i t .  " I said,  "Well, all Z;he pu l l  I had Was the 
v e t e r l m y  t e l l i n g  m t o  c a l l ,  in h i s  name, and tha t  he would administer 
1.t." And I says, "And he did, and t h a t ' s  the only explanation there i s ."  
And I says, "Another year you ' l l  be able t o  get it but you've got t o  l e t  
them how that  you're p i n g  t o  have it adrrdnistered r ight .  They won't 
l e t  it out for  you, t o  administer. I t  So the next yew, why, w e  b e e  t o  
get serum and tha t  was the end of the cholera for  m.  

&. What was the veter inar iants  name? 

A. Harry Campbell. You knew him. 

Q. Oh, real ly!  

A. He was out of school., f iesh, and he was anxious t o  help me. 26 He w a s  
the secret of it. I don't how whether he got as much trouble out of It 
as I did but I know they sure run rn r a g e d  f o r  a while. Sow of them 
cam down and wouldn't take rrly word fo r  It. They thought I was lylng. I 
says, "No, I'm not lying t o  you. I'm not t e l l i n g  you only jus t  exactly 
what happened. " 
Q. Well, Hmry p p t  out. of i t .  mved t o  Iowa. 

A. Well, he didn It f o r  a year or  two, tho*, af'ter tha t .  But Harry was 
a pret ty  good veterinarian. I l iked him. Well, he was related t o  you. 

Q. Yes, sir. I-Ie was my step-mc1.e. 

A. Yes, t h a t ' s  d&t. 

Q. Ahout when was this, when he w a s  a veterinary here? I don't rc3menber 
the yew. 

2 6 ~ e e  addenda item 99. 
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A .  I couldn't t e l l  you tha t .  I to ld  you I'm no good on dates. That 
was . . . oh, I ' d  been farming a nwrber of years and was pret ty  well- 
known aourld the neighborhood. I couldn't t e l l  you t o  save rqy life. 
I expect it w a s  about, oh, 1918. Sorwwhere along there because cholera 
had been pret ty  bad In the country north of us, a t i r ~  o r  two, and hadn't 
corn down t h i s  f a r .  You know, they c la lmd tha t  buzzards and crows 
carrr~ied It and scattered it In the country. 

Q. How many hogs did you usually ra i se?  

A. Oh, I ' d  generally keep four or  f ive  brood saws, tha t  would generally 
~ l ; c t  TE about forty pigs and I ' d  feed them out twice a year, two t h s  a 
year, you h o w .  I l iked hogs. 1 l iked t o  feed hogs and take c w e  of 
them, and SO on. 

Q. What kind of hogs did you ra ise?  

A.  Poland(hina. I wanted a b o w  one time and I wanted a good one, and 
1 went over t o  Gimrd and there 's  an old fellow runs the elevators over 
them m d  Shutt. Maybe you've heard of h i m .  

9. What w a s  the nam, s i r ?  

A.  Shutt, S-H-U-T-T. I never had mt the  man but I hew of his reputation. 
So I went over and Introduced r rpe l f  and I says, " I ' m  out h m t b g  a good 
Pol.and China boar." "Well," I sws, "you know a l l  the farmers in thlis end 
of Macoupin. Where w i l l  1 f ind one?" He says, "You s i t  down there." 
He say,s, "1'11 take the phone and I ' l l  locate you one." And he put in 
a so l id  hour on the telephone locating a fellow tha t  had one fo r  sale. 
And he says, "Now, I know tha t  fellow ' s  honest. " He says, 'You can belfeve 
what he t e l l s  you." 

So, I drove out mt i l  I found the place. I t o l d  him tha t  I w a s  the  fellow 
tha t  m u t t  was sendlng out and I s a d ,  "I 'd  lFke t o  see your hogs." And 
I said,  ''What have you got t o  say  about them?" 'Well," he sXLd, "I took 
this hog t o  the f a l r  t h i s  fa1.l. I thought I would get a f i r s t  on him, but," 
he says, "I only got a second. But ," he says, ' he 's  got a l l  the papers tha t  
you need. I'll give him t o  you and I 'll s e l l  h h  t o  you f o r  a certain price." 
He was just  about a year old a t  t ha t  t im and, v, he stood up tha t  high. 
G ~ a t  big fellow. I looked the m ' s  fences over and he ju s t  had U t t l e  low 
fences and I said, "He never gets out of here?'' He says, "Never has got 
out. " I says, "Well, that  's i n  h i s  favor. " And tha t  I s  what I wanted t o  how,  
you how, because they 're t e r r ib l e  t o  fence. 

So, I brought him horn and I kept tha t  hog f o r  three years. He was a fellow 
tha t  was agreeable and never did chomp and chew and threaten you or  anything. 
He bred a l l  of the stock in thc country, t ha t  had Poland China, you see. 
Bmught them here and I never charged a cent fo r  breedlng sows. So, we  got 
a good stock of Poland Chinas fn here, you how, and we could save our own 
g i l t s  rmd . . . 
Q. Why didn't you want t o  charge fo r  the use of the bow? 

A. Oh, I just  didn't w a n t  t o  because they didn't charge m mything fo r  a 
b u l l .  The only thing I paid for  w a s  a stud horse, co l t s ,  and--1 dld pay f o r  
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calves t o  som mn. There w a s  some E n  tha t  ins i s ted  a calf  was worth 
a dol la r  and I sa id  well, 1 t h o u a t  so, too. So, I give them the  dollarr. 
Never wgued about it but T never bothered--I'd l e t  t h m  take that boar. 
'Take him t h e i r  house and keep him as long as they wanted. Then bring 
hlrn home.$? Stay rlght here, he ' d  never t r y  t o  get out. 

&. Did you ever show aqy of your hogs? 

A.  No, I wasn't smrt e n o m  for  tha t .  I d ldnl t  know how t o  groom them 
o r  anything. I went t o  the -irs those days and saw how they had t o  work. 
'They had t o  sleep with them them days, you mow, t o  keep them fYom b e b g  
doped. There was crooked work agoing--all t ha t  stock there--all of those 
men had t o  sleep wlth t h e i r  stock. Cattle.  HOP. Everything else. 

&. What were they @=ding against? 

A. Guwding a m n s t  crooked work. They'd inject somthing I n t o  them t o  
M e  them look slck, you know, like they was ashowln@; a slck hog. And 
c a t t l e  the s a w  way. They had t o  sleep with their--the Boy Scouts had t o  
sleep with t h e i r  s teers .  So, I &Ldnlt fancy any of tha t .  A11 I wanted 
was a ppod stock of stock hogs. I kept the old fellow mtl l  he died. He 
f ina l ly  died and I buried him. 

Q. Did you do any of your own butchering i n  those days? 

A. Well, we did at f i r s t ,  but wc liked be t t e r  t o  buy the cured meat. 
We were neither of us very big mat eaters ,  rqy wife nor I e i the r  one. 
So, we ' d buy a ham o r  buy our bacon and so on. We didn't  cure meat very 
often. We dld at f i r s t  but we decided it w a s  m r e  trouble than it was 
wohh and we qui t  it. Last few years we never cured any a t  a l l .  And I 
never butchered a beef fo r  qyself.  Helped dad. 

&. How large a garden did you and your wlfe have here? 

A. Just, oh, mourn to--1 don't know hardly how t o  t e l l  you. We had from 
the cast  s ide of the house t o  tha t  fence and down at the south end, just  
the length of the house  he^. And you can judge t o  look at  it about what 
there was. We g ~ w  a l l  the s tuf f  we needed in there because it was good mt. 

I would put up woven w i r e  fences fo r  the  peas t o  m on and she wouldn't 
have t o  stand on her head t o  pick pea;;. And beans pract ical ly  the same 
way, and we grew tomatoes i n  the fcncc row on that  s ide .  They c l W c d  the 
fence. Cucumbers the saw way. And cabbage, of course. Cabbage was very 
easy t o  p w  those days i f  you used a l i t t l e  slw-shot.  They used t o  have 
a powder fo r  cabbage wornls that you could sprinkle over the leaves and they 
folded in  and tha t  WEE the end of Mr. Cabbageworm. He never done any c a t h g .  
When he got down t o  where h~ wanted t o  ea t ,  it wasn't- f i t  t o  eat. (laughter) 
We g r e w  cabbage, and let tuce,  and radlshes. But I soon got t o  where I 
couldn't ea t  radlshes. I carilt @;o them. They r r ~  t o  death. So, I ju s t  
q u i t  them. 

' 'see addenda. item 100. 
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Did you do a l o t  of canning? 

A .  Yes, she canned, She canned pret ty  near everything. We used t o  
process beans and peas and then t h i s  idea of that . . . whatever 
tha t  bug Is tha t  is  so dangernus in canned goods . . . 
&. Botulism? 

A. Yes. It begin t o  appear and we qui t .  We'd m t h e r  buy the s tuf f  
than take a chance on It, our own canning. 

Q. You grew wheat and corn. Did you grow any rye? 

A. No. I didn't l i ke  rye. Oh, it was so miserable t o  handle. Those 
old beards would gc clear  throum a l l  of your clothes and they didn't  gat. 
You'd get one of those heads i n  your pant l e g  there and It would clT& 
clear  up here, just  l i ke  it had legs.  (laughter) 

Q. How much of oats d id  you grow? 

A. Well, I usually grew twenty acres because I wanted t o  put it i n  wheat. 
I rotated the land tha t  w a y .  I ' d  grow the oats,  then plow tha t .  Soon as 
the oats we= off ,  plow that  and put It fn wheat tha t  f a l l .  Next sprlng 
I sowed it t o  clover, In the wheat you h o w ,  and then It stood a year fo r  
hay. Then you plowed it up the next year, and we called tha t  rotat ing the 
land. And it did help a l o t ,  because that  clover p w  nodules, which 
were nitrogen, and that  w a s  all  the nitrogen we got, those days. 

Q. Oh, you d idn ' t  put f e r t i l i z e r  on? 

A. No, there wasn't any f e r t i l i z e r  at tha t  tlme. No farm f e r t i l i z e r .  
The gardeners got it, but we never h e z d  of such a thing as  fm fer t l . l i zer  
a t  tha t  t h e .  

Q. Other than mure f m m t h e  barn, I guess. 

A. Yes, we scattered tha t  a l l  over. Then the pastures, when they were 
broken up, were pret ty  r ich ,  you how, A s  I to ld  you, a f t e r  5 got the 
farm fenced so I could put h o e  a l l  over, why, I mta ted  the whole thing 
and it w a s  l l k e  a p a s t m  every t lm you broke It out.  It would grow hay 
on it and then m e  a past-, maybe a year, and then mybe break it--maybe 
you'd keep It In pasture two o r  three years. I b u i l t  an alleyww clear' fmm 
the l o t  here up t o  the end of the e i@ty tha t  I could open @tes and turn 
them in to  any one of the twenties. 

Q. So, a l l  the land i s  east  of the house here, then? 

A. Yes. Tnis e i m t y  just runs east  and west, two forties, 

Q. Where drld you take your produce? Your corn and wheat? Into Wagoner? 

A. Mostly. Yes. Sometims we'd s e l l  som to R a p n d .  If Raynmnd outbid 
Wamoner, why, we'd s e l l  t o  Raymnd but,  as I to1.d you, they organized a 
farmer's co-op. After tha t ,  why, it a l l  went t o  Waggoner of c o m e ,  because 
we got a l l  the prof i t  i n  the concern, and then we declared a divldend a t  
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the end of the year and divided tha t  a l l  up. So, tha t  was a great advan- 
tage. I served on tha t  board I don't bow how m y  yems,  A long tlme. 

Q. What type of work dLd you have t o  do on the board? What types of 
t h h g s  dld you have t o  consider? 

A. Well, you had t o  consider whether you wanted t o  store anything o r  
not or  whether you'd put it on the open market. We didn "c store very 
much. I wasn 't in favor of tha t  because you cam lose your ha;t on 
stored s tuf f .  I didn't  favor tha t .  Most of the others didn ' t ,  e i the r .  
They'd rather  s tore  it on t h e i r  farm i f  they were going t o  s to re  it. 
They just wouldnlt bring It t o  town, you bow. They'd s tore  It on the 
farm and w a l t  unti l  the prllce come up. 'Then bring it In and s e l l  it 
and they 'd get the dlvidend and divide it up. 

8.. Which elevator was tha t?  

A. The south one. 'Ihc north one belonged t o  old C .  E.  Mmday In Lftch- 
f i e ld .  E-Ie owned a s t r i n g  of elevators. He owned one In Lltchfield,  onc 
in Wagoner. I think he had one In Famrmsvillle and then he went west on 
the B i g  4, out t o  Hornsby or  someplace out i n  there,  and then he went, south. 

Q. Before the co-op was f o m d ,  w a s  them an elevator on the south 
there across f r o m  . . . 
A. Yes. John Gerlach bu i l t  one rmd he ran it fo r  a n&er of y e a s  
and John was a good buycr. We sold t o  him. But there w a s  a bunch o r  
fellows that thought tha t  we ought t o  have the p ro f i t ,  a l l  the prof i t  
the= was i n  what we p w ,  and they canvassed the countuy. Now, I was 
rather  reluctant t o  s i p  up. I l iked John an& John was an honest fellow; 
he w a s  an honest buyer. But they f ina l ly  got enough m&ership t o  put 
it over and they went t o  him and to ld  him they w a s  going t o  buy him out. 
We1.1, he didn't want t o  s e l l .  "Well, then," they says, "wclll p over 
and buy Munday ' s elevator. " Well, he dldn t want tha t .  That would be 
a worse thing, you know. He put h i s  price at--I never heard tha t  deal 
done. Sombody e l se  engineered tha t .  He always clalrrled they forced hlm 
out of business. But anyhow, they mde him an of fer  and he took it and 
they went t o  work and they put Rome Vlgnos In there as a mnager, Rome 
managed there f o r  a nwrber of' years. He was a good grab buyer and an 
honest fellow. I was secretary of the board and I worked with Rome quite 
a l o t  and I found him s t r i c t l y  honest. 

Q. Is that  elevator building tha t  Is there now, is  tha t  the o r i g l m l  one? 

A.  Yes. That's what John b u i l t  b u t i t  Is been added t o .  After we got 
i t ,  we encased it i n  sheet Iron. We did tha t  and we a lso  b u i l t  the cob 
burner and b u i l t  a spout down t o  It and so on. We spent quite a l o t  of 
money a g e t t h g  it the way we wanted It. 

Then, they began having trucks t o  haul in to  town with and, well, we c o d &  
use the old dump. We just  had wapn dwnps In there.  We couldn't use the 
old dumps, so the board ~t m d  appointed I'm& Derby and IE--he W a s  president 
of the board and I w a s  secretary--and they sent us t o  SprLngfYeld t o  buy the 
e l ec t r i c  dwnp and have it ins ta l led .  The Weaver Manufacturing Company 
manufactured them at tha t   tin^ and we went up there and went through the  
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plant and decided tha t  they were honest i n  t h e l r  pricing. We b o w t  
it and they shipped it down and put it i n  and fmm tha t  tlme on, Why, 
they had the el.ectr1c dump. It would d q  trucks of pract ical ly  any 
length. They could get the wheat out of them. 

&. About what year was the co-op f o m d ?  Was tha t  i n  the-- 

A. (shakes head in negative) 

Q. Oh, you won't remrrber? 

A. I 'rn the poorest date mi you ever saw. (ZaupbS) 

Q. Well, I can f lnd rthat , I ' m  sure. 

A. You can find tha t  out . . . I don' t know whether you can o r  not. 1 
guess you can there a t  the elevator books. I expect they can--oh, I 
doubt i f  they 've got the o1.d books tha t  far back. I thlnk It run for 
about fifteen years, If I remrrber ri$nt . It went tWo@ the war yews. 

I to ld  you George Fooks owned a--to straighten you out on that-he shipped 
a carload of that  road o i l  up t o  f i b t  chinch bugs and he sold it t o  us 
a t  cost,  and we broup$t it out hem and t r i e d  It and it wouldn't work, 
and he call-ed in every bar re l  and made the o i l  company take them back 
and pay him the fU1 amount. 

Q. oh, 15 tha t  right? 

A. Yes, sir. We never lo s t  a penny on it, but It didn't  do us a penny's 
worth of g o d .  Jus t  a l o t  of hard work. So, George Fooks was an awful 
good m. 

Q. About how rrany people were involved i n  tha t  co-op? How many f m r s  + . . 
A. Oh, I' d imgine  . . . twenty-five. Most a l l  the f m e m  around here 
were in it. 

&. Hoth c ~ y t  and West of town? 

A. Yes. Yes, mst all of them got i n  and boosted f o r  it, and a f i e r  they 
were sa t l s f i ed  tha t  Row was honest, why, others would &op in, you h o w .  
There w a s  a l o t  of them ,jubbcrish about a manager, thoumt he'd knock down. 

You know . . . there ' s  more people hunt for  e v i l  than good, I bet you 
know tha t .  They do, though. A fellow's crooked u n t i l  he proves he ' s  
honest. I always thou@t tha t  I ' d  accept a m as honest until he proves 
he's crooked. 

Q. But you rind i t ' s  the other way around, n o m l l y ?  

"see addenda item 101 .  
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A. Yes, sir. 

' (portion not transcribed--statemnt by interviewer concerning mchanics 
of pmcessing the narration) 

Q. I ' d  l i k e  t o  check some of these m s  wlth you, i f  I might. , k t ' s  
see. You mntioned the M o o m  Company, from Qulncy. 

A. Yes. 

I Q. Do you E ~ Y E T T ~ ~ P  how they spelled t h e i r  nam? 

I &. S t l l l  there.  ~ 
1 A. Oh, yes ! Theylm going strong. They're a real. selilable concern. 

M o o m .  'They were not robbem, e i ther .  They sold us s tu f f  at a very 
reasonable price.  And I never found any of it tha t  w a s  bad. And, by 

1 the way--1s t h i s  s t i l l  running? 

Q. Yes, sir. 
I 

A. I wanted t o  t e l l  you, w e  got fleas. 

Q. A what, sir? 

1 A .  Fleas! F-L-%A-S. ( l a w t e r )  Did you ever have one on you? 

) Q. Yes, sir. I sure have. 
I 

A. Well, we got them i n  t h i s  country and everybody was a s h a d  of it. 
They thought tha t  we'd been a r t y  some way t o  get f leas  and they wouldn't 
acknowledge it, you know. IJntil. f ina l ly  they found tha t  everybody was lri 
the sm boat. ( lau&ter)  Well, then we begLn t o  find a way of f l @ t i w  
them arid I went t o  the agent of M o o m  and I said,  'We're lousy with f leas  
out here. I' I says, "Can't M o o m  get somthing tha t  w i l l  k i l l  them?" And 
he says, 'Well, 1'11 take tha t  with them and I '11 rea l ly  work on it. I' 

So, he did and f ' inal ly he c a m  back in, seer a mnth or so. He Says, 'Well, 
Bert, I 've  got it. " And he says, "I 've got just emct ly  what you want. " 
And I sqys, ' W i l l  they guarantee i t ? "  He says, "I w i l l  1 " He S ~ S ,  "I '11 
give you a gumantee if' you want it. I' 11 just give you a guarrmtee. " And 
I says, 'Well, what i s  it?" I k  says, "It ' s a brown powder and you put it 
in a sack and you walk around wherever there's dust in a bullding and 
shake tha t  in t ha t  dust. Go i n  every building you've got here and shake it 
i n  the dust. Iln the barn.  I n  the henhouses. In the hog house, the cow 
barn ,  and i n  the corncrib clriveway. Whereve~ there 's  dust," he says, "you 
shake it in there.  " I says, "How much i s  it 7'' He s y s  , "It ' s $25 a hmdYed. I' 

I says, ' W e l l ,  It ' s worth it, i f  it w l l l  do the work. 

; So he brought m-he already had the hundred I n  there f o r  me. He dumped it 
out and I went t o  work on it and, you h m ,  them things just disappemed 

i l l ke  a fmst! We k i l l e d  t h e i r  eggs, i n  tha t  dust, and also the  old f leas ,  
' and wc just cleaned up . . . most astonishing thing I'd ever seen. 
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And before tha t ,  every nipbl; bcfore my wLfe and I would go t o  bed, we'd 
take off  a l l  of our clothes and put a sheet on tha t  tab le  i n  there and 
we'd shake our clothes in tha t  sheet and msh  the rascals,  o r  try t o  
you know, and there ld  be from one to twenty-five on us. They'd leave 
great welts, you know. They were t e r r ib l e !  

Q. And everyone around here . . . 
A. Everybody had them, but they wouldnl t acknowledge it. ( lau@ter)  

Q. Just had t o  scratch I n  secret ,  huh? Well, then this powder worked 
for  them, too, I guess. 

A. Oh, yes. M o o m  sold it t o  a l l  of them and they Just cleaned 
on fleas i n  the neighborhood in a month's time. We never heard of another 
f lea .  And tha t  w a s  the most; wonderful medicine I ever got ahold o f ,  

And I had a n~lkce in Karlsas that  had a dog. (lau@s ) A house dog, of 
course, she thought so much of ,  and she come out here with him one time 
and she says, "And he 's got Tleas . '' I says, 'Well, I 11 flx him. l1 So, 
I got a l i t t l e  can and punched sorm holes i n  it, you know, and put a U t t l e  
of tha t  in and I took that  dog and I worked his h a l r  backward md f i l l e d  
t 1 1 .  I n  a l i t t l e  while he had quit scra tchhg.  Well, she c o w  back 
here, bought the last b i t  of tha t  s tu f f  1 had. She c m  three o r  four years 
back here and used  so^ of tha t  f l e a  powder. ( l a u a s )  

Q. And t h i s  c m  from the Moorvm Company? 

A. Now you can ask your other rims. 

Q. Yes, I: w a s  wondering about Nr. Munday . How did you spe l l  t ha t  name? 

A. WU-N-&A-Y. C. E. 29 And he w a s  a m that  had drooping eyelids, 
he couldn't r a i se  h i s  upper eyel..i&. He'd just--like this--to t a l k  t o  you, 

Q. Lean back. 

A, Look under. That looked crazy. (laughs) 

Q. Yes, tha t  must be a flumy feellng. 

A. I-Iis boy got married while I was at 1JtchfI.eld and he cam In and he says, 
"Charlie, I want s o w  cars.  l1 IIe says, "Guy's agoing t o  get narried. 'I And 
he says, "I w a n t  a dining car, two sleeping c m .  What w e  they going t o  
cost; m? I want them se t  In here fo r  two days and two nights. I' Well, the 
agent to ld  h i m  just what they'd cost hlm, a hundred dollars a day, each one 
of them, and then he'd have t o  pay the help that was on them. SO, he got 
the cars.  G u y  got mmkd and rmved i n  a car, sleeping car, you mow. ( l a m t e r  ) 

* 9 ~ h 1 ~  m y  he  C. B. ~ m d a y .  ,me st- @ 
I l l h o l s  (Chicago: ~ e o  .A. Ogle & Co. , 1912) on page 53 shows a C .  B. - m d &  
'(~undy)& owning a s i t e  a t  Zanesvll.le s t a t ion  i n  tha t  y e w .  [Ed. 1 
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1 Q. And that w a s  where they had their  honeymoon, was out on the car, 
I huh? 

END OF TAPE 

I 
I END OF VOTl3'E III 
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ITEM 
NO. 

7 8 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

8 5 

86 

8 7 

8 8 

89 

90 

9 1  

92 

93 

9 4 

9 5 

9 6 

97 

98 

99 

100 

10 1 

10 2 

Footnote : confirming "belly-side It dom 

Rois D'arc hedge, wire fence 

Bois D'mc hedge, Franks family 

Chlcken predators 

Wild pigeons 

Honey Rend Depot and store 

Compound engine flu?ctionfng 

The 24-tmin day, bruthers i n  rallroadlng 

Log cabin structure 

Sorghum processing 

Sor&m rrdlls 

Train orders, engine d i f f e ~ n c e s  

Relief agent work at  Strong, I l l i n o i s  

Litchfield C r c m r y  Company 

I l l i n o i s  Terminal. Servlce conlpetltlon 

Concern with names and dates 

Sadie k w i s ,  s o w  keepsakes 

Footnote: correcting f ie ld  t i l e  spacing 

Ed Beeler and Garnet 

Other cattle-feeders, the Louis M. Thorns place 

The Rov~y  family 

Dr. Snyder, livestock diseases, ra i s ing  Sheep, 
ra is ing bees 

Poland China boar ' s hab It s 

Wap.oner1s coal-bin and f i e l d  t i l e  works 
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ADDENDA I m  78 ( r e f .  p. 180) 

Q. &lly  s ide down. Would tha t  be the outside of the log? 

A. The s p l i t  s lde.  

Q. The sp1l.t side,  the flat  side.  I see, yes sir. 

A. So it wouldn't jwrrp around. 

A.  They had nurseries. You boumt your plants a t  a nursery s m  as 
you go and buy plants now t o  se t  in the f;asden. They'd bw plants about 
tha t  t a l l .  

. About s i x  t o  eight Inches. 

A. And take and s e t  them out, and then you had t o  cul t ivate  them with a 
cul t ivator  the f i r s t  year, very cmefully,and keep a l l  of the weeds out 
and glve a chance for  the l i t t l e  h e d g  plant t o  grow. And they were se t  
close t o s t h e r  because they had t o  make a t i @ t  f'ence. They wanted t o  
W e  a hog fence, you know. They . . . (shows masuremnt wlth fingers) 

Q. Two t o  three lnches apart? 

A. Two and a half or  three inches apart .  Well then, when those @t t o  
be t a l l  as my head, why, then they would cut i n  on the top slde of one 
of them and then they could break It down and lay it foxward on the other 
hedge. They'd trim a l l  the l i d s  off  of it and lay it down there. Well, 
a f t e r  they l a i d  tha t  one down, then they brought this one here down, too, 
and so on. T h  they were aJ.1 I.ald-they were none of them k i l l ed  now, 
you how, they would a l l  grow--and t im you got them a l l  l a i d  and flxed 
up, it Id be about four years before you had a hog fence. But when you 
got I t ; ,  you had a hog fence as long as you took care of It, because tha t  
hedge 1-asted, you know. 

But It also sapped the gromd. Well, you could count on losing from four 
t o  f ive feet  on each side of the hedge from your crop. So that's why hedges 
disappezed; E n  got t o  being greedy for  the land t o  farm, you know, and they 
pulled them. There was two miles and somthing of hedge on t h i s  eighty 
here when I got it and I s ta r ted  r ight  i n  get t ing r i d  of it. 1 had 11; 
flxed for  a hog fencc by putting In woven wire. They sold us woven wire 
about twelve Inches hI@l. That went i n  a t  the bottom of a fencc and the 
hedge was t i gh t  up above and that would turn hogs riat along. So, when 
I got tha t  a l l  out, then I had t o  dig holes and se t  posts. We s e t  posts 
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eight feet  apart .  Thattd be two post t o  the rod, you how, you'd have t o  
s e t ,  after having one t o  start with. And It was a b ig  job t o  fence the  
fmn.  

&. Did you use bois d r a m  poles? 

A. Yes. Yes. When I mved here, bois d ' w c  t rees  grew c l e w  around 
.Cmm out at the other side of the l o t ,  c lear  north t o  the rOM and then 
cleas  along the road t o  the edge of the y;ly'd here and then stxrted i n  
again a t  the ba rn  l o t ,  w c r k  on wtx;t t o  the end of there.  And they wew 
t rees  tha t  could be s p l i t  up and made in to  l o p .  I hired a couple of 
fellows, had them here most of' one winter and they got sne a thousand 
posts out tha t  winter. And 1 pald them ten cents a post and boarded 
them t o  @;ct t ha t  done. 

Q. And these large t rees  then were just hedge tha t  had been le t  go 
and grown up mound the house--as a windbreaker, I suppose. 

A. Some of them you could s p l i t  and sow of them you couldn't split. I 
mde them split what they could. Some of them you couldn't. Well, i f  you 
got a big one tha t  you couldn't split, why, you t r i e d  t o  use it fo r  a 
corner post because it could stand. a l o t  more pulling, you ]mow. 

&. Well, why couldn't you s p l i t  them? Because they'd be twisted? 

A. Yes. 

Q. The grab had twisted? 

A. They had been gnawed on by horses. Horses gnawed the barks off  of 
them. In the winter t im,  they were crazy for something t o  eat ,  you know, 
green s t u f f .  They would paw the bark off  of those t r ees  and t h a t  would 
&e what we use t o  c a l l  cat  faces on a t r ce .  If the bwk was injured on 
a t r e e  and the new bark grew, it made a cat face. Well, where you had 
cat faces you had trouble s p l l t t l n g  throu@ them. Always, because the  
wood b u i l t  I t s e l f  up tha t  way, cr isscross ,  you know. And you had t o  learn 
t o  handle your cat faces. Usually, we chopped through them i n  rmkhg posts. 
We'd chop r i @ t  thmugh tha t  cat face and then the wedges would s p l i t  al.1 
ri&t. 

&. Go on down through. And how long were these posts, each one? 

A. Six and a ha l f  fee t .  If I had some special  place, I ' d  have seven foot 
posts. But when they cleaned t h l s  l o t  out here fo r  me-last y e a  . . . 
Q. There's sorreone at  the door, slr . I ' l l  check. Excuse re. (tape turned 
o f f )  

EPIC OF TAPE 

ADDE?DA I?m 60 ( r e f .  p.  181) 

A. Every so often, you how, they'd l e t  a trce grow up. 

Q. YES. What was the purpose of tha t?  
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A. Well, W e  them posts. 

. Oh, I see, yes. 

A.  Theyt d grow t h e i r  own posts. A quar%er mil-e of fence, they'd mybe 
have for ty posts growing. 

Q. Yes, I saw the Frarlks g i r l  cut t ing a post out there.  

A.  They've never cut t ha t .  That's the orginalhedge. I expect t h e i r  
old granddad set; t ha t  out.  There used t o  be a h e d g  between me and the 
Long heirs  down hereJmd M r .  Bumet to ld  IW tha t  they was a woman corn 
out here and f i l e d  on those two pieces of land and she stepped off tha t  
section--just stepped it off ,  now--and put out a comer here and stepped 
another and put out a comer, and she only rrdssed s i x  fee t .  

Q Oh, TOY heaven's sake. When she homesteaded, you m%n? 

A.  Yes, sir! So then, when they got t o  surveying i n  here, why, when he 
bou@t t h i s  place, there was s i x  feet of tha t  land tha t  was on t h i s  s ide 
of the hedge. Well, ra ther  than have any trouble about tha t  hedge-they 
wanted it for  fence--he just  boumt the slxteen fee t  [up t o  the]  fence. 
Half an acre-or a th i rd  of' an acre-he bo@t up there and paLd them 
fo r  It and when I bought the farm, tha t  was 8. sepmate deed fo r  that  piece 
of pound. Well then, I sold it t o  Thomes  for  a road, finally, and so 
it was included i n  tha t .  I didn ' t  get anythlng o u h f  i t .  It took as 
much as I pt t o  fence the land,and so  on, on t h i s  side.  

Q. Yes. k t ' s  see. ( rcsms reading) "Q. Is tha t  where the m 
BOW Dtwc  fo r  Bois D'arc Township cam from?" 

Q. (reading) "A. Yes, they were raising bois d t  m c  up there.  Somc people 
did. 'I 

A. I don't know where that  nursery was but there w a s  one up there sowplace 
tha t  sprouted hedge and they werit there and bought t h e l r  l i t t l e  plants and 
se t  them out. I remember helping with one of the hedges that was north of 
the Gerlach place when we moved on it. The fellow cultivated it two or  
three years there-two yews,  1 think--and then he asked Dad i f  he would 
lay it for  him. That ' s what they called tha t ,  topping 1.t and f i l l i n g  it in, 
you know. And I helped do tha t  so I remmber Jus t  exactly what w a s  done. 
I had t o  go along and s ide it, t o  have a s t raight  s ide f o r  him t o  work by, 
you know. Cut off the lixnbs. And then he laid that  down and cut the top 
off of i t .  By the  time we Telt there,  t ha t  was a pret ty  fair  fence. And 
it would be bet;ter every year. 

Until  they got t o  f h d i n g  it was robbing s o i l .  They needed all the land, 
and then a l l  of t h i s  hedge was pulled. 'l'hls hedge along here, the girls 
would be be t te r  t o  have tha t  out of there,  a long ways, i f  they had it out, 
because I t ' s  a nuisance t o  them and t o  the hi&way. She'd had t o  cut out 
two t ~ e e s  and h i tch  on w i t h  her t r ac to r  and drag them d o w ~  t o  the holnsc, 
get them out of  the mad fo r  t h i s  o i l  business, just  now. But Granddad s e t  
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Bert A i l h m  

out thiis, l a i d  off t h l s  place, you know. And then, something' s kind 
of sacred about the t r e e  up there,  the  b ig  tree between here and the 
1"~hman placc up there.  Granddad s e t  t ha t ,  they know, posit ively.  And 
they wouldn t have a lhrk cut off  of it for  the  power l ine .  Power Une 
went on tha t  s ide of the road f i r s t  because when It cam i n  f r o m  the 
hard road there was Max Lee and then Orville Mlller and then Frankses 
and there was just two of us on t h i s  side of the road, the Beeler place 
and my place. So, they wanted t o  m the 1Zne where they'd have the 
leas t  lead-Ins, you know. ME. Franks wouldn't allow them t o  cut a 
1lmk off  of anything. 

Well, they worked with her all they could, the fellow tha t  was out here 
get t ing the right-of-way, and they drove I n  here one day and says, 'Wonder 
i f  some of you rcllows could have som influence wlth her?" I sald, "Well, 
I'm will lng t o  t ry .  1 don't know how much Influence 1'11. have, but I ' m  
wil l ing t o  try. And," I says, "you send Ben J;ohman down, too. " I said,  
"She has a l o t  of confidence i n  Ben. So Ben cam on down and we went 
down there.  We t o l d  her that  i f  she would l e t  it go through, we' d mke 
them take it over in the orchard where It was above a l l  the  t rees  and 
bring It down, and it was above tha t  hedge at tha t  tine. So, she signed 
the papers then and l e t  it e;o through. But afterwards she thought as 
much of it as  the rest of us. They wan1 t any mre trouble about it after 
It was once established. 

Rut she wouldn't r ide i n  a car. Well, I 've  t r i e d  picking her  up i n  the  
ca r  when she Id be walking. She Id I.ight out and walk. She Id w a l k  c lear  
over t o  Raymond. One day I seen her going down the road and I was going 
down the road t o  the corner anyhow. I could take her a mile. I stopped 
the car  and I said, "Get in,  Mm. Franks, and 1'11 take you on down. " 
"No, sir1 You go r l @ t  on. I ' m  af"raid of them." (laughter) 

Well, her  husband f h a l l y  dled. The older boy had worked fol: me and he 
cam horn, he was just out of the Arrry, and he came home t o  the-I don't 
believe he w a s  out of the Amy, I think he got leave-and he caw home, 
anyhow. So, I took him t o  one s ide and I says, "Now, Murray, what we 
going t o  do about your mother?" I sald,  "This has got t o  be an automobile 
funeral because there i s n ' t  enough carriages and buggies in the country 
t o  haul the people any mre. It 'll have t o  be an automobile." I said, 
"What about i t ? "  And he says, " W i l l  you l e t  m take your em?" And I 
says, "Abs~lutely. '~  'Well," he says, "1'11 take care of' her then, don't 
you womy any f7nther." So he took q y  car and went down. She got In,  
wlth him as a driver.  And from tha t  time on she wasn't afraid of It. 

But she was a Scotch lady. Her father  and m t h e r  were fill-blood Scotch. 
She waz! Scotch and she had her  superstitrlons, you bow. Oh, a l l  of these 
s ips .  They planted everything in the moon, and so on. But a mighty f ine  
neimborl You couldn't beat her f o r  a nei@or, that's a l l  there was t o  it. 
And her old mother before her  was-I couldn't understand her at all ,  her 
mother. She talked Scotch, you know, those long br r r s  on i t , m d  I couldn't 
understand her; but she w a s  a good nei@bor jus t  the sm. 

Q. Well, they were l iv ing  there when you came up here, then? 

A. Oh, they w e r e  l iv ing  here-my father-in-law worked Tor him as a boy. 
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Worked f o r  Mrn on the farm up here after--he proved ahead of l o t s  of 
people. He  was a g o - ~ t t e r ,  you know, fo r  work and get t ing things done, 
and so on. 

Another thing tha t  I wanted t o  rention. When he mde his  w i l l  he had, 
I think, four children. Two g i r l s  and two boys, If I mmerrber r igh t .  
And he gave each one of them seventy-five acres of land. And i n  doing 
tha t ,  he made a deed on one flve-acre s t r i p  from the land, If it was a 
way up there a q m t e r  of a mile away, you know, down t o  the road. They 
couldn't anybody be fenced in. He flxed tha t  so no matter how m n y  rows 
they had over land or  any fence l incs  o r  anything, there s t i l l  was an out- 
l e t  fo r  each famn. And I t h o w t  tha t  was long head. 

Q. Yes, slr. 

A.  Long head. 

A. . . . and foxes. 1 didn't mntion tha t .  

Q. No, s ir .  

A. Well, there were. Foxes were there,  too.  That's not necessary, 
though. Foxes and coons were both bad f o r  chickens. Gpossm, especially, 
because they could get throum places you just  wauldn't believe at a l l ,  as 
big as they were. How they could get i n to  a henhouse. I rernerrber the 
girls k i l l ed  one down hese just a few years back and they hunted and hunted 
and hunted t o  see where tha t  burger got in. He was i n  the her how^: W ~ W I  

the dog t reed him and they went out and got hold of him and k i l l ed  h i m .  
They hunted and hunted m d  hunted and they f ina l ly  found tha t  the @lvinized 
roof on the northwest corner had two na i l s  out and tha t  burger had found 
that  and pushed It up like tha t  and scooted under. ( la@ter)  Clhbed 
down in there and k i l l ed  a hen. And he was eating it rimt thepe lxi the 
henhouse. 

ADDFNIA ITEM 82 (ref. p. 182) 

Q. Yes, sir .  

A. Like blackbbds. And there ' s  a place In South America o r  Central America 
tha t  they had t o  go through a muta in  pass down there and those people down 
there had no gam laws and the fellows would line t ha t  pass on both sides and 
they f ina l ly  k i l l ed  ,all of them of f ,  just cleaned them up. I've seen jus t  a 
f e w  come through, three or  four i n  a bunch, and stop o v e r n i a t  i n  a t r ee ,  
you how. They were just  about the s lze  of a dove, but different  color f'rom 
a dove. They're more l ike  a pigcon i n  color. 

SIDE TWO 

A. It was - power, too. Boy, oh, boy. I was talking t o  Nel last nlght.  
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It w a s  sixch a wonder t o  me tha t  they dldn' t have more wrecks. You know, 
they had those b i g  locomotives 2nd tha t  was beforc they got this b lg  
heavy s t e e l .  And those passenger t r a ins ,  those f a s t  passenger t ra ins ,  
especrlally the  Kansas City Flyer tha t  cam out of Detroit and went c lear  
in to  Kansas City, they had drive wheels tha t  were "caller than head 
when I stood beslde them. So, they must have been sevewfeet wheels. 
Well, you know when tha t  went over, tha t  was twenty-one fee t .  And they 
were not slow mving e i ther ,  I ' m  t e l l i n g  you. He'd go through there-- 
t h r o w  Honey Bend--sometlms a t  sixty-five o r  seventy mlle an how and 
pick up a d l  sack. How on ear th they kept Worn tear ing them In two, 
I never could see. But they'd gmb tha t  mil and away they'd go. 

Q. S i r ,  I was wondering. I n  Honey Rend there, there ' s  a m l n  road tha t  
comes i n  f r o m  the  hi&way. Where w a s  the depot i n  w l a t l o n  to t ha t  mil- 
road crossing there? 

A. It was jus t  south of it. The platform reached up t o  the hlgslway and 
the depot was just  about rrddtway of the platfomn. 'Lhe pla t  farm was about 
as long as, oh, well, I expect a block long, an ordinary block--1 man a 
l o t ,  a hundred or  a hundred f i f t y  f ee t .  And it w a s  nade wlth bridge tinbers. 
You know, they got e l a t  by sixteen white pine tlrrbers t o  make culvelrt;s 
out of .  They were tha t  hi@, you see,  and e i m t  inches across. Wcll, as 
quick as one of them st,wted decaying any way, well, It was the bridge and 
building man's Job t o  get tha t  thing out of there,  because it was l i a b l e  
t o  break under a t r a l n ,  you know. And they'd bring them down and rrake 
p la t  forms of them. They ' d put them about tha t  f a r  apart and then f i l l  i n  
with rock . . . 
Q. About three o r  four fee t  wide. 

A. . . . and you s m  had a wonderful platform. You could sun trucks over 
it, you know, as good as you could boards. 

8.. Was tha t  on the east  o r  the west s lde of the railroad? 

A. West s ide of the tracks.  I was thinking t h i s  mrnlng about-I helped 
pick up a fellow one t im In a scoop shovel. 'Ihe milk t r a i n  came tn there 
at 8:15 a.m.  and he was usually pret ty  regular. And thls Detroit early 
t r a in ,  they was an early t r a i n  came out of Detroit ,  too, n d e r  5 would. 
No, lt w a s  n&er 3, m d  hc was two h o r n  l a t e  tha t  mming .  It was  a zero 
morning and t h i s  old fellow lived down the track about a hundred y w d ~  and 
he always walked up the track t o  the depot and cut off  t o  the post off ice 
and get h l s  rr~ll.. 1.1~ had got a brand new watch, was very pmud of :It, and 
he and the postrraster compared t l m e  while he w a s  up a t  the post off ice.  
Well, he cam down and Instead of walking r imt s t r a i @ t  down the s t r ee t  and 
get t ing on the platform, he cut off behind two c z s  t o  get out of the wind- 
freight cars wese se t t ing  there--to get out of the wind--there was a strong 
northwest wind--and he walked down u n t i l  he was rimt Frl front of the window 
and he stepped out on the track. Well, t h i s  nunber 3 w a s  coming down there.  
The mllk t r a i n  had sidetracked, you see, and l e t  them pass and he thought It 
was the milk train and he knew it would stop. He never looked back. The 
enpjncer says, "He never looked, he just walked r l @ t  i n  front of rw . " He 
says, "I couldn't reach the whistle or b e l l  or a thing, I ' d no thhg  t o  do but 
jus t  h i t  him at f u l l  speed. Wcll, " he says, "I Looked back after I hit him 
and I seen him come out under the th i rd  car." So he stopped his t r a i n  as 
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quick as he could and backed up and I says, 'What's the matter?" He 
sws , "I k i l l ed  a man ri&t there jus t  a whlle ago. " Well, 1 knew who 
it w a s  imedia te ly .  That old fellow, you know. 

So, a f t e r  the t r a l n  l e f t ,  why, I called the c o m r  and to ld  hlm what 
had happened and he says, "Well, go ahead and pick up what you can of 
him and put it i n  the  *eight house so tha t  it w i l l  a11 be together so  
an under takr  can get it." So we  got scoop shovels. They was about 
two Inches of snow on the ground and it w a s  below zero tha t  morning and 
when he was cut up, a l l  tha t  meat froze as qulck as it h i t .  These wmn't 
any blood showed anywhere and the t r a i n  had went rlght . . . cut tha t  
h e e  off there cut t h i s  l eg  off  here, cut t h i s  part of his body a11 
t o  pleces. This arm w a s  l e f t ,  this one was gone, but hi.s face wasn't h w t ,  
he looked p l d  natural.  So, a l l  of that r e s t  was scattered zound, you 
know, the tendons held a l l  of these things tog&her. We took a l l  of tha t  
i n  together, you know. And then we took scoop shovels and picked up the 
chmks tha t  had cut of f .  

That new watch he had was  knocked out of the case. It h i t  a fence post 
and the works went out of the case. It was a screw-bevel case and the 
works were laying over here s i x  feet  from the case. 

running, you m,m? 

A. I don't think so, it was done for ;  but what a blow that, was, now, t o  
take tha t  out of a screw-bevel case, you how. Scattered her there-and 
tha t  was the f f r s t  t h e  I had ever seen h m  f lesh frozen. And tha t  looked 
just  l i k e  mutton, exactly. He was rather  fleshy and it just  looked l i k e  
mutton f a t  we w a s  picking up. We picked up two scoop shovels f l ~ l l .  

&. Wherc was the post off9.ce in re la t ion  t o  tha t  crossing? W a s  it west 
o r . . .  

A. Well, it was  jus t  about a, block east  and on the nor%h side of the road. 
The old bullding is  there yet,  but i t ' s  a wreck. And the m9.n tba t  was the 
p o s t m t e r  l ived acmss the s t r e e t  on the other side, on the south side. 
And he ran a l i t t l e  s tore .  He had bacon and ham and . . . kept bread. He 
got bread at cer taln times, you how, fo r  people. There w a s  very l i t t l e  
bread bought those d a y s ,  you know. People baked t h e i r  own. But then, they 
did get it In. A basket a week of bread. And he kept s w r  by the bamel  
and s a l t  by the hundred and so on, you know. When I got married, I bought 
a basre1 of sugar of him and hc sold it t o  E at cost because he mew I 
knew what it cost.  Became all those b i l l s  would come in, you lonow, col lect  
before you deliver.  And I seen what everthing cost and he knew I knew what 
it- cost and he says, 'Well, 1'11 jus t  charge you a quaxter for  tha t . "  Just 
charged me a quarter fo r  three hundred pounds of sugar. (laughter) And I 
:rolled tha t  bar re l  home. I rol led it up t o  the post off ice arld then rol led 
it block fur ther  north t o  where I lived. (lams) We set it i n  the comes 
of the kitchen and used out of it f'or about four gears. 

$ . Oh, r r ~ y  goodness, it lasted four years . ( l a m s  ) Gee whlz . 
A. But those were ancient t i rr~s,  you know. Th ine  was so dlffercnt .  And 
then, they was an old--I think 1: t o ld  you about the old fellow tha t  had So 
much fun out of r r ~  with a h u n d ~ d  dol la r  bill. Dld I? 
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Q. No, sir. 

A. Well, there w a s  an old G e m  tha t  l ived down at EWaradsvil.le and he 
carre up there one t im.  I don't know how he care t o  come but he did, 
anyhow. He hew it was a good milk s ta t ion  and a l o t  of f m r s  come t o  
town there and he decided i t ' d  be a good place fo r  a p c e r y  s t o x  and t o  
m e  a g ~ n e r a l  s tore  of i t ,  dry goods and, oh, he kept pract ia l ly  everything, 
you know, and cigars, tobacco, pipes and so on, He put i n  so& of a general 
stom. Well, he shipped a l l  of tha t  s tu f f  up in l e s s  than a carload. It 
was a half  a carload but  h i s  %eight bi l l .  was thlrty-two dollars,  as 1 
remenber it now. And, of course, t ha t  w a s  billed col lect  for  delivery. 
So I t o l d  him I ' d  have t o  have the money and he says, 'Well., I !mew you 
would. So," he says, "I come prepared." 

He l a i d  down a hmdred dol las  b i l l  there.  I said, "Now, you how I can ' t  
break tha t  i n  hcrc. I don't take i n  over thWty dollam a week off of t icke ts  
and what express I had." 1 says, "I can't b x g k  tha t .  You break tha t  up 
and then come i n  here and I t l l t a k e  care of It." Well, he didn't t r y  t o  
get it broke up. He just went ahead having fun out of me. He cow in 
every week, you know, lay tha t  down, he ' s ready t o  pay h i s  f se i@t  bJ 11. 
( lau@ter)  And then he 'd  lau& a t  rw , you know. 

And so they was 3n old fe1l.m had a contract t o  put i n  a bypass for c a t t l e  
i n  t h i s  Crawford land, up north of the town there.  He had a bunch of men 
under contract t o  scoop out tha t  passageway and then build up a concrete 
w a l l  and make a concrete bridge over it so the c a t t l e  could go through. 
Oh, I don't know what it cost; him, but I know he loafed amund the depot 
qui tc  a b i t  and he was standing there one day when the old man come i n  and 
he heard what I sa id  and he said,  "What's the matter, Agept?" And I says, 
"Well, t h i s  man's got a hundred dol lar  b i l l  here and thirty-two dol la r  
f e i g h t  b l l l  and he s hav'intr, a l o t  of fbn out of IE . He won1 t get it broke 
up. I know he can because hc goes t o  Mtchflcld.  " And he sap,  'Well, l e t  
me see that . ' '  He  walked over and picked up the hundred dollar b i l l  and 
reached i n  h i s  pocket here and pulled out e i m t  hundred dol lars .  (laughter) 
Did he spoi l  tha t .  ( l a u g ~ t c r )  He says, "Now, what's h l s  f'refght bJ.ll?" 
and he paid rn and then he paid him the r e s t  of It, you how. (laughter) 

Q Kind of showed the old rran up then. 

A.  Oh yes, tha t  joke w a s  ended. ( l a m t e r )  

Q. Were you holding a l l  of t h i s  f'rel&ht all tha t  the? 

A. No, I l e t  him put it i n  the s tore ,  of c o m e ,  because I mew he was 
go- t o  be a c i t izen  and he impressed r r ~  as an honest man. But he was 
j us{, having fun out of mc , you know. (laughter) And that--1 guess tha t  ' s 
the only hundred dol lar  b l l l  1 ever had put in rr@ face.  No. No, when I 
went t o  Litchfield t o  work nights there,  I sold t i cke t s  clear across the 
ocean. I got: l o t s  of hmdred do l lw  b i l l s  then, Takes three or  four or 
f ive  of them, you know, t o  buy a steamship t icke t  and rai l road t i cke t  and 
all. 

Q. Ycs, sir. 
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A. I t h b k  they used the steam twice. I think they had a way of 
exhausting the fYont engine Into the reas pressure of steam t h a t  
they had there because, boy, it somded l i k e  something took hold 
whenever he sh i f ted  tha t .  I never rode one but you could t e l l  
the instant  he sh i r ted  that  over because, boy, there was power 
developed. 

A D D m R  85 (ref. p. 186) 

A. That day there w a s  a wrcck on the B&O [ B a l t F m o ~  and Ohio Railroad]. 
Now, the B&O took off a t  1,lt;chfield and used the New Y~rk Central track 
part, way mt i l  they went out thmu& T a y l . o ~ l l e  and angled out t h r o m  
the country. I don't know where they did go. But they had a wreck and 
blocked everything and the only way they could get back on t h e i r  track 
was t o  get t o  Taylorv3lle. They'd go around the wrcck. And so we 
handled a l l  t h e i r  t r a lns  tha t  Qy i n  addition t o  the Wabash t r a ins .  
Every t i m e  you take a foreifp t r a i n  on you have t o  put a p i lo t  on, and 
so they called pract ical ly  a l l  the experienced brakemn tha t  they could 
spare out of Decatur and had them down a t  U tchf Ie ld  t o  load them on as 
p i lo t s  t o  drive tha t  up t o  Taylorvl.lle, you know. And thcy ' d get the 
orders and  ad them t o  them arid they'd obey according t o  what the Wabash 
said,  you know. So, tha t  was the day, tha t  was the tim they was so rrany 
went on IQI schedule, twenty-foura t r a ins .  And tha t  was thc buslest  day I 
ever had in a .life. 

Q. S i r ,  wonder i f  you could help me straighten out som of the  abbrevi- 
ation. Now, CB&Q, what did tha t  stand for? 

A. Chlcago, Burlington and W c y .  

Q. I see. And B&0 war; Baltimore and Ohio, wasn't it? 

A. That's r ight .  

Q. What would the B i g  4 stand for?  

A.  Big 4 was just the New York Central branch tha t  came out of . . . I 
guess it carre out of Cincinnati and it was called Big 4 from there on but 
it w a s  a New York Central l ine ,  and t h e i r  t r a lns .  But that went t h r o w  
IJ tchf ie ld  and on down t o  Homby and c l e w  on down t o  Alton. Went down 
through Gillespie and on around and ended at Alton. And tha t  rm two 
t r a ins  a day. They d take a mixed t r a in ,  a passenger and a f m l a t  t r a i n  
combined, and they would pick up a l l  the way, f reight ,  down and then they 
turned m u n d  down there.  They would deliver it down there at Alton on 
t h e i r  min l ines ,  see, whatever l i n e  It was t o  go on. And then they'd 
start back and pick up agi in and take them in to  Mattoon. 

Mattoon was  a division polnt a t  tha t  t h  f o r  the S t .  Louis division. 
That's why r r ~ ~  brother worked there so long. Be worked there as a trailn 
dis t r ibutor ,  oh, well, they called h h  in--World War I1 started-and said, 
"You have got t o  take one of two thilnp; you've got t o  be a dispatcher o r  
youlvc got t o  take the car desk." He says, 'Well, I'll try dlspatching 
but I don't t h M  I can do I t . "  And they said they were pret ty  sure he 
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could and they put him on and he t r i e d  it two days and he says, at the 
end of the two days he says, "I couldn't hardly ea t  o r  sleep, e i ther . "  
He said,  "It w a s  just too b ig  a s t r a in .  So I to ld  them I ' d  take the 
car distr ibut ing desk." He went over on that and he handled tha t  a11 
through tha t  w w ,  handled all. those soldiers .  

He handled so ld ler  t r a ins  by the dozen, you mow. They'd come out of 
Detroit, and they'd come out of' Chicago, and out of Cincinnati, a l l  of 
the Fst, you how, heading fo r  the West Coast t o  take ships f o r  wherever 
they were going. And they'd c a l l  h i m  in--the g o v e m n t  would call him 
ln to  Washington, [D.C. 1, oh, orice every three months, anyhow. They'd say, 
"Load up a l l  your books and come in to  Washington on a cer tain date." 
Well, of c o m e  it didn't  cost him anything. He got a pass, got h i s  mals 
furnished and a l l .  Even h i s  hotcl  b i l l .  And he would take h i s  books and 
go In  and he'd l.ay them d.owri Lher'e 'In f-ror~t of those fellows tha t  wer-e a t  
the head of handling the llmly. They d say, "Now, why did you do t h i s ?  
Why dled you do certaln things?" Held say, 'Well, t o  expedlte mtters. 
I could get n m  across faster by doing tha t .  " 'Wel.1, t h a t ' s  okay. 'I He 
sa id  he never got rawhided a single  time. They a l l  a p e d  t ha t  he used 
exact rimt judg2nent i n  hurrying the men across t o  get them i n  stiipboard. 

He to ld  them tha t  he was going t o  work un t l l  they made him qui t .  And I 
says, "We11., t h e y ' l l  surely do it when you get t o  be 70 years old." And 
he says, "Well, we '11 just  s w .  I' Well, he worked u n t i l  he was 72 and then 
they to ld  hlm he had t o  qul t ,  because 65 was retirement age, you mow. 
Well, he'd pi led on m r e  salary a l l  the time, so he gets a pensiton of some- 
t;hing l ike  four hundred a mnth  by being on there a l l  t ha t  t b ~  and handling 
r.espons1ble J obs . 
&. Boy , tha t  I s  a long t i m e  with the  railroad. 

A. Wel.l., I tau&t him. I taught one of the r i~ l&bor  boys S i r s t  and he 
made a tele@;ra@ operat;or,and then I taught George and then I taught ny 
younger brother, and they a l l  were at work when rqy father  died. I called 
George and nly younger byother horn f o r  the fbneral. Then, Mother was going 
t o  be l e f t ,  you how, with the famn and so on and I to ld  my younger brother 
tha t  I wished he would stqy home and run t h i n g  fo r  a whlle. So he did. 
He gave up telegraphing ent i re ly .  He soon married and lived--but he was 
i n  reach of home a l l  the time t o  help out. My bmther  next t o  me w x  
therc at horn but I fell; l i ke  he needed t h i s  younger fellow t o  help out. 

Pi* C-H-I-N-K-I-N. 

Q. Yes, s ir .  (resms reading) 'Wasn't t ha t  p las te r  tha t  they called it 
was like chunks of pl-aster t o  close the holes between the logs?" Now tha t ,  
l i k e  . . . 
A. That harden just l i k e  p las te r .  
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Q. Yes, sly. What you sa id  ri&t then, you see, 1'11 footnote and 
put it In here t o  explain tha t .  

A. Yes, tha t  w a s  called chinkin. You had t o  chink between logs and i n  
the buLLdj.ng of a building of that kind, thcy cndeavo~ed t o  hew two s ides  
of' these logs, top and bottom, so that  thcy would f'it as near together as 
t hey  cou:l.d. And then Lhuy cut t h e m  so that  they woul.dn't, be too big a space 
bctwccn t h l s  log and the othcr one. Well, then they put pieces of t i h e r  i n  
between them, pushed it .in or &rove it in, any way to mxke it stay,  mil then 
chink f r o m  the outside t o  tha t .  And tha t  way you had the w h d  shut out. 

They rea l ly  were a warm house because they were b u i l t  d i rec t ly  on the 
ground. We had bowd f loor  but then It was dlrect ly  on the p u n d h  This 
day it ' d be eat up by teumites but they didn ' t  bother us In  them days. 
A t  the time tha t  we tore  it down, why, the logs were sti l l ,  a lot of them, 
good logs, mod t b b e r .  It was mde out of oak. Practically,  all. together, 
black oak and pin oak, and f a i r l y  straiat t rees .  

I ' d give anythlng i f  1 had a picture of i t ,  But, you know, they wasn ' t 
any c a r a s  in the country those days. The only way you got a picture 
then was s o w  fellow coming thr-.ou@l and you always had t o  pay for it and 
r i s k  him sending you the pictures and so on, so we never did get a picture 
of tha t  cabin. 

ADDENDA ITEN 87 (ref. p. 193) 

A. I think they just  had it geared beyond those squeezers. Just run 
t h e i r  sod . . . you see, they'd have t h e i r  horsepower p e m e n t  fo r  
tha t ,  wouldn't have t o  move it mound. So they could aaust tha t  t d l e  
rod, as I cal led It, so that  it 'd f i t  In a bevel gear and go I.@ here and 
t u m  those three.  Those were i ron  r o l l s  about tha t  b i g  around m d  . . . 
Q. Almost a foot. 

A. . . . about tha t  long . . . 
Q. Two fee t  long. 

A. . . . and you'd take a b ig  handrul of cane and shove i n  there and it 'd 
go through. I t ' d  corn out on the other s ide,  I t ' d  pract ical ly  be dry. I ' d  
take it a l l  out of It. Then tha t  pumlce, as they called it, was the best  
thlng we could get t o  roof hog houses or chicken houses, o r  mything tha t  
you wanted t o  put a straw roof on, you used that stuff. It would last f o r  
years and it 'd turn water be t t e r  than straw. 

&. Oh, I s  t ha t  r i & t ?  

A.  Yes. I don't know why but I t  mde the best artificial roof .  The cane, 
you know, has a hard she l l  on J.t and I suppose that  was it;,because it would . . . 
it sure mde wonderful roofs. 

Q. You used a regular thatching technique when you made your roof? 

A. Tacking? Oh, we just  put up r a f i e r s  and then put boards along, oh, say 
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two fee t  apart; up the r a f t e r s  and then just p p  t o  a thrming t h i s  s tu f f  
on and p i l e  it up and then get; it up so tha t  it was a l l  over here and 
over here. And i t ' d  shed water Jus t  f lne.  

Q. Did you t i e  it down i n  my way o r  wei@t It down? 

A.  Dldn't need t o ,  That was the beauty of that .  Straw you had t o ,  but 
that  you didn ' t  have t o  t i e  down. It was  just tough eno& t h a t  it'd 
stay where you put It. I went throu& a s w  m i l l  i n  Florida, P~obably 
you have, too. 

Q. No, sir .  

A. And they run those stalks t h r o u a  eleven mills, eleven squeezers. 

Q. Oh, is  tha t  r lmt? 

A. Yes. They had them i n  a row down there over what looked l l k e  a creek. 
( l a u a s )  Concrete and It was running t ha t  deep In juice,  Just pouring 
out of them. When the cane got t h r o a  the eleventh one, it lit Fn the 
fireplace t o  f l r e  the boi le r .  And It was dry e n o w  tha t  they could push 
her ri@t in and burn it generate t h e i r  steam. 

Q. That was the fue l  fo r  the process? 

A. For the steam t o  run. the plant.  It did the cooking under the pans 
and It did the horsepower par t ,  the steam tha t  It generated. They S I ~ F ?  

had tha t  down pat. I was so surprfsed t o  see what a t e r r l b l e  stream of 
j d c e  there was there against t ha t .  Got down t o  tha t  eleventh one, you 
how, why, it had been squeezed out of every . . . every drop of it. But 
here where they mde molasses, it Jus t  went thro@ once. 

A. He sold tha t  t o  the grocers a l l  over the c o m t w ,  you how, barrels .  

Q. Yes, sir. WEIS thf s a p w t i c u l a r  place tha t  you would take It? 

A. Well, wherever they w a s  a m i l l .  They were different  Tellows ran mll ls .  
If a fellow did real well, he 'd  s tay I n  the business, you h o w ,  fo r  a while. 
But a l o t  of' t h r~s ,  fellows would just come and put up . . . They'd have a 
m i l l  and mve it fYorr some other part  of the country, you know, up there.  
Maybe they wouldn't be there over six or eight months. They'd disappem so-- 
you could just  hunt up a m i l l ,  tha t  was the s i z e  of it. F h d  out where it 
was and what day he could handle your s tu f f  and then you'd have it there.  

ENC OF TAPE 

ADDENDA ITEM 89 ( ~ f .  p. 200) 

A. I think tha t  I should mrition there tha t  those orders were  mde In 
t h ~ e s .  There was one fo r  the conductor and one Tor the engineer and 1 
~ t a f n e d  one, as evidence i f  anything went wrong. I ' ve  got the f i r s t  one 
tha t  I ever wrote but  I never thought about hunting it up. I 've got it 
amund here someplace. 
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Q. l'$ goodness. That would be real--I'd like t o  take a picture of 
that  o r  reproduce tha t  ror t h i s  . . . 
A. Well, 1'11 get it .for you. I 've  got it. I saw it not too long 
ago. I thou@, yesterday I ought t o  have dug out t h a h l d  shucking 
pee; and hook fo r  you, too, but 1' 11 get them. Now, I t  11 remnber t o  do 
tha t .  l'$ brother befng here kind of threw me off base there,  you how. 

But those--1 sa id  they were mdc I n  threes.  Now, In a reg i s t e r  office-- 
Litchfield was a reg is te r  offlcc--the conductor had t o  cow In there and 
regLster h i s  a r r iva l  and h i s  contemplated departwe I n  a book. 'Then you 
got orders fo r  mvemnts  fo r  mybe f ive o r  s i x  trains. You'd have t o  make 
them up i n  three,  s i x  o r  nine, and they w e r e  t i s sue  paper wlth carbon 
between and you had a s tylus .  It wasn't a pencil, it was a sharp piece 
of s t ee l ,  you know. You wrote through tha t  carbon and you'd glve t o  the 
different  t r a ins  tha t  came along, you know. A l l  of them had t o  s lgn  for  
tha t ,  a t  a place Uke tha t .  

Q. So a l l  the t r a n s  stopped i n  Lltchflel.d, then? 

A. Yes. Everything--oh, there w a s  times, l a t e r  on, t ha t  they ran through- 
f r c i @ t s  through. They wouldn't stop them. They called those highball 
f*rei&ts. They were mde up largely of ref'rigerator cars and [were] pack- 
ing s tu f f  from the packing house at S t .  Louis toward Chicago, you know. 
And those trains, they moved them on passenger schedules. 

Mimy times when they'd come througJ Litchfield,  they'd be m i n g  at a 
9 .  Trains were a l l  on nurber, you know, and they Id be running as nwrber 
94. Well, he'd glve rw a 19 and he'd say, "Nwnber 94, *om Ll'cchfield on, 
becores extra rimer so-and-so. I' I t  d hand 'chat up t o  them. I jw t  signed 
tha t  and signed the dispatcher's I n i t i a l s  t o  it. When he got tha t ,  then 
he put hls Tireman out and he put out a white f l ag  on each side of the 
front wherc the headlights were--or the blizzard lights were--up there.  
By the t im they Id get t o  'Raymond, he'd be running extra .  Well, he could 
run ri&t on ahead of 94's t h e  then, as the schedule was mde. He'd mu? 

extra and he Id take--oh, l o t  o.l' t-Irres, they ' d do be t t e r  than a passenger 
t r a i n  between Litchfleld and Decatur. 

Boy, they rea l ly  flew! And they'd put passenger tmlns in the ditch f o r  
them fcllows. Now, when I say i n  the ditch, I man in the switch; and they 
real-ly flew, them fellows. They had a p o d  passenpyr engine on there and 
probably about twenty-four cam and, rry , how they did run .  And you could 
pret ty  near alwqys count on one of them comlnp; in. It xnlght be rimer 1 o r  
nwnbcr. 2 o r  rider 3 of 94.  They ran so m y  sections of them, you know. 
If he come i n  there as th i rd  section of 94,  he went out as extra  So-and-so, 
whatever h i s  engine n&er w a s .  

Q. What was the difference between a passenger engine and a f'rei&t engine? 

A. Passenger engine cmried  four wheels on, four drive-wheels, while a 
freight carrled six. The passenger naturally could make more speed with 
them h i m  wheels, ton, you know. But even wlth those SIX wheels, a l o t  
of those fellows would do be t t e r  than s ixty.  I wonder they didn't have 
mre wrvecks, because they d ldnt t  have tha t  heavy s t e e l  they have now. Those 
fellows were dare devils,  a l o t  of those engheem,  you know. You gi.ve them 
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a chance and they'd r ea l ly  go i n .  

I remerrber one experience I had. The local  pulled ln to  Honey Bend 
and . . , he .had four minutes t o  mke Utchf l e ld  ahead of one of those 
94 ' s .  Meeting him there,  you know. And the dispatcher called me up 
and he says, "Is the engineer i n  there?" And I says, "Yes, he Is. " 

And he says, "Ask him If  he can W e  the north end of Litchfleld in 
four rrdriutes If I don 't make the order. Now, you t e l l  h h  t o  go ! l1 And 
I to ld  tha t  engineer and he rwi (I.au@s) and they was i n  the clexr 
when 94 came through. Four mlnutes ! F r o m  a s-banding stop,  now; he made 
her there and got 1.n the clear .  And the dispatcher says, "You'll have 
the order fo r  him tomorrow momiing. When he comes back as a local ,  you 
give it t o  him." And he went on my word, wlthout anythlng t o  go by, you 
know. But tha t  was a chance. They took an awful chance there,  Had any- 
thing happened, you mow, they didnl t have any order t o  show. 

Q. No record of i t ,  I: guess. 

A. No. But they just  took our2 word fo r  it and. went anyhow. 

Q. Si r ,  tha t  was on tha t  bad tape where you explahed tha t .  I can hem 
it, but not enough t o  transcribe i t .  Could you explain about the mney 
wlth the agent when you arrived up there a t  Strong? He had gone and l e f t  
t h e .  . . 
A. Well, you see, there was no safe  at tha t  place. And you sold mney 
orders. The post off icc couldn't sell mney orders and there was no bank. 
It w a s  a second class post off icc and they couldn't sell  mney orders. SO, 
we had expEss mney orders and I sold as hi& as $300 worth a f t e r  w time 
of work, a f t e r  twelve hours was up. I ' d  s tay on jus t  t o  accommodate the 
people in the neighborhood. I didn ' t  have anything e lse  t o  do, you know. 
I was learning a l l  the business. 

Well., he had stuffed a l l  of tha t  i n  his purse and took it with hb. I 
didnl t  blame him. He didn ' t  know who was going t o  cone there and they 
wouldn't have a chance t o  check us, check him out and check rn lyl, you see. 
So, he asked f o r  TIE t o  give him the amount of mncy I needed, o r  was due, 
and he ld send it back. Well, it took about four days and I was st111 @t- 
t ing  i n  mney by the handful. It was the sprilng of the year. People was 
orderlng feed md seed and tools  and everything. You know, S e m  Roebuck 
was something up i n  t h c r ~ .  

Q. Oh, is  tha t  r i & t ?  

A. (laughs) Oh, boy 1 You got Sears Roebuck o d e r s  and you got seed orders 
f'rorn seed houses. My goodness! Well, I sold them a l l  these express mney 
orders. Well, I had the cash. I 've  gone t o  bed, o r  gone up t o  rr!y mom of 
a nl&t,  with three or  four hundred dollars stuck i n  IT@ vest-pocket, you 
know. I didnl t 1lke it, but 1 couldn't help It. You had t o  take it. No 
safe. No nothing. And I never was bothered, Never was robbed or  bothered, 
at a l l .  
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Well., when--1 to ld  you about the schoolteacher taking; p i ty  on me, 
and the preacher. I ' d  been t o  church on Sunday evening and n e t t h e  
prcacher and he was a young m about my age but he was out of college, 
you see, and so w a s  the schoolteacher. Both of them s& men and 
both of them nice Christian m n  and they proposed they would cow 
down and s t r a i e t e n  it out. I stayed with them tha t  night until we 
got her s t raight  and I sent him i n  the b i l l  and he f i r e d  the money 
ri&t out. It c a m  by b a ~ a g e ,  you know. Didn't have t o  corn through 
express o r  anything. He jus t  sent It down t o  the depot and they handed 
it i n  t o  the baggage m and hc handed it off  t o  me. 

Q. What hospi tal  did he go to?  

A. Well.--Decatw. But that  . . . The big roast I got there--I think 1 
t o ld  you about; t ha t ,  "rhoz@~--was the cattle-feeder out from there.  

Q. Having t o  &kc out a l l  the waybills and Invoices? 

A.  Yes. Sixteen carloads! And there was one place tha t  I had t o  depend 
on the trainrwn fo r  ~ v w y t h i n g .  1 said,  "Now, you fellows get nae those 
car numbers. I've got t o  have a l l  them on the Invoice and," I says, "I 've 
got t o  t r u s t  you fellows fo r  the loading of what he says is  on there.  I 
can ' t  be out sixteen miles there and see them loaded, you know." Well, 
that  conductor tha t  took tha t  extra  t m i n  out there, he went out there 
and he to ld  m, he says, ''1 counted every s t e e r  tha t  went i n  there.  I '  He 
sqys, "He put In just  what tha t  says and," he says, "you can m k e  the 
b i l l  and feel  safe." So, I did because I--if one had been lef't out, It 
would have been a darmge claim, see.  Shodage. And tha t  was what I wanted 
t o  avoid. I never worked so hard i n  rny ].ire as I did. ?hose fellows were 
anxious t o  get on the road with the stock, you know. 1 was anxious t o  get 
them out of there.  (laughter) 

ADDENDA ITEM 9 1  ( ~ f .  p. 210) 

A. I think I ' m  mking a mistake i n  there.  Pevely gave tha t  milk buslness 
up when Lltchfield b e a n  t o  get; stronger. I want Litchfield t o  have a l o t  
of c w d i t  thew3 f o r  developing tha t  country. Tney were more responsible 
f o r  it than E'evely w a s .  Pevely s t a r t ed  tha t  and then the c r e m r y  company 
got enou@ stockholders t o  put i n  a l l  the equiprent they needed. They 
took it away from Pevely. Because they didn't have t o  ship it, see. They 
had it delivered r ight  t o  t h e l r  door. 

Q. Pevely was only i n  It a l i t t l e  while, then? 

A. Well, he was in a year, or mybe be t t e r  than a year, a f t e r  I l e f t .  
But then Litchfield soon made him pay fo r  what he w a s  agetting and he 
wouldnlt stand tha t .  He was a trlght one. He was one of the hardest mcn 
t o  deal with I ever had any dealings with. He didn't  reason at all. He 
just done what he wanted t o .  You couldn't t a l k  t o  him, t o  reason with him, 
i n  my  sense at a l l .  IIe jus t  wouldn' t do it. I-Ic just  was gohg t o  do t h i s  
way and tha t  was the way It was agohg  t o  be. Well, he found out, when 
Litchfield got the proper equipment, tha t  the  farmers was a11 glad enough 
t o  go over t o  Mtchfield and haul t h e i r  m i l k  r ight  i n .  That's what b u i l t  
the country, was the Utchf i c ld  Creamry, and I don't want t o  give the 
credl t  t o  Pcvely. 
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ADDENDA ITEN 92 (ref. p. 211) 

4. (Lnterviiewer reading out loud) ". . . and the Wabash i t s e l f . "  

A. And then, there w a s  the ITS [ I l l i no i s  Terminal Service]. The 
e l cc t r i c  had got in there by that  t im.  They was what caused the 
dol lar  t i cke t  sales .  They advertised tha t  they would take them down 
f o r  a dol lar ,  you lanow. Well, I know the old t icke t  agent wanted t o  
m e t  tha t  competition. I man my old agent there.  He wanted t o  m e t  
tha t  competition. So, he sent a telegram t o  the head t i cke t  of f lce  In 
St .  Louis and asked f o r  the chief clerk t o  corn L&. He wanted t o  go 
over tha t  with him and I ~rrember they spent; a whole afternoon aflgurlng 
on that proposition and the t i cke t  agent wouldn't go below a doll= and 
a quarter.. He says, "It's worth 25b t o  r ide i n  one of our trans instead 
of ridFng In one of those open cars l i ke  they . . . I 1  They were l i k e  a 
s t r ee t cm,  you know. 

&. Oh, is  tha t  right? 

A. Yes. And you'd ride t o  S t .  hu is  I n  tha t .  An open car  and no a i r  
conditlonhg, dust and everything coming In.  Of course, they was pulled 
by a t ro l l ey ,  you didn't  have an englvle o r  cinders. But he wouldn't corn 
below the  quarter. The agent t r i e d  h l s  best  t o  get hlm t o  and he couldn't 
do it, but it dldnvt  take very long u n t l l  he did come t o  it. He took the 
quarter off and gaxe us the dol lar .  Why, we mlned the ITS right quick, 

- 

too, because our t r a lns  were so  rmch m r e  cornfartable, you know, and fas te r .  

Q. That ITS, tha t  s the 111inoi.s TerTnlnal? 

A.  I l l i n o i s  Temninal, yes .  It was e l ec t r i c .  That was McKinley's--built 
t ha t  In there at tha t  tim. 

A. Yes. McKinley. I don't h o w  what McKinley he was but he was an e1cctri i :al  
fellow and he b d l t  the . . . from S t .  Louis t o  Lltchfield and then out t o  
Hillsborn. Then he went throu& Litchfield on up t o  Springfield and Sprlng- 
Meld w a s  the  tendnus  of it,and he hauled l o t s  of f'rel&t. He worked thmugh 
the country where the railroads dldn't rcach too easy, you know. He hauled 
l o t s  of f re ignt .  

Q That w a s  a l l  e l ec t r l c ,  then? 

A .  A l l  e l ec t r i c .  But it couldn't compete. It couldn't s t i ck  with the 
ra i lmads  because it w,as too expensive t o  keep up the track and a l l  of tha t ,  
you how, and then, I bet  tha t  cwrent cost hlm a mss of mney, too. 

But when they had the Chautauqua out between MtchfieLd Ifillsboro, they 
ram a t r a i n  each way every f i f t een  rnlnutes-or a car. Train each ww, o r  
a car  each way, every f i f t een  d n u t e s .  You'd go out on the interrudxn; 
i f  you didn't  want t o  s tay over a half  hour, you'd get a car back in f i f t een  
minutes . 
Q. Did tha t  run t o  ILillsboro also? 
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A. The same way porn Litchfield t o  Hillsboro. They'd twn them mound, 
you know. You could do tha t  fo r  354. That was a t i cke t .  So, IQI goodness, 
how they did gt business while those Chautauquas was on. They'd jus t  
have tha t  thing ahurmingl 

Q. He just  disappeared, huh? 

A. He @ve me three dol lars  in t e re s t .  I didn ' t  t e l l  t h a t .  

Q. No, SLY. 

A. Well, I forgot tha t .  He says, "I: want you t o  have three dol lars  
in te res t  ," and he handed it t o  rnz with the fifty.  

Q Well, t h a t ' s  a pret ty  good s tory.  Actually, there are four good 
s to r i e s  i n  t h i s  par t icular  session here. That first one about college 
and then you have t h i s  one about Sam Evans here and then the Chaslie 
Carnau's v i s i to r s  and then the $4 collection there.  ( l a w s )  

A. You're glad t o  have them, huh? 

Q. O h ,  yes, sir. Yes, sir. Those . . . as a matter of fac t ,  I was 
lclnd of' thinking, i f  I get some t l m e - I ' m  so  short on time here-but 
s o m e t l . ~  t h i s  f a l l  I thi.rk 1'11 take those four, the  tlrdng is jus t  
ahout ri&t on them, and see i f  I can't  mike them up for  that radio 
show. You know, make the four of them-introduce each of the  four 
s tor ies  and . . . 
A, Well., change t h e i r  n m s  .if you do. 

Q. Oh, you think I ought to?  Why? 

A. Yes, I belleve. They mlp,,t object.  (laughs) 

&. Oh. Is Charlie Carnau s t i l l  around? 

A. No, he 's  dead and, so f a r  as I mow, Evans i s  dead and Crawlbrd's dead, 
the rn t ha t  sold him the cow. Well, I guess they're a l l  dead but me. 
( laums)  But they l e e  re la t lvcs ,  you know; t h a t ' s  what I was thinklnp; of.  

Q. Well, I don't know tha t  there ' s  anythlng so rea l ly  bad i n  thew. 
Certainly not for the Crawfords and Sam Evans, h1.s family probably knew 
he . . .  

A. Oh, they're gne .  I 1 m s a t i s f i e d  he 's  dead. See, t h a t ' s  been . . . 
Well, I: quiit i n  1909, so . . . Well, how m m y  years Is that? That's . . . 
&. 1909? Well, that  's almost--about 70 yeam, a m s t .  

A. Well, you see, he 's  probably dead. 1--I've l ived so long I can't  keep 
t rack of time. 
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Bert AllanaYl 

&. Yes, I 've  noticed the dates i n  here. I'm going t o  s t a t e  tha t  i n  
the preface, you know, tha t  we '11 write f o r  t h i s .  In the beginning 
we s t a t e  things tha t  people ought t o  look for. Well, a couple of times 
i n  here--llke, I rernerrber one time we were ta lking about the bank and 
I asked you what time and you sald,  "Aw, t h a t ' s  a date," and then you 
said,  "Well, maybe it was mound 1918 or. it was rlat at the begginning 
of the kpress ion ."  We11 see, i f  I aler ted them in the preface tha t  
sometims the dates tha t  you say m I & t  not be j u s t  rimt, why, they '11 
catch tha t  a3 they read throum It, you see, and It won't  m e  that 
much difference. 

A. Well, that  was about C18190 . . . about . . . Well, tha t  was in 
the eighties yet ,  the bank stalrted at Wagomr. 

Q I think it was 1895, T believe. The date on the building Is 1895. 

11. Wel:L, I guess t h a t ' s  r ight .  

Q. Yes, tha t  bullding is quite a place. 

END OF SIDE ONE 

Q. No, Helen Lewis i s  down i n  Springfield, Missouri, and Q! wife has 
a bml;her down there so we go down t o  visit fa lc ly  often and Sadie went 
down with us here a while back. Sure enjoyed tha t  t r i p .  She is rea l ly  
wonderful t o  talk t o .  

A. She's had a l o t  of experience. She worked In t he  post off lce and i n  
the-well, two groceyy s tores  there,  as clerk.  I had a l o t  of confidence 
i n  her.  I f  she told you a thine;, you could bank on it. 

Q. Yes. Yes, she's a l o t  of help t o  everybody amund Wagpncr, 1'11 t e l l  
you. Slle . . . 
A. She i s  t o  the old folks.  She's the legs f o r  a l o t  of those poor old 
people. 

Q. Yes, she d ~ l i v e m  d l  every morning. Goes down and col lects  a bunch 
of mil for everybody. 

A. Yes, So, I l i k e  t o  do her favors, i f  I can. 

Q. Yes. Well, l e t ' s  see. We've got three mre of these basic  sessions t o  
go. So i f  we can work it out, I ' d  l i k e  t o  do that next Monday and Wednesday, 
If tha t  would be all r imt ,  and. then 1'11 probably have to hold off  about a 
week or  so before I go on with i t .  

A. There's the old shucking peg. 

&. Oh, qy goodness. 

A. But I couldn It find tha t  hook a t  al l .  I thlnk I 've given It away. And 
here i s  my authority.  
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Q. Oh? Well, f o r  goodness sakes. You wore t h l s  on your hat? 

A. On cap. It l a l d  here f o r  f i f t y  o r  sixty years, you know. And 
here 's  the train order. I gave you a wrong impression on tha t  traln 
order. 911s w a s  the f i r s t  t r a i n  order I ever delivered. I was gblng 
down t o  the towm t o  work one night and I stopped t o  see the agent I ' d  
learned under and he was n l a y h g  i n  h i s  seat  unable t o  si t  up. He had 
a s ick headache and he w a s  rea l ly  s ick and he says, "Ber t ,  t ha t  dispatcher's 
been cal l ing f o r  an hour. " He says, "For goodncss sake, get in there and 
m w c r  It." So, I went In and answered him and to ld  hlm the circumstances 
and he says, "Well, here, take t h i s  quick! 'I And tha t  was the train order. 
1 don't t h h k  you can read it, I t t  s faded t e r r ib ly .  

I Q. Oh, yes. (reads ) "Engine 71.9 w i l l  run extpa ahead of nwrber 94, 
( engine 713, HoneyBend tohca tu r . "  
I 

A. That there was f i r s t  94, coming in there,  but when he @t tha t  order, 
it changed It, you see. He was no longer on the t h e  t able as a train. 
He was an extra and h l s  f i r e m  had t o  run out and put on white f lags 
and white llgbts on the front of the engine and then the r e s t  of the way 
t o  Decatur, why, he was extra  s+and-so, you know, If there was any more 
orders, messages o r  anything. 

I 
And l a t e r  on I got that message at the tower, but tha t ' s  r ea l ly  the first 
order I ever handed up. Now, t h a t ' s  a 19,  and I handed tha t  up in a hoop. 

I 

Q. You know, I ' d  like to--probably what I ' d  best  do--I wouldn't want t o  
take t h i s .  What I ' d  best  do i s  bring camra and the 11.ght out and . . . 

! A. Let rre have tha t  plece of s h e l l  back. 

&. . . . 1Eiy those out . . . 
I 
I A. Wasn't there a she l l  back cover there? 

1 A. A cover. A l i t t l e  s h e l l  back cover. No, here, I 've  got it. 

I Q. (picks shucking peg) This goes on your left hand does i t ?  O r  
your r ight  . . . 

~ A. No, no. On youzl ri@lt hand. 

I Q. On your right. Ri@t l i k e  tha t?  

A. Now, you see how it fit over your glove and e m t h i n g .  You didn't 
I have t o  have bare hands and tha t  w a s  a late-invented peg. 

And the hook, I've just gearched everywhere f o r  it and I'm sa t i s f i ed  I 
1 g a v e i t t o s o ~ b o d y w h e n I q u i t u s i ~ i t .  ?"neycost 75&md~ornebody'd 
I bc g l a d t o g e t i t , y o u k n o w .  I ' l l k e e p t h e s e t h i n p .  

I 
I Q. All r ight ,  sir, J' f you woul.d, and I' 11 bring my c m m  out and I can 
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bring som white paper t o  I.ay those things on and take som plctures 
of them f o r  the  co l la te ra l  here.  

A. We can get whilte paper around here, I: think. 

. Yes, sir. Well, good. My golly. flnd that was your f i r s t  t r a i n  
order, huh? 

A. We1.1, when I went back t o  the tower and worked--that was early In 
the fall--and I worked the r e s t  of the winter and then c m  back t o  learn 
the agency pas t .  But by tha t  tim, you see, 1 was a pret ty  accomplished 
operator. ka rned  it in the tower and I: drew for ty dol lars  a month while 
I was adoing it. That, ls what the agent was working for ,  get t ing me on the 
payroll, you see. He got IE in the tower so I drew wages. 

&. Yes, sir. Well, I be t t e r  . . . 
A. Go ahead. 

12. . . . get t o  reading here. 

A D D ~ A  m 95 (ref.  p. 218) 

&. (Interviewer reading out loud) ' I .  . . there sixteen fee t  beyond tha t  . 
A. I t ' s  too l a t e  t o  change tha t ,  i s n ' t  I t ?  

Q No, sir. 

A. It drew four mds. 

9. Oh, 7: see. 

A. I mde a d s t a k e  in saylng f i f t een  fee t .  

. A l l  r igh t ,  sir. 

A. It rea l ly  d rew four rods because you put them eight rods apart and, 
you see, t h i s  one would draw hal f  of it and this one over here would draw 
ha l f .  So now, I wault; t o  correct t ha t  because t h a t ' s  bpor t an t .  

&. Yes, sir. An item I.ike tha t ,  I'll footnote Ilt and lndlcate the change 
f'rom tha t .  

Q. Who would tha t  be? 

A. Ed Beeler. He was a f m r .  He lived r ight  west of me here where tha t  
old shed is .  
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Bert Aikmm 

Q. I see. Just the other s ide of the fimks, then? 

A. Yes. Across the road. He w a s  a wide-awake fellow, a s o d  f m s .  
Held corn up hlmself Jus t  off of a farm, had never done anything e l se  
i n  h i s  l i f e ,  only farm. I had known h i r e h e  bad quit  School b e f o ~ e  I 
did,  qui te  a while. Fact, I never went t o  school with hlm. He w a s  
through before I got t o  go t o  school, but  I went t o  school With his 
brother. Arter he mved up here, why, he and I worked together l i k e  
two brothers, you &@l; say. rat along wonderful . I had known his 
wife when I worked over southeast of Raymond at a place--named Wylie, 
I thlnk I mentioned, tha t  ran the threshing machine. She worked there 
as a hired g i r l .  So, I Id known her  fo r  years, you see, before they 
were married and mved up here. 

He mved i n  here and bo@t 56 acres of land r lght  stra.i$nt west of us 
here and then he bought 40 1ayJ.n~ d i rec t ly  west of tha t .  He had seen 
the advantages of t i l e  and held t i l e d  the whole thing. I think he went; 
i n  debt f o r  a l l  tha t  t i l e .  He had mney t o  buy the land but I thlnk he 
went i n  debt for the t l l c .  I know he depended on me altogether t o  help 
him f i l l  those ditches, because when we 'd go t o  f i l l  t i l e  ditch, you took 
one horse on a plow and a man got behind and he had t o  straddle tha t  
di tch t h i s  way and hold that  plow on the  edge so tha t  it t m e d  a l l  of 
the dirt into tha t  ditch. You had t o  lead tha t  horse ri@t a l m g  that 
edge and it took somsbody tha t  would tend t o  t h e i r  buslness. He wouldn't 
l e t  anybody e l se  lead h i s  horses but me while he was f i l l l n g  ditches. 
One of h i s  horses was a r e a l  fool,  (laughs) but I could handle the 
old . . . 
9. What do you man he was a r e a l  fool? 

A. Oh, she was him-strung. Dldnl t w a n t  t o  hold back. %e wanted t o  go! 
When you s ta r ted  out, why, she wanted t o  tear out. Well, I had t o  keep her  
a t  a speed he couId walk at ,  at l eas t ,  t o  hold tha t  plow. 

Q. You had t o  go f a i r l y  slowly, I irragine. 

A. ditches had a l l  been f i l l e d ,  you know, ahead of m, I didn't  have 
any of tha t  t o  do here. That had been done ahead, but I knew how it w a s  
done. 

Q. Would it jus t  take one plowing t o  do tha t ,  o r  . . . 
A. No, you'd have t o  make about three rounds t o  a di tch.  Of c o m e ,  you'd 
get a l i t t l e  farther out each t h ,  throw over. Pkybe.yould have t o  go 
over here and then go and throw it in to  the ditch, d e  two tr;lps t o  make one 
co-ver, but weld get those ditches f u l l  and then you could cmss  them w i t h  the 
fmrn mchl.nery and go ahead and farm. 

He and I learned binders at the same time. We worked together on them. 
They were qui te  a corrplicated mchinery. 

Q. That was when you beet your binder, you mean? 

A. Yes. After I bought my binder. He had one. He had b o m t  one before 
he come up here. So, we worked together on keeplw those binders agoirg. 
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Bert A l k r r a n  261 

But what I wanted t o  t e l l  you was tha t  we were the very best of friends 
a l l  of those yeam. The peop1.e down below, tha t  were on the b ig  ditches, 
they decided they were not get t ing suff ic ient  dralnage. m e  ditches had 
growed UQ, o r  f i l l e d  up, you know, a L i t t l e .  'They took a vote of the 
d i s t r i c t  and voted t o  have a dredge boat corn in there and clean those 
ditches. Well, he was b i t t e r l y  opposed t o  t h a t ,  because all through h i s  
f i e lds  he had p a s s  on the sldes of those ditches and he kept them mowed 
with a scythe and he kept those ditches jus t  perfect through there and 
all of tha t  w a s  t o m  out and thrown up in h i s  flelds, you know, and he 
blamed IE fo r  p w t  of tha t .  I never could understand why, but he did. 
But I voted aminst it as much as he did. Didn't do any good. The other 
fellows a l l  out-voted us, but he wasn't my f'riend even a f t e r  that. He w a s  
a f u l l  blood Dutchmn. Ilardheaded, you know. 

$. They mved t o  Litchfield then, f ina l ly ,  didn't  they? 

A. Yes, he w m t  t o  Litchfield.  Finally he @t t o  where h i s  wLfe couldn't 
take care of him and he got so  near d m  tha t  she had t o  put him %r, a home. 
He died i n  a horn down there.  1 hated tha t  because he was such a good 
fellow while he was a f"ricnd of mine. 

Q. Yes, I ~mrrber Garnet Beeler, h i s  dawter .  

A. She was h i s  daughter, you how. 

. Very good friend of my m t h e r ' s .  

A. She used t o  go with us every place she could. 1 got a fks t  car  In 
here--what they cal led a car*-and she'd always go with us i f  she could, 
everything. So Gamet thou@ pret ty  ne,w &is nuch of my ~ I f e  as she did 
her mother. 

I used t o  get such a kick out of her. She'd cow down-if we were going 
someplace at  might, she'd corn down and ea t  supper wfth us. She'd s e t  the 
tab le  while wife was finishing off  the wal,  you know, md (la@s) I 'd 
be s i t t h g  i n  here t rying t o  look over the paper a l i t t l e  while and she'd 
start talking t o  herself ,  l i ke  her mother dild when she did anything down 
horn. WOW, Garnet, be  careful of tha t  glass. Don't you drop it ," (laughter) 
Everything she done, she'd imitate her mothel', you know. She mew she was 
t ick l ing  me t o  death. ( l a w t e r . )  Oh, boy. We used t o  have l o t s  of fun 
that-a-way . 

Garnet, you la?ow,was a in fan t i l e  paralysis.  The first one I ' d  ever seen. 
She had one l eg  tha t  she pret ty  near drug. 

Q. Oh, is  tha t  r ight?  I dfdn't know tha t .  

A. Yes. 

&. Wel.1, l e t ' s  see. Gct back . . . 

A. Ben hhmn did, east of n~ here. mere  was a number of cattle-feeders 
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around. Tuff Lohrr!an fed som,  too. Chaslie Long's f m ,  down there,  
usually had c a t t l e  on, too. And then there w a s  people namd Rovey :i.n 
the north part  of the township that; were cattle-feeders and there was 
another family up there tha t  . . . Oh, what was t h e i r  n m ?  

&. Were the Thomes  s t i l l  there at tha t  tlme, up north of Farmersville? 

A.  Well, I didn't how anything about him. Only tha t  he had t ha t  park 
up there.  He had a park, you know, and used t o  have wild mlml$ i n  It. 

Q. Oh, he did? 

A.  Yes. When I f i r s t  cam up here, he jus t  had disposed of the bears. 
They clawed a fellow up, but he had some deer and antelope and such things 
az that  up there yet ,  when I moved up here. Well then, he got tangled up 
with the I . C .  Rallroad as they come t h r o w  there.  I never could learn 
the particulars of that, but they broke him. 

Q. Oh? 

A. Yes. There was crooks got hold of him and broke him and he had t o  
s e l l  tha t  good farm and get out and I think it k i l l ed  him. I don't know 
what did become of him. I think tha t  t he  worry and all jus t  k i l l ed  him 
because he dlsappeazled. and that f m  went Into .other hands. 

Q. I ' d  heard of holding picnlcs there at the park. Did you attend 
any up there? D1.d you go t o  that  park? 

A.  No. I never went t o  the p i c d c s  but I was on the pounds one time 
and looked around. Just--1 don't know how I corn, whether-lt d g h t  have 
been a t  one of the picnics, now. Maybe I drld go f o r  a l i t t l e  while and 
walk around. I c m l t  r e ~ m b e r  for  sure. But I ' d  been on the grounds, 

There was one thing I always did want, was t o  see inside of tha t  house, 
It was the first r e a l  classy house b u i l t  i n  th i s  parrt of the country, you 
know. D r .  Hayes used t o  keep an of.tlce girl there in F m r s v l l l e .  
There w a s  a family living up in tha t  house and famrhg the land and one 
o r  the g f r l s  w a s  p w n  a1d I I q y ~ s  p t  her f o r  an off ice girl1 and a bookkeeper, 
you know. I krmw one chg I went up there and he wasn'i; there and I cays, 
"You know, I 've  always had a Lerrilb1.e hankering t o  see tha t  house." And 
she says, 'Ve1.1, come up. 1'11 show you throu& it. She says, 'We 'd be 
glad t o  show you through i t .  But," she says, "you'd sure be dlsappolnted 
i n  it. I' I says, "Why?" She says, "It ' s the awf'ulest thing t o  heat t ha t  
ever w a s  b u i l t .  There's an open stairway @es f r o m  here t o  there, jus t  an 
open one, and a l l  the heat goes up it." She says, "You can't keep the place 
warm t o  save your l i f e ,  even i f  it is a brick house." And I never went t o  
see it. 

I remerrber I had a sore throat and I' d go up t o  Ilayes whenever I' d s t a h  
t o  get a sore throat .  He d t r&~ iodide of sllver and swab it and tha t  
would be the end of the sore throat ,  you l-a?ow, just  one swab. I to ld  her 
I ' d  come u$ f o r  a swab and I said,  'lI-Im soon w i l l  Doc be back?" She says, 
"Land, I don' t know. " I says, "You ,go get the swab and swab t h l s  out. I' 

"Oh, rny land," she says, "I can ' t  do tha t .  " I says, "You can, too, Now, 
you get tha t  swab and come i n  here and swab qy neck. " (laughs) And she did, 
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but she was a g a w n g  a l l  the t irw. (laughter) But it stopped it. I 
dldnl t have t o  go back. 

&. Well, l e t  s scc . Cattle-feeding. (r~swnes reading) "Some fed more 
and SOE l ess ,  you know. Som fed just what they . . . t t  

A. There was  the Balls, too, west of F m r s v l l l c .  There was two o r  
three of them tha t  fed c a t t l e .  

Q. This w a s  In addition to the banker? 

A.  Well, it was h i s  family. Brothers and nephews and so on, you know. 
And he used t o  stake them. He'd go to the  yardS--he was a expel?t at 
buying c a t t l e  and he wou1.d go down there and pick out a carload of c a t t l e  
f o r  them and pay for them down there,  out of the bank. Corne up here and 
they'd give him t h e i r  note and then pay him when they sold the  c a t t l e ,  
you know. Well, he had so mmy of those c a t t l e  notes on hand when the 
panic cane t ha t  they just shut him up because they s a d ,  "That paper i s n ' t  
a ~ l y  good." Well, them fellows s to l e  it. I don't think there was ever 
one of them tha t  didn't; pay out, and the thieves up there tha t  were the 
bank examiners, they just  corm3 in there and s to l e  a l l  of tha t .  They were 
the worst bunch of brigands you ever saw. 

ADDENDA ILTEPI 98 (ref. p. 227) 

9. Would tha t  be M r .  R o v ~ y  tha t  you mntioned? 

A. Yes, I guess it was. 

&. (resums readlng) "Lived up a t  the north end of Pitman Township and 
fed a l o t  of ca t t l e .  Well, I can't  t e l l  you his n m . "  Well, we have it 
now, we can IdentlSy him. 

A. He w a s  of German descent. 

9. Oh, G e m  instead of French? Okay. 

A. I was mixed on tha t .  And he mde some wonderful f m r s .  

&. He made soroe farm=, you say? 

A. His sons and t h e i r  children. 

A. They were wonderrul f m r s .  This boy ~ l & t  east of me here is one of 
them and there  bsn l t  a be t t e r  fawner i n  the  corrmmilty than him. 

Q. 1:s h i s  name Rovey, too? 

A.  Rovey, yes. He's a grandson of tha t  old fellow. k t ' s  see,  I guess 
he I s  a great-g-andson, tha t  was h i s  great-gmndfather. Yes. That' s right. 
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A. Well, at t h i s  t h ,  thou@, it w a s  D r .  Snyder. Harry left here. 
Shortly a f t e r  he did tha t  vaccinating Tor m, he went t o  Iowa o r  some- 
place. Where did he p? 

Q. Up t o  Ocheydan, Iowa. Way up I n  the northwest comer. 

A. Yes. He l e f t  me. Snyder cam i n ,  a new van out of college, and I 
Pm&iatcly got i n  touch with him became I believed i n  veterinaries.  
In the science part of it, you know. So I used D r .  Snyder f o r  yews 
arid 
had 

&. 

A. 

years .  I n  fac t ,  as long as I kept stock, I used Snyder, a f t e r  H a m y  
left,. 

That was D r .  Snyder f r o m  Farmrsvi l lc ,  wasn't it? 

Yes. He kept the serum on hand and the v i rus  both, always through 
cholera season. And I vaccinated every gem fYom tha t  time on and hog 

tha t  didn't  s e t  with the nefphbors very @;o&", because I used vim as 
well as serum because 1 wmtcd them to go through tha t  perilod. I l o s t  
two hogs In probably ten years. The serum d ldn l t  take on them and the 
virus did and they died, but now they was sleeping rfght with the r e s t  
of them md the  r e s t  of them never had any trouble at all.  So, tha t  
showed tha t  the serum didn't  take on those two. That's the only two I 
ever l o s t .  

Q. And most of the farmers didn ' t  do tha t ,  then? 

A. No. They didn't  w a n t  you t o  bring tha t  virus in here. Some of them 
would vaccinate, but they d ldn t t  keep St up. They wouldn't do It every 
year. You how, kecp t h e i r  place clean of cholera, and the f i r s t  thing 
you h o w ,  somebody'd have a l i t t l e .  Well, I never feared it because 1 
had ml.ne always t reated when they were about s i x t y  pounds, p i g , ,  jus t  
a f t e r  they were weaned, perhaps, and get him down here-didn't take near 
as much serur+and vaccinate them. 

&. What other type of work did D r .  Snyder do f o r  you out here? 

A. Oh, took c z e  of cows and sheep and, if I had a s ick horse, 1-1 had 
a horse turned out i n  the l o t  one night a f t e r  work and he went out and 
rol led like-you how how horses w i l l  do when they're sweaty. And he rol led 
on a brickbat with t h i s  part  of h i s  neck and he i m d l a t e l y  developed a . . . 
what did they ca l l  tha t?  . . . Well, it developed tubes and went away down 
In  h i s  neck there and you couldn't work--coUldnl t put a co l la r  on him, at 
a l l .  Well, I called Snyder out here <and he looked hlm over and he says, 
"There's only one thing t o  do and t h a t ' s  t o  cut it out. Just take the whole 
thing out. " So, we put :I.n a switch. I got Ed Beeler and Fred hhrnarl both. 
They c a ~  down t o  help. We t i e d  him i n  the barn and then put a twitch on 
him and they took turns holding tha t  switch, or  twitch, and the doctor jus t  
took every b i t o f  'chat out and he healed up sound as a dollar. I used hlm 
fo r  several years afterwards. 

Q. What ' s a twitch? 

A. You gut them on t h c i r  nose here. You know, thls pa r t  of the horse, t h c i r  
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upper l i p ,  i s  very tender. You put it around there and then t w i s t  on 
it u n t i l  it tightens up and b e a n s  t o  hurt  a l i t t l e  and you can do 
pret ty  near anything with a horse with tha t  on there.  You take a 
horse tha t  wants t o  kick f o r  being shoed md put a twitch on there,  
they can stop h i s  k i c k h a  (laughs) because he ' s  more interested 
rl@t up here . . . (laughs) 

Q. 9m.n he i s  In anything e lse .  And tha t  was the klnd of anesthesia 
you use, then, t o  . . . 
A. That ' s all .  That s a l l  he had. I-Ic didn' t give hlm any shots o r  
anything. After he got t h m u a ,  he shot tha t  f 'ull  of a n t i  . . . 

A. Yes, t o  keep blood polsonlng fYom se t t lng  in and he came back and 
washed it out a time o r  two and then h~ got a l l  rrlght. 

And I used him another time. I didn ' t  get my sheep vaccinated one f a l l .  
That was carelessness on r~! p z t .  They had hemorrhagic septicemla in 
the country, and I h e w  it ,  but I never had had any of it and I just--1 
w a s  jus t  careless,  tha t  was al l ,  and when larrbing time come, the f i r s t  
one tha t  s ta r ted  t o  have a lunb died. Well, I hew what 1 was up against.  
So, I called Snyder up and to ld  him. I says, "There's three mre slck.  '' 
And they were just  ready t o  have lar&s, now. So, he carm r i @ t  down here. 
He put a themmete r  in them and t r i e d  t o  run t h e i r  temperature and he 
said,  "Yes, tha t  's what you've got. It s hemrrhagtc septicemi3. " He 
says, " I ' m  af"raid we're too ].ate. He says, Yt!his mdfcine eLther k l l l s  
or cures rimt of f .  One of the two. Do you want IE t o  go ahead and shoot 
them?" I s ~ s ,  "Well, yes. They ' r e  going t o  die. Go ahead and shoot 
them." And he shot those things and they were dead i n  three mbutes,  
eveyy one of them. 

tha t  s ight?  

A. I to ld  him, "Just go ahead and k i l l  them off ,"  and then we  vaccinated 
the r e s t  of them, don't you see? Stopped It r I @ t  there,  but I l o s t  fowl 
good ewes and their l&s. That was experfence. That's the way you l e a m .  

&. YES, SIP. How many sheep did you usually have around the place? 

A. Oh, about t h i r t y .  I just  had what would clean up the place good. 1 
run them In every f i e ld .  Af'ter I ' d .  get done harvesting a crop, I ran them 
i n  tha t  f i e ld .  They'd clean every weed. You never had a Weed i n  your fence 
rows. They'd eat  weeds ahead of grass, you how.  They'd a l so  eat the hedge 
leaves of f  as hi@ as they could reach and keep everything a lookhg so neat 
around the place. 

I ~merrber  one t h e  there w a s  a t rave l l ing  fellow corn through here ase l l ing  
somethlng and he went down t o  brother-in-law's tha t  l ived just south of 
E, and he says, "That fel .10~ up thew has got the cleanest place I ever saw. " 

IQ sister-In-law sald, "Yes. He 's got sheep. '' I run them in here a11 mound 
the orchard past  and. they--couldn't put them in the ywd. They'd ea t  flowers 
f i r s t .  But they kept weeds down. I dildn't have t o  mow weeds i n  any of the 
fence mws and they were just a wonde~.ful advantage and I liked t o  h,mdle them. 
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Q. Did you shear sheep here? 

A.  No, I couldn't shew. I j m t  hired a shearer. Do you know Weerran 
Smith? 

Q. I 've  heard the m. I don't . . . 
A.  West of Waggoner. He used t o  shear fo r  and, oh, I had a nwrber 
of different  fellows shear for  me. I ' d  f ind out where there was some 
fellow with an e l ec t r i c  o u t f l t .  APter I got a Delco in the bmn, I ' d  
get a fellow with an e l ec t r i c  ou t f i t  and get h l m  over here because they 
could do so much nicer job and wouldn't cut sheep l ike  they did with shears 
m(:i SO on. Hut Freesrarj shc,ared f i r  E, I don't know, several. years. We used 
t o  have &yeat a g r m n t s .  IIe w s  a beekeeper. (la,uL@) He wm a beekeeper and 
J was a, bcekceper. (lau@:;) Wc had l o t s  of a r w n t s .  He was out t o  see me 
last surmer. Ate d.i,nrier~ with 11x2 j ust t o  t a l k  over old t W s  . 
Q. Did you argue a l o t ?  

A. No. (laughter) No. We were--had the w w n t  all set t led.  

I went out t o  h i s  house one t im t o  see h:Tm and he says, llWell, 1 W a n t  
t o  take you down t o  the bee yard." He was l iv ing  with his  mother. He 
never m r l e d .  Jlis m t h w  w a s  keepjng house for  h h  and he was farmi.ng 
and taklng c w e  of about twenty colonies of bccs 

He says, "The bees are down here west of the house. I keep tha t  patch 
mowed off  good and clean and I 've  got them all s e t  down there.  COTE on 
and go down." And I wanted t o  see--oh well, there ' s  no need of me ex- 
plaining what I wanted t o  see-because he had a different  hive *om 
what I did and I wanted t o  s f c  it. He says, l t C o ~  one," and st,arted ri&t 
down the mlddle of the row. Well, they wwe flying in--like that--and 
I says, "No, I '11 go back here. " And I went around the out edge. "Why, I' 

he says, "they r e  perfectly gentle, Bert. They won1 t hurt  you. " 1 says, 
I1They1ll hurt m e .  They'll go out of t h e i r  way t o  hurt; m. 'I I says, "I 'm 
going back here. You go on down the center, 'I (laughs) He h&'t gotten 
three steps till one popped him and then another one. (lau@S) Boy, he 
COKE wunning t o  joln r~ ri&t quick. ( l a w t e r )  He was Fn t h e i s  l i ne  
of f l i gh t .  I d l e m e d  that  a long t lm ago, you get in  t h e i r  line of 
f l igh t  and they are p i n g  t o  fl&t you. 

Q. How m y  hives did you nom~r~l ly  keep here? 

A. Well, I had at tha t  time, I guess, about twenty-seven. 

Q . Twenty-seven hives ? 

A. Yes. It was a b ig  job. I liked t o  work ~ s e l f  and ngr wife t o  death. 
That w a s  i n  wm years when there was no s w .  I sold $350 worth of honey 
tha t  fall as fast as 1 could take it off  of the hives. People couldn't 
get sqpr and they'd take t o  swcetenlng with honey, you know, and they 
corn here. I sold t o  people that  never had thought of buying honey of re. 
They wouldntt thlnZc of buying It for honey, you know, but when they couldn't 
get s w ,  why, they cow a r m i n g  f'or It. So, I Just sold evwy bj.t 1 
could produce on the twenty-seven colonies. 
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Q. Did you sepamte It here or . . . 
A. No, I had it in bricks. Square bricks,  They would take twenty- 
f ive or t h i r t y  at  a t im. I never overchargd people. I charr6ed 
304 a brick and It cost m a nickle a section t o  get them ready t o  
put on the hives. So I only mde 256. A t  the noon hour, when 1 
come in from the f l e ld ,  I t  d. eat  rqy dinner and I 'd put on qy bonnet . 
and head for  the bee yard and I would be- l i f t ing supers . That ' s 
another t h i n e - I  wonder how much of t h i s  you want on there? 

Q. Well, I want t o  mow about the bees. Yes, sir.  

A. Well, I had learrned by taking bee journals that  you could take 
off honey without ever having the bees how it. Therbe was a bee- 
escape you could buy and put in  a top board and they could @ out throug.$~ 
it but they couldn't come back. Well, you'd l i f t  the hive and se t  it on 
tha t  board. The next day you could go and pick tha t  up and take it t o  
the house--no bees. They'd a l l  ppne out, you see, and couldn't @t 
back. So, I ' d  put i n  the noon hour aputting on new supers where 1 took 
off  the other ones. Bring them t o  the house. Well, then wlfe would 
work a11 afternoon f i l l i n g  up those supers and tear ing up those that  I 
b r o u a t  in .  She'd jus t  work l ike  a toe-head, I ' m  a t e l l i ng  you, and she 
would be se l l ing  honey a l l  afternoon, you how. ?"ney1d ju s t  come and 
probably she'd have it about a l l  sold by the time I got t o  the house. 

Q. This was during World War II? 

A. Yes. And rqy, how they did run here f o r  honey. We11 then, I s t i l l  
had the bees the next year and 1 had jus t  about as good luck wfth honey. 
A t  tha t  tlm there was a number of p e m c n t  pastures wound and t h i s  
Dutch white clover, the l i t t l e  white clover, pew i n  those pastures, and 
t h a t ' s  one of the heavy honey producers and one of the best honeys. Well, 
I produced pract ical ly  as much honey, I guess, the next year as  I did 
before, only we didn't have t o  work. There wasn't people r&g a f t e r  
us. I could take care of tear ing it up,md so on, when I had tIm out 
of the f l e ld .  But when f a l l  c o ~ ,  I had three hundred and f i f i y  pounds 
that  I couldn't s e l l .  If you keep it over winter it goes t o  sugar, and 
a l o t  of people won't buy it a t  a l l ,  then. So I sald t o  my wlfe, 'Well, 
there 's  a Eaptist orphanage down a t  ~ e n t r a l i a . "  I ' d  ncver been there. 
I ' d  always wanted t o  go. I ' d  been supporting them, o r  helping, and I 
says, "We '1.1 just I.oad up the old ca r  and take tha t  three hun&ed and 
f i f t y  pounds down there.  ' I  And we did.  We took 1.t down there and passed 
It out. I never saw l i t t l e  k ids  so t ickled Fn rqy l i f e .  Oh, when they 
saw that honey I (laughter) I just  gave it t o  them, you know. Three 
hundred and f i f t y  pounds. 

Q. Well, l e t  I s  see. k t t e r  get back t o  our veterinarian here, I e;uess. 

ADDFUDA ITEN 100 (ref. p. 231) 

A. And he never did  get out. 

Q. He never t r i e d  t o  get out? 
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A. No place. And when they'd turn him i n  the  road, he'd head r ight  
for  he=. 

Q. Oh, Is tha t  r ight?  

A. Yes, sir. He'd cone horn l i ke  a dog. 

Q. ( l a m s )  Well, tha t  made lt easy In case he got l o s t  or  a d  
break out. 

A. I kept him mti l  he died. 

ADDENDA ITm 101 (ref. p. 234) 

Q. Si r ,  tha t  coal b i n  tha t  he had i n  town, was tha t  clear down at the 
south end, south of the south elevator there? 

Q. Across f?om the section house? 

A. Yes. 

$. I remmber tha t  old bullding down there.  

A. mat was h i s  building. Tnen they f ina l ly  put the t i l e  building-- 
Doug Prlce put up a. t i l e  building, mde t i l e ,  you know--just south of 
tha t ,  j u s t  a l i t t l e  fa r ther  south. It was aZ1 so they could use the 
house t rack t o  unload s tuf f  from, cars,  you know. 

Q. That 's r i @ t  at the south end of tha t  t r w k ?  

A .  Yes. Doug Price mde t i l e  fo r  the bPg end of t h i s  country. 

Q. This was the f k l d  t i l e ?  

A. Yes. He made 4 and 5-inch t i l e  and then he made the big ones. He 
mdc 36-hch t i l e ,  too. Boy, they were Jonahs t o  handle. 

Q. Ch, real ly? Concrete t i l e s ?  

A .  Yes, and they'd be tha t  thick, you know, the  w a l l .  

. Wo inches t h r o u a  the wall? 

A. Boy, they was awful. t o  handle. 

END OF TAPE 

ADDENDA I m  102 (ref. p. 183) 

(One of lW. AilanaYl1s conditions concemlng the  interviewing was that he 
would allow m t o  Interview him i f ,  on occasion, 7: would allow hlm t o  
interview re concerning ny aviation experiences, This next addenda item 
is an example of s o w  o r  the intcrvicwtng done by Mr. A l b  durtrlg t h i s  
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Bert M h r m  

ser ies  of interviews. Note tha t  M r .  Ailanan is identified by the Fni t ia l s  
"B. A.  " and I by "H .W ." for  t h i s  addenda Item only. Also note tha t  t h l s  
addenda item i s  t o  be found i n  Tts o r i g h a l  position, following addenda 
Item 82, on tape nmber 22, side I.) 

B.A. They'd do just  l i k e  you fellows i n  a plane. They'd get up and 
they'd . . . 
1I.W. Just come rlmt down at you, huh? ( l a m t e r )  Well! I wonder 
why i n  the  w o ~ l d  they'd do that;. Did they sense you b e h g  there? 

B.R. Well, donlt  you suppose they did it t o  get speed fo r  elevation? 

H.W. I see. Well, they mi@t have, yes. Then, of course, they rnI@t-- 
you know, during the w a r  when we were f i r ed  at ,  you always turned and 
headed r ight  stral@;ht toward the guy tha.t was f l r lng at you. That was 
the saf'est m e u v e r .  If you turned away f'rom him, you gave him a p o d  
shot at you. 

R.A. He had a q o d  shot a t  you. 

I-I.W. Yes, sir. So, i f  you turn  
start shoothg  back at him, why, 

B.A. Agitated him a l i t t l e ,  too 

r i @ t  strai@t at him and, of course, 
usually held duck and he'd qui t  f lying. 

1I.W. Yes, sir. Hc ' d p i l e  out of there occasionally. Yes, sir, ( l a m t e r )  

R.A. When you t o l d  m about g e t t h g  the sight on tha t  fellow tha t  time 
and you never had shot at a man, 3rPd you shoot tha t  day? 

H.W. No, sir, I didn t f i x  a shot that day. (I.a@s) I was home 
before I figured out what I ou@t t o  have been doing. (lau@s) No, 
that  was a time, 1'11 t e l l  you. (laughs) Gee whiz. No, l a t e r  on, 
a f t e r  tha t .  . . . 
I3 .A. D i d  you ever know you shot down a plane? 

H.W. Oh, yes, sir. Yes. I s a w  them go. 

B.A. You knew you h i t  them? 

H.W. Yes, sir. You know, the m r  piercing incendiary 1 t o ld  you we 
used quite a l o t  o f .  Well, those--they'd flash; when they bllt somethJng, 
they'd explode. You could see tha t  f lash.  And when you got your bul le t s  
going in to  them, they ' d just  l igh t  up Uke a Christmas t r ee ,  you know. 
You could t e l l  they were going. That . . . 
B.A. That blew the engine a l l  t o  pleces, then? 

B.A. Or the propellers? 
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H.W. Well, I t ' d  jus t  t e u  the plane a l l  up. But usually we hlt i n  
the cockpit. You know, k i l l  the fellow. And then the plane would just  
e;o out of control. 

B. A. I saw pictures of them going down asmklulg. 

H.W. Yes, sir. I had one of them-i t  was on the Ruhland raid,  the 
l a s t  Ruhland raid.  Ruhland was a blg oj.1 factory over there tha t  we 
went a f t e r  two or  three times and you could never get it because they'd 
put out a smkc screen. Would hide it, you know. Well, just ,  oh, along 
toward the end of the w a r ,  we mde a big rafd on it and I got tangled-- 
I was escorting the borrbers, you know-and I tangled up with a bunch 
of guys and 5: was chasiing the t h i r d  one. He kept diving away Porn r r ~  
and we went down. We wcre ri&t down on the p w d ,  going on down through 
valleys, you know, along the way, and I finally g ~ t  hlm i n  position. Ilc 
was turning t o  the l e f t ,  s i n g  down in to  a valley, and I was coming wound 
Porn behind him and turning with him. I h i t  him jus t  as he bopped down 
in to  the valley and he just rol led s t ra ight  and jus t  went r ight  stralgbt 
in to  the side of the h i l l  there.  1'11 never forget t ha t  because then 
I flcw riat over where he went in to  the ground, you know, and when he 
flew a l l  apart ,  one of the wheels went up In the a l r  and tha t  t h h g  came 
r ight  back over and floated over nly wing as 5: flew by. I'll never forget 
tha t  t i r e  @ing by over my wing. 

H.R.  You was close. - 

H.W. Yes. Yes, and I w a s  sewed, too. (laughs) We wcre way out In the 
middle of Gemmy and I had al.1 thc way t o  go home yet and I was al l  by 
r rpe l f ,  too, so ( l a m s )  I ' l l  never forget that one. 

B .A. D1d you have my  trouble going home? 

H.W. No, slr. No. Didn't see a soul the whole way. Got back--I was 
get t ing low on fue l  so I landed i n  Belgim-1 forgzt, where--sowwhere 
near--no. I don't even ? e m b e r  where. I Just saw an a i r f i e l d  and 1 
knew I ' d  crossed our l ines ,  you know. I saw an x i r f ie ld ,  a bunch of 
airplanes settlng on i t ,  so I landed and asked i f  they'd give me some 
fuel ... They loaded me up and I flew on how then. Yes. Yes, tha t  got 
awful lonesome. ?here were only two of us. 

That was  one of the f i r s t  times tha t  poup had tangled wlth the j e t s  , 
you know, the German J e t s .  They used t o  brhg those j e t s  in and they'd 
pul l  us off  the  bombers and then other guys would cone In, you know, wlth 
the regular airplanes and &tack the bombers. Well, t h i s  had happened. 
A bunch of the J e t s  had come i n  and the Gmup had been pulled off  and 
wcre p h g  t o  chasing j e t s  and someway o r  other In  a l l  tha t  c o m t 1 o n  
there were two of us, a guy by the n a r ~  of Thomas and I, got separated 
from everybody. So, when we got scpmated we decided, well, we'd be t t e r  
go back t o  the borrbers we were suppose t o  be protecting;, you know. And 
we got back there jus t  as, oh, we estrlmted about t h i r t y  o r  fo r ty  d x e d  
ME-109's and Foche-Wolfe 190 ' s ,  you know, mde . . . (tape stopped and 
s ta r ted)  

. . . they went on down. So the f i r s t  two tha t  happened to ,  and then the 
t h i r d  one, he was way out, way away f'rom me,  YOU how, way out a long 
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range. I'd shoot and he'd be looking i n  the  mlrmr-we had l i t t l e  d r r o P s  
and they did, too, riejl t  up above the cockpit here, you how-and he'd 
see r r e  shoot and he could see rny guns f l a s h b g  and every t im I ' d  st& 
t o  shoot, he'd snap It real fast, on i t s  br-lck, gnu know, md pull it 
down. Well, I couldn' t quite follow hLm through those and he &Ld tha t ,  
1'11 bet he did tha t  three or  four times, and he'd cow down and pul l  
out. Then, I ' d  follow him r i @ t  throu& it and I ' d  core out a@n and 
then I ' d  shoot and held go a@n. We both went in to  tha t  cloud cover 
and, as a matter of fac t ,  we both dlved in to  it. He went down like tha t  
and I went rimt behind him, you know. We went in to  the  cloud cover--1.t 
wanll; too thick-went on down underneath and It was a low ceiling, very 
dark under  the^, I rermher.  So, both of us pulled out and we  were 
se t t lng  r i @ t  l i k e  t h i s .  I w a s  over on t h i s  side and he was ri@k there,  
And I saw him f i rs t .  If he'd seen E first he could have ducked, you see, 
but I happened t o  see him f i r s t ,  so I ducked over this way and by the time 
he saw me, I was already behind him. So he turned and tha t  l s when. we 
s ta r ted  going through the valleys, you know, u n t l l  I finally got him 
on the ground. Yes, tha t  was a pret ty  exciting day. 

B A .  Could you sleep tha t  n i@t?  

H.W. Yes. Didn't bother me par t icular ly,  I donlt  know . . . You how, 
you don't f e e l  l i k e  . . . when you're shooting a l rp lmes  Like tha t ,  you 
rea l ly  don't r ee l  like you'rc k i l l i n g  w s ,  you f e e l  l i k e  you're shooting 
down the  airplane. I don't how, I . . . only once. I saw one gqy . . 
there was one fellow. He w a s  a l l  by hllmself. There had been a whole bunch 
of them In a b ig  m l e e ,  you how, dogfi&t, and then it had kind of 
br20ken up and t h i s  one g q ~  ev.Ldently got lo s t  o r  somthing, because he 
w a s  r I @ t  i n  the mlddle of our squadron and he was just  kind of flying 
f o m t i o n  arid they were making a big sweepbg turn  l i k e  tha t .  I w a s  top 
cover. I saw him In there.  1 knew he was a 109 s i t t i n g  right In the 
rmlddle of a l l  o w  people. And 1 figured, 'Well, sombody be t t e r  gel; 
5 1 i m  before he finds out where he Is and he starts shooting, I t  you mow. 

So I came down from above md cam i n  l i k e  this on him and up, 1 was 
, p i n g  a l o t  f a s t e r  1;h;m he was and as I came up l i ke  t h i s ,  I shot him 
and he jus t  rol led on over. I cram up and we just went over the  top 
l i k e  tha t ,  just  s ide by side,  you know, just i n  formation and I could 
see h i s  face as we ro l led  over. He was dead, and h i s  race w a s  laying on 
the s ide of the  canopy, you know. H i s  face was turned rl&t toward me. 
And tha t  night I kind of,  you know, had a feeling; but other than tha t ,  
you just rea l ly  never thought about there being guys i n  there,  you mow. 
The plane was doing the stuff and you were rea l ly  tear ing up the plane. 
Not l l k e  infantry.  I don't bow how those infantry guys do it, 1'11 t e l l  
you. Face-to-face and a l l  t ha t ,  geez. 

B.A. Well, another thing I wanted t o  ask you. You handled those elevators-- 
do you c a l l  them-that  are back behind there that  you use your fee t  on? 

H.W. On the airplane? 

B.A. Yes. 

H.W. Well, t h a t ' s  the s t i ck .  The rudder sticks up and down. 
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B.A. I how, but don't you handle sowthing with your f ee t ?  

1.1. W . Yes, tha t  ' s the rudder that  turns sideways. 

H.A. Oh, it does? 

H.W. Sticks up in the air, yes. You use your fee t  for  tha t .  You 
how, lefl;, and it'll turn  the t a i l .  

B .A. Well, when you're taking off', how do you make tha t  nose rear 
up? 

H.W. Pul l  back on the s t ick .  Okay, what you're talking about i s  the 
elevator and it '11 turn up. You pu l l  back on the s t i ck  and it'll turn 
up and it forces the tail down. When L t  forces the t a i l  down, it brings 
the nose up, you see. 

B.A. Well, t ha t  was what I was get t ing at.  I thought tha t  ta i l  had t o  
go down t o  get up. 

H . W .  Yes, sir. The wings, of course, pmvide a l l  the H f t .  That's 
what suppofis you, is  the wings out here, but the tail gets the angle 
of the wings going i n to  the wlnd so tha t  t h e y ' l l  . . . see, the reason 
you stay :tn the alr is  because the air i s  flowing over the top of tha t  
wing and it creates a vacuum and it just sucks that  wing up, you see.  
It hn' t . . . 
B .A. Is tha t  what hol.ds it? 

H.W. Yes, sir. It i s n ' t  the pressure on the bottom. That does a l i t t l e  
b i t ,  but it ' s  the vacuum tha t  ' s  created-a w h g  I s  curved, you know. 

B.A. Yes. 

H.W. And when the air goes ovm it ,  it whips u$ and It creates a mcum 
rl&t on top of tha t  wing and it pul ls  it. . . . 
B.A. And you just go fr%t enouffh t o  &c t ha t  vacum. 

H.W. Yes, sir, and i f  you don't . . . 
B.A. Well, when you're making tha t  boom, i s  tha t  what malces the boom? 

H.W. No, sir.  Well, yes. I t ' s  a shock wave which Is, well, i t ' s  beyond 
tha t .  When your wing i s  going t h r o m  the a-r, it pushes alr ahead of 
it, it tends t o  push it ahead of it. Well, you get tha t  air out i n  front 
of it mvlng along with the wing at the speed of sound and then tha t  i s  
what generates tha t  boom, comin,g off tha t  air. 

R.A. That 's just  thunder then? 

H.W. Yes. 

B .A.  Without e l ec t r i c .  

Bert Aikman Memoir, Vol. III -- Archives, University of Illinois at Springfield



Bert A- 

H.W. Yes, sir, I guess It would be.  

B .A. You know, it comf pret ty  nem mking rn jmp off  of a shed one 
timE. 

H.W. Oh? 

B . A. I w a s  p&t ing tha t  shed out them--mtal mof , you know--and I 
had a ladder l a i d  up on the thing and I was standing on the top of the 
ladder. Had a rock on the bottom so it couldn ' t get away fmm rn and 
that  fellow boomd r ight  over me and 1.t h i t  that t i n  and i f  I dfdnl t  
jump tha t  high of f  of tha t  ladder and llt rl&t back on It. (laughter) 
PQ goodness what a noise tha t  made i n  mgr e m .  It h i t  that  t i n ,  you 
how, and made it bounce. Ooooooooo. 

H.W. Yes. Usually it makes two booms. It goes ka-boom, boom, you bow. 

B.A. a, tha t  was loud. 

H.W. (lams) Yes, t ha t  i s  kind of a nuisance. I guess, i n  sow cases, 
It can break glass. I !mow plate  glass windows and s tu f f  have been broken 
by them. 

B.A. Well, I had qui.te a tine around Carl invi l le  f o r  a while. mey was 
several fellows over thcre,  foreigpers, tha t  were growling m i n k  in con- 
finerrent. And tha t  boom would mike them fill t h e i r  young ones. 

1I.W. Yes. Well, didn't have t o  have the boom t o  do that. I mow when 
my unit ,  the 18th Tac. P i m t e r  Group," was training i n  hryland when they 
were get t ing ready t o  go overseas--that was before I ' d  joined them-and 
they had a whole mess of mink f'arms out around there.  PaY.t of the train- 
ing was t o  go r ight  f l a t  as low as you could on the ground, you know, and 
as fa s t  as you could, you know, so you could do it i n  a cornat area, and 
practice tha t .  Well, they use t o  go out and they'd practice tha t .  Thcrle 
were a whole slew of mink farm and they l o s t  hundreds and hundreds of 
mink out there. The gqys would go over them and they 'd scare those mink, 
you know, and they'd just  eat  t h e i r  young and--oh, boy. I know the govern- 
ment paid the mink f m r s  an awful l o t  of money for  tha t  t ra ining.  That 
was expensive training. (laughter) 

E.A. That's what  you called hedge hopplng, huh? 

H.W. Yes, s i r .  Ye5, sir.  Elcdg~ hopping. Hopefully, 
Sorntlmes you came how [with] hedge i n  the scoop, you 
Run throqfi  a Lree or  sorwthlnj:. 

B.A. Well., go ahead, Ive . . . 

H 
This should have been the 353rd Fighter Group 

i n  World W m  11. I was with the 18th Tactical Fighter 
w a r .  

you hedge hopped. 
know. (lau&s) 

which was rqy unft 
Wing iri the Korean 
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B.A. . . . bothered you enough. You want to turn that on agaiu? 
I 

i I .  Y e s , i t l s a l l s e t .  Okay. (resumesreaang) 

EMl OF SIDE ONE 
I 

END OF v o m  I11 ADDENDA 
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